
 

 
Person cyswllt:  Neil Barnett, Cynghorydd Craffu 
Ffôn:  01633 656656 
E-bost:Scrutiny@newport.gov.uk 
Dyddiad cyhoeddi: Dydd Mercher, 19 Hydref 2022 
 

Agenda 
Pwyllgor Craffu ar Berfformiad – Partneriaethau 
 
Dyddiad: Dydd Mercher, 26 Hydref 2022 
 
Amser: 5.00 yp 
 
Lleoliad: Ystafell Bwyllgor 1 - Cyfarfod Rhithwir 
 
At: Cynghorwyr: D Mayer (Cadeirydd), S Cocks, P Drewett, F Hussain, J Jones, A Morris, 

M Pimm, A Screen, E Stowell-Corten and K Whitehead 
 
 
 
Eitem  Wardiau 

Dan Sylw 
  

1   Ymddiheuriadau   
 

 
 
2   Datganiadau o ddiddordeb   

 
 

 
3   Cofnodion y Cyfarfod Diwethaf  (Tudalennau 3 - 10) 

 
 

 
4   Cronfa Integreiddio Ranbarthol Gwent  (Tudalennau 11 - 146) 

 
 

 
5   Casgliad Adroddiadau Pwyllgorau   

Ar ôl cwblhau adroddiadau'r Pwyllgor, gofynnir i'r Pwyllgor ffurfioli ei 
gasgliadau, ei argymhellion a'i sylwadau ar eitemau blaenorol i'w 
gweithredu.  
 

 

 
6   Adroddiad Cynghorydd Craffu  (Tudalennau 147 - 154) 

a) Diweddariad ar y Rhaglen Gwaith i'r Dyfodol (Atodiad 1) 

b) Cynllun Gweithredu (Atodiad 2)  

 

 

 
 

Pecyn Dogfennau



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn



 

This document is available in welsh / Mae’s ffurflen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 

Minutes 
Performance Scrutiny Committee - Partnerships 
 
Date: 5 October 2022 
 
Time: 5.00 pm 
 
Present: Councillors D Mayer (Chair), S Cocks, P Drewett, Hussain, M Pimm, A Screen 

and K Whitehead 
 

In Attendance: Beverly Owen (Chief Executive of Newport City Council), Craig Lane (Chief 
Executive of Citizens Advice Bureau, Deputy Chair – Strategy Performance 
under One Newport Partnership, Newport Third Sector Partnership), Steve Ward 
(Chief Executive of Newport Live), Guy Lacey (Principal/Chief Executive for 
Coleg Gwent and Deputy Chair of One Newport Partnerships), Dr. Bethan 
Bowden (Aneurin Bevan University Health Board – Public Health Team), Harriet 
Bleach (Nature Resources Wales), Tracy McKim (Head of People, Policy and 
Transformation), Leanne Rowlands (Democratic and Electoral Services Manager) 
and Felicity Collins (Governance Officer) 

 
Apologies: Councillors J Jones and E Stowell-Corten, Councillor Jane Mudd (Leader of 

Newport City Council, Neil Barnett (Scrutiny Advisor) 
 
 
 
1 Declarations of Interest  

 
None. 
 

2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting held on 21 September 2022  
 
The minutes of the previous meeting held on 21 September 2022 were accepted and 
approved as an accurate record of the meeting. 
 

3 One Newport Well-being Plan Annual Report 2021-22  
 
Invitees: 

-          Beverly Owen – Chief Executive of Newport City Council 
-          Craig Lane – Chief Executive of Citizens Advice Bureau, Deputy Chair – Strategy 

Performance under One Newport Partnership, Newport Third Sector Partnership 
  
The Chief Executive of Newport City Council (NCC) introduced the Partners involved in the 
One Newport Partnership (ONP) and The Deputy Chair of Strategy Performance gave a brief 
introduction on the role of the ONP and how it is linked to the Well-being of the Future 
Generations Act. The partner introduced the Well-being Plan to the Committee and explained 
despite the move to a Regional Public Services Board, they are still responsible for the 
delivery of the Newport plan which runs up until April 2023. 
  
Members asked the following: 
  

Tudalen 3

Eitem Agenda 3



 

 

         The Chair thanked the partners for the introduction and discussion ensued on the 
function of SWAY. The Chair suggested that the document could be more interactive 
on mobile phone devices.  
  
Members were then referred to page 11 of the appendices of the embedded link for 
SWAY by the Chief Executive of Newport Live. 
  

         A Member of the Committee complimented the partners on how interactive the 
information is on the website and asked if the Committee could have the data on how 
many visits the page has had since it was published. 
  
The Head of Policy, People and Transformation confirmed that they could follow that 
up and provide the data for the Committee. 
  

         A Member queried the mention of hard copies of SWAY mentioned in the report. 
  
In response the Chief Executive explained that it has to be but assured the 
Committee they are mindful of the carbon footprint. The intention would be to make 
the document as interactive as possible and that a summary version would be made 
available. The Member requested for the Councillors to be given one. 
  
The Head of Policy, People and Transformation advised that they will take the 
comments from the Committee and assured that they make changes to it via a range 
of means such as Twitter, internal communications with Councillors also as they 
appreciate that people would not be interested in a full report so they would do case 
studies and then refer to the report via the study to get people interested. 
  

Well-being Objective 1 - Everyone feels good about living, working, visiting and 
investing in our unique city  
  
Invitees; 

-          Beverly Owen – Chief Executive of Newport City Council 
-          Steve Ward – Chief Executive of Newport Live 

  
The Chief Executive of Newport City Council outlined the key projects signalling the progress 
across the City and welcomed the Chief Executive of Newport Live to the Committee. The 
Chief Executive of Newport Live did a walk-through of the document and covered a number 
of the interventions and highlighted how the objectives and goals are intrinsically linked and 
crosscutting, signalling good partnership work.  
  
Members were informed that in the case study area of the report, there are a number of 
initiatives that did not make the report and that this is a snapshot of information of the work 
being done. The Chief Executive also gave an overview of the re-developments case studies 
in the report which focuses on the night time economy as well as the day time and 
recognised the different needs of the communities. 
  
Members asked the following: 
  

         The Chair expressed his gratitude to public services for the work they do and 
commented that the report is helpful in getting to understand the five ways of working. 
  

         A Member commented as he used to be a sports coach and is aware of the 
encouragement of sustainable travel. It was asked if there would be any plans to stop 
anti-social behaviour on bikes on high street/friars walk area. 
  
The Chief Executive of Newport City Council advised she has requested to convene a 
discussion with the Gwent Police, and assured that the partners are aware of the 

Tudalen 4



 

 

issues that have transpired and that she has asked for a discussion with the Police, 
Newport Business Improvement District (BID) and the owners of Friar Walk. It was 
noted that Sustainable Travel is important to be encouraged but also to deal with 
such issues as Anti-social Behaviour. 
  
The Chief Executive of Newport Live added examples of the Active Travel and the 
work of partners developing outdoor spaces for residents to go for outdoor exercise 
and noted there are significant behaviour change programmes being worked on such 
as opening of secure bike storage in City Centre to encourage people to cycle into 
the centre and feel confident to store their bikes securely.  
  

         A Member mentioned the City Centre and its night time economy which has 
ambitious people and acknowledged the challenge around behaviour at night. 
Concern was expressed that some of the fantastic developments such as Green 
Spaces may attract unwanted behaviour and that the council would need to work 
together as partners to combat this. 
  
In response, the Chief Executive of NCC agreed and noted how that is a partnership 
issue and not just for the Council, and stressed that there are no simple solutions to 
such challenges especially at an economically challenging time. Member’s comments 
were taken on board and confirmed that they will be working with the Gwent Police 
and other partners to ensure anything they do makes it work to discourage crime.  
Members were also advised that feedback from the committee is good and she would 
address that back when in conversation with the Police. Members were assured that 
the Police are consulted on the infrastructure work, the partners stay on top of that 
with the Police. 
  
The Chief Executive of Newport Live recognised that there is a lot of work to be done 
with commercial partners and those operating within the City Centre. An example 
mentioned was Pub Watch, which supports a more centralised sharing of data and 
Intelligence. This works with the Gwent Police. It was noted that the work is moving in 
the right direction and gives confidence to operators that their colleagues can report 
in incidents quickly.  
  

         Members felt it was important to note that there can be day-time issues down the 
Market end, acknowledged that the plan is a long-term approach but stressed that 
they need to look into the immediate day time economy.  
  

         A Member added that youth services require improvement as the youth are in a 
transient age. The City Centre becomes an attraction for young people if there is 
nowhere for them to go. 
  
The Chief Executive of Newport City Council explained that the Newport Offer is 
crosscutting and acknowledged that they face challenges but also a lot of 
opportunities. The partnership has set out a lot of the hard work, some of which have 
taken years to come to fruition, such as the Ringland Hub and the Pillgwenlly Master 
Plan. The feedback from the Member was appreciated and would be taken back to 
the partnership.  
  
The Head of People, Policy and Transformation added that with the different 
partnerships, there are two parts of legislation, the Wellbeing of the Future 
Generations Act and a separate one that everyone in the country has where 
everyone sets up a Community Safety Partnership. This is based on City Centre 
issues of Anti-social Behaviour, Community Safety, Police and Crime Commissioner, 
they all work together and the work is deep on that. The plan is evidence based from 
assessing things such as deprivation levels, crime assessments for instance in order 
to know what they can do to help the City. As mentioned in a previous point in the 

Tudalen 5



 

 

discussion, it was noted that such issues the Committee raised are not solved by one 
agency. 
  
Members were advised that the report work does as much as it can to support and 
see what the partners can do to support the City; the conversation on Community 
Safety could be discussed and the Council appreciates the problems highlighted by 
the Members. The Committee then made the recommendation that Community 
Safety should be considered as a work programme item for future scrutiny. 
  

         A Member wished to pay tribute to the work of the council and the partners working 
to support the legislation and praised Newport BID for their excellent work in the City 
Centre. As Nature Resource Wales is a partner, the Member queried what they are 
doing about the physical infrastructure to prevent flooding of the River Usk. The 
Member went on to ask where he could find such information as it seemed to be a 
missing element of the report as it would fall under the sustainable development 
principle. 
  
The Chief Executive of Newport Live clarified that type of work is picked up 
operationally and assured the Member that there are developments on that. Despite 
that not being reflected in the report, because it focuses on the partnership activity, 
looking at the green infrastructure work and the LAEP and climate change work. 
Members wished for this information to be shared with the Committee with the further 
information regarding the flood plan. 
  

Well-being Objective 2 – Everyone has the skills and opportunities they need to 
develop, prosper, and contribute to a thriving, sustainable city  
  
Invitee; 

-          Guy Lacey – Principal, Coleg Gwent and Deputy Chair of One Newport Partnerships 
  
The Deputy Chair of One Newport Partnerships gave a brief overview of the report for Skills 
and Opportunities and highlighted the eight case studies of collaborative activities such as 
Lync Cymru, Youth Engagement Framework, and then covered the opportunities for Post-16 
Education and the delivered adult projects such as the Reach project to support Refugees 
and Asylum Seekers.  
  
Members asked the following: 
  

         Members thanked Coleg Gwent and partners for the excellent work that they are 
doing as it gives young people and residents in Newport a real chance. It was 
acknowledged that working with partners including the authority is key to engaging 
children when they are young and showing signs of disengagement in Education. 
  

         A Member highlighted that those who are Not in Education, Employment, or Training 
(NEET) place a challenge on the authority and asked what kind of engagement there 
is to get these young people involved and if they are able to have conversations by 
asking NEET’s about what their needs are. It was noted that it has an effect on the 
City Centre night economy. 
  
The Head of Policy, People and Transformation referred the Committee to page 49 of 
the report where NEET figures are discussed. Members were informed that the 
partnership works hard together in tackling the figures and highlighted how the area is 
below Wales average, year on year. There is a strong partnership in Gwent on that 
and they have the data to evidence the claim. The Head of Service went on to 
commend Coleg Gwent for their work. 
  

Tudalen 6



 

 

         A Member asked the partners for more information on efforts that have been made 
on different sections of the community, but the performance indicators do not give any 
detail on which sections it has impact on in terms of participation, from a diverse 
cross-section of residents’ protected characteristics, socio-economic groups etc. The 
Member went on to ask how the partners would know that they reach older people as 
a section of the community, as an example. 
  
The Principal of Coleg Gwent responded that there are certain answers in the data 
that young people are engaged for measuring. When they look into older learners, the 
reach project can measure the number of people they are engaging with. It was 
understood that it could make it hard to make the data meaningful if the engagement 
is bad if numbers would not be enough. Across the whole of the education area, the 
partner would remind all members of delivery of adult education, they would look at 
numbers of those people engaging in numeracy and literacy but that would not 
necessarily have further information that detail. It was noted how to measure any 
aspect of adult learning can be problematic. 
  
The Head of People, Policy and Transformation asserted that there are examples in 
the report of the partners working with young people, for instance, Stand for Nature 
and other elements which made those objectives cross-cutting. It was explained that 
on participatory budgeting has focused on marginalised communities where they try 
to use data on that. 
  

Well-being Objective 3 – Everyone belongs to resilient, friendly, connected 
communities and feels confident and empowered to improve their well-being  
  
Invitees; 

-          Dr. Bethan Bowden – Aneurin Bevan University Health Board – Public Health Team 
-          Harriet Bleach – Nature Resources Wales 

  
The Lead Partner highlighted that with connected communities, there is a lot cross-cutting of 
themes with Healthier Wales and Cohesive Communities’ objectives. The partner covered 
the case studies which mentioned the decision making power for communities which helped 
encouraging involvement. It was recognised that those marginalised in their communities 
may not be so involved, so they intend to give these individuals the ability to identify their 
needs to see what support is needed. It was mentioned how successful participatory 
budgeting has been and that the partners wish to build on this and referred the committee to 
page 47 to see the type of organisations benefitting from it. They measure success by 
building the evaluation into the process to monitor and also assess the impact of the projects.  
  
Committee made the following comments -  
  

         A Member complimented the officers and partners on this part of the report as it was 
acknowledged that there is a huge issue of the increasing number of people not as 
engaged in local community activity. It was noted that the means of engaging with 
particular groups is good and that the only part of the budget where the Members’ 
ward is mentioned. It was mentioned how engagement should be key in all areas, to 
be aware of what is happening in all parts of the community. People want to see how 
this applies to their particular area as local residents notice if their locality is not 
mentioned. 
  
The Member went on to advise that the officer and partners must be mindful on not 
missing out areas because they may be in Wards that are viewed as not being 
deprived, but however do have pockets of deprivation. 
  

         A Member commended the work of local activity in his ward, undertaken by the 
volunteers supporting by the work of partnership. The Member mentioned the 

Tudalen 7



 

 

restoration group’s work which was mentioned in the report, where the group looks to 
provide wheelchair access to the site behind the barracks and also to link roots with 
active travel routes. 
  
The Head of People, Policy and Transformation alluded to the evidence mentioned in 
an earlier discussion which looks at how Newport is side by side, and how the 
partners are able to spot the small pockets of deprivation to relative wealth. The 
Members were advised that the very detailed community analysis is slightly different 
with the participatory budgeting. They encourage all of those from different 
backgrounds to apply and have evidence as a later item agenda as information as 
they seek to ensure that everyone else understands – they have received 
applications from across Newport. Members were informed how the whole plan is 
evidence based and Members were reminded that they are in the last year of the 
previous plan, but a new plan will be based with this in mind. 
  

         A Member made a comment stating he’d be surprised if an area in Caerleon was 
involved in participatory budgeting. 
  
The Head of Service advised she could check that for the Committee. It was then 
agreed that information on the next round of participatory budgeting would be shared 
with Members when it becomes available so they can look to promote the opportunity 
within their own communities. 

  
Well-being Objective 4 – Newport has healthy, safe, and resilient environments with an 
integrated sustainable travel network  
  
Invitees; 

-          Tracy McKim - Head of People, Policy and Transformation 
-          Craig Lane – Chief Executive of Citizens Advice Bureau, Deputy Chair – Strategy 

Performance under One Newport Partnership, Newport Third Sector Partnership 
-          Harriet Bleach – Nature Resources Wales 

  
The Head of People, Policy and Transformation advised the Committee that she was 
covering for the partners who were unable to make the meeting. Members were directed to 
pages 79-97 which covers the green and safe spaces discussed and highlights the effective 
partnership work with an increase in activity in protecting the environment. The Officer gave 
an overview of the list of case studies provided in the report, many of which public such as 
the success of the Road to Nature from the Road to Nowhere, the Gwent Green Grid which 
supports the local authority on their verges and parks and went over the range of other 
successful green projects that the partners have been working on. 
The Officer welcomed questions from the Committee. 
  
Members asked the following: 
  

         A Member thanked the partners for their work on the environment. A concern was 
expressed with regard to the Regional PSB. The Member asked if they will receive 
more detailed information on what is happening regionally as priorities may differ from 
region to region. 
  
The Chief Executive of Newport City Council advised that Gwent PSB would respond 
and it is applicable to the challenges across Gwent, the One Newport Partnership 
also focuses on Newport issues. It continues to exist as the challenges can be 
addressed in that footprint at the Gwent level. Members were reassured that the 
Leader of Newport City Council sits on the Board and the City has a representation 
on that; ensuring that they are at the forefront of everyone’s interest. 
  

Tudalen 8



 

 

         A comment was made regarding accessibility of the report. It was suggested that 
before the document is made public, that some more thought could be given to the 
layout as the sections all run into one. The Member queried if the partners could 
make it easier to follow and added that the introduction is very technical. 
  
The Head of People, Policy and Transformation confirmed that she will take on those 
comments for consideration. The Chief Executive of Citizens Advice Bureau 
appreciated the point raised on the accessibility and explained that they face a 
dilemma on the requirements on the commissioning way of working so he advised 
they’d look to find a version that could get the readers straight to the information, so it 
would be easier to use. 
  

The Chair and Committee thanked all of the officers and partners for the work they do and for 
their time. 
 
 
Conclusions 
  
The Committee noted the One Newport Well-being Plan Annual Report 2021-22, and wished 
to make the following comment to the Partnership: 
  

-          The Committee noted the content of the One Newport Well-being Plan Annual 
Report 2021-2022 and the content of the Gwent Public Services Board - Local Well-
being Assessment. The Committee expressed their thanks to the partners and 
officers for their support and time. 
  

-          The Committee complimented how interactive the information is on the website and 
asked if the Committee could be provided with the data on how many visits the page 
has had since it was published. 
  

-          The Committee requested that more thought be given to the layout of the report so 
that the format is more consistent across the piece, and easier to follow. It was also 
suggested that the introductory information could be reviewed to make it easier to 
understand in the Sway version. 
  

-          The Committee made the recommendation that Community Safety should be 
considered as a work programme item for future scrutiny.  
  

-          The Committee made the request for the Flood Plan information to be provided by 
the partners. 
  

-          The Committee request that information on the next round of participatory budgeting 
would be shared by the partners so the Members can promote the opportunity within 
their own communities. 

  
 

4 Gwent Public Services Board - Local Well-being Assessment  
 
Invitee: 

-          Tracy McKim – Head of People, Policy and Transformation 
  

The Head of People, Policy and Transformation gave brief overview of the statutory guidance 
which requires the PSB to send a copy of the published assessment to the Council’s 
Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee. The Scrutiny Committee was asked to 
receive the Gwent Local Well-being Assessment, for information. 
  

Tudalen 9



 

 

The Head of Service ensured the Committee that the partners make Newport’s priorities as 
clear as they possibly can. Members were reminded that the proposal came to committee a 
while ago, with discussions of the concerns of moving to the Gwent PSB. The documentation 
in and all set out these and ensured that the council will still receive the Newport detail. 
  
There will be technical documentation which will inform the Members and will help form the 
new well-being plan as it has to be based on technical well-being assessments. The Chair 
highlighted the link for the document and thanked the officer for her time, and informed the 
Committee they will have more input into that in future as it develops. 
  
Conclusions 
  
The Committee noted the Gwent Local Well-being Assessment for information. 
  
 

5 Scrutiny Adviser Reports  
 
Invitee:  

-          Leanne Rowlands – Democratic and Electoral Services Manager 
  

a)    Forward Work Programme Update 
  

The Democratic and Electoral Services Manager presented the Forward Work Programme, 
and informed the Committee of the topics due to be discussed at the next two committee 
meetings: 
  
Wednesday 26 October at 5pm, the agenda item; 

       Gwent Regional Integration Fund 
  
Wednesday 9 November at 5pm, the agenda items; 

       Norse Joint Venture Partnership – Strategy and Performance Review 
       Education Achievement Service - Value for Money 2022-23 

  
b)    Actions Plan  

  
The Democratic and Electoral Services Manager provided an update on the actions from the 
previous meeting for the Regional Market Stability Report: 

  
-          The First action point has been actioned  - issued comments to the officers on 22 

September 
-          Second action – Regional Area Plan – this would not be able to be shared until April 

2023 when it will be published but with permission from the Chair they can keep this 
on log for the Committee. 

-          The third action for the Regional Winter Plan and Population Needs Assessment – 
this was completed and sent in 22 September. 

-          Fourth action is currently still open for information regarding Adult Mental health 
placements, as it is understood that the officers are waiting for the feedback from 
commission to feedback to the Committee. 

  
 

 
The meeting terminated at 7.15 pm 
 

Tudalen 10



Scrutiny Report 
Performance Scrutiny Committee- 
Partnerships 
 
 
Part 1  
 
Date:  26th October 2022 
 
Subject Regional Partnership Board – Regional Integrated Fund 
 
Author  Scrutiny Adviser 
 
The following people have been invited to attend for this item: 
 

Invitee: Designation 
Sally Jenkins Strategic Director 

 
Roxanne Green  Regional Partnership Board – Assistant Director Partnership & 

Integration PMO 
 

 

Section A – Committee Guidance and Recommendations 
 

 
 
 
 
  

1. Recommendations to the Committee

The Committee is requested:

a) To consider the financial liabilities and implications of the new Regional 
Integration Fund and its tapered funding model ;

b) To determine whether it wishes to make any comments to the Gwent Regional 
Partnership Board;

c)

Tudalen 11

Eitem Agenda 4



2 Context 
 
Background   

 
2.1 Gwent Regional Partnership Board, via a range of statutory and third sector partners, have 

established a portfolio of activity aligned with the priority areas for integration, as defined within 
the Social Services and Wellbeing Act [Wales] 2014. This portfolio was enabled by a range of 
funding streams provided to Regional Partnership Boards across Wales, those funding streams 
ceased on 31 March 2022.  To reflect the planned end of funding streams, the 2021-22 financial 
year was defined as a transition period to support both the regional partnership and 
organisational financial planning. 

 
2.3? The Health and Social Care Regional Integration Fund (the RIF) is a 5 year fund to deliver a 

programme of change from April 2022 to March 2027. The RIF builds on the learning and 
progress made under the previous Integrate Care Fund (ICF) and Transformation Fund (TF) and 
will seek to create sustainable system change through the integration of health and social care 
services. 

 
2.4? The RIF is a key lever to drive change and transformation across the health and social are 

system and in doing so will directly support implementation of several key pieces of policy and 
legislation. The aim is that by the end of the five year programme we will have established and 
mainstreamed at least six new national models of integrated care so that citizens of Wales, 
wherever they live, can be assured of an effective and seamless service experience in relation to: 
 

• Community based care – prevention and community coordination; 
• Community based care – complex care closer to home; 
• Promoting good emotional health and well-being; 
• Supporting families to stay together safely, and therapeutic support for care 

experienced children, and; 
• Home from hospital services 

 
2.4 The Committee is asked to consider the executive summary report relating to the Financial 

Liabilities applicable to Newport City Council of the Regional Integrated Care Fund 
funding model, provided by the Regional Partnership Board in Appendix A.  In addition, the 
Regional Integration Fund Strategic Outline Plan is also included for wider context and 
information, and provides programme level information that has been submitted to Welsh 
Government, provided by the Regional Partnership Board in Appendix B. 

 
 
3 Information Submitted to the Committee 
 
3.1.1 The following are attached to for the Committee’s consideration: 
 

Appendix A - Submission of Evidence to Scrutiny: Newport City Council Executive 
Summary – Regional Integration Fund Tapering Liabilities 

 
Appendix B  - Submission of Evidence to Scrutiny: Regional Integration Fund 

Strategic Outline Plan 
 

 
 

 
  

Tudalen 12



4. Suggested Areas of Focus 
 
4.1 Role of the Committee 
 

  
 
4.2 Suggested Lines of Enquiry 
 

In assessing the financial liabilities of the Regional Integration Fund, the Committee may wish to 
explore some of the following areas of focus, which have been adapted from the Welsh 
Government Guidance on Scrutiny of the Public Services Board: 
 

 
  

 

 

The role of the Committee in considering the report is to:
• Consider the report upon the Regional Integrated Care Fund provided by the 

Regional Partnership Board to provide an organisational response on the 
acceptance or rejection of the tapering liabilities of the Regional Integration Fund. 
 

• Assess and make comment on:
- The range of Newport City Council initiatives reliant on partnership funding, and 

their associated financial liabilities
- The funding model proposed within the Regional Integration Fund
- The financial landscape within which Newport City Council is undertaking this 

assessment
- The acceptance or rejection of the financial liabilities of the Regional Integration 

Fund

• In drawing its conclusions, the Committee should assess:
- What was the overall conclusion on the information contained within the reports?
- Is the Committee satisfied that it has had all of the relevant information to base a 

conclusion on the delivery of the Integrated Care Fund to date? 
- Does the Committee wish to make any Comments to the Partnership upon the 

progress of delivering against the objectives to date?
- What future scrutiny activity should be undertaken.

1. To what extent has the Local Authority contributed to the development of the Regional 
Integration Fund Strategic Outline Plan?

2. What scrutiny or process has been undertaken within the Regional Partnership Board to 
agree the projects/initiatives for inclusion within the Regional Integration Fund?

3. How has working as a partnership maximised the resources available?

Tudalen 13



4.3 Regional Integration Fund Policy Drivers 
 
4.3.1 The policy and legislative drivers informing the investment of the Regional Integration Fund are 

identified as the Social Services and Wellbeing Act, with the specific reference to the Partnership 
Arrangements Regulations that were developed under this Act, and the objectives of Regional 
Partnership Boards within Regulation 10.  For ease of reference, regulation 10 is shown below. 

   

10.  The objectives of a regional partnership are- 
 (a) to ensure that the partnership bodies work effectively together to –  

(i) respond to the population assessment carried out in accordance with section 14 
of the Act, and 

(ii) implement the plans for each of the local authority areas covered by the board 
which local authorities and local health boards are required to prepare and 
public under section 14A of the Act; 

 (b) to ensure that the partnership bodies provide sufficient resources for the 
partnership arrangements, in accordance with their powers under section 167 of 
the Act; 

 (c) to promote the establishment of pooled funds where appropriate. 
 

 
4.3.2 In addition, the Regional Integration Fund should put in place the ways of working identified 

within the Well-being of Future Generations Act.  With the Public Service Boards having been 
developed under this Act, the Regional Integration Fund guidance references the need for RPBs 
and PSBs to align, share intelligence, planning priorities and resources where appropriate.  A 
Healthier Wales identifies RPBs as key drivers of integration and delivery of transformation within 
A Healthier Wales; guidance also reflects the quadruple aim and the ten design principles of this 
plan, and identifies them as the basis for future model delivery. 

 
Section B – Supporting Information 
5 Supporting Information 
 
5.1 The Characteristics of Effective Partnership Scrutiny set out in the Guidance for Local Authority 

Scrutiny Committees on the scrutiny of Public Services Boards issued by Welsh Government in 
August 2017 can equally be applied to the scrutiny of other Partnerships and states that: 
 
“Research into the practice of collaborative or joint scrutiny in England and Wales identifies that 
arrangements are effective when they demonstrate the following characteristics: 

 

Tudalen 14



Characteristics of effective partnership scrutiny: 
 

• Scrutiny regards itself as a form of ‘critical friendship with positive intent’ in which scrutiny 
practitioners act as advocates for the success of joint working. 
 

• Collaborative performance is evaluated from the citizen’s perspective. 
 

• Strong efforts are made to understand the complexity of partnership arrangements and to 
facilitate learning about the culture and assumptions of different organizations. 

 

• Scrutiny creates positive expectations by focussing on issues regarded as useful to the 
partnership or where there is consensus that ‘things need to change’. 

 

• Scrutiny demonstrates intellectual independence and investigative rigour in all of its 
activities. 

 

• Scrutiny demonstrates a positive impact by developing clear, timely, evidence-based 
recommendations aimed at enhancing collaborative performance. 

 

• Scrutiny critically evaluates its own performance utilising partnership perspectives. 

 
 (A link to the full Welsh Government Guidance is included in Section 7 of this report in the 

Background Papers for Members’ information.) 
 

6 Links to Council Policies and Priorities  
•  Newport City Council’s Corporate Plan and Wellbeing Objectives:  

 
Well-being 
Objectives  
 

Promote economic 
growth and 
regeneration whilst 
protecting the 
environment  
 

Improve skills, 
educational 
outcomes & 
employment 
opportunities  
 

Enable 
people to be 
healthy, 
independent 
& resilient  
 

Build cohesive 
& sustainable 
communities  
 

Corporate 
Plan 
Commitments 

Thriving City  Aspirational People Resilient 
Communities 

Supporting 
Function 

Modernised Council 

 

 
7 Background Papers 

 
• Regional Integration Fund – Welsh Government guidance 
• Gwent Regional Partnership Board Website 
• Welsh Government Guidance for Local Authority Scrutiny Committees on the Scrutiny of 

Public Services Boards (Issued August 2017)  
• The Essentials – Well-being of Future Generation (Wales) Actx   

 
 

 
 
 

Report Completed: 26th October 2022  
                              

Tudalen 15

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2022-02/health-and-social-care-regional-integration-fund-revenue-guidance-2022-2027.pdf
http://www.gwentrpb.wales/home
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-02/guidance-on-the-scrutiny-of-public-services-boards.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-02/guidance-on-the-scrutiny-of-public-services-boards.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-10/well-being-future-generations-wales-act-2015-the-essentials-2021.pdf


Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn



 

 

 

 

 

Regional Integration Fund Executive Report 

Newport City Council 
  

T
udalen 17



Purpose  

This report is provided to Newport City Council to aid consideration of the financial liabilities and implications of the new Regional Integration Fund and its tapered funding 
model.  The financial liabilities to adhere to the funding model and the associated services enabled and impacted by the budget considerations are included within this 
paper for consideration. 

Newport City Council will need to consider and provide a response to the Gwent Regional Partnership Board via the Assistant Director of Partnership & Integration, on the 
outcome of the consideration as to whether the organisation accepts or rejects the liabilities associated and described herein. 

Background and Context 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board, via a range of statutory and third sector partners, have established a portfolio of activity aligned with the priority areas for integration, 
as defined within the Social Services and Wellbeing Act [Wales] 2014. 

This portfolio was enabled by a range of funding streams provided to Regional Partnership Boards across Wales, those funding streams ceased on 31 March 2022.  To 
reflect the planned end of funding streams, the 2021-22 financial year was defined as a transition period to support both the regional partnership and organisational 
financial planning. 

Welsh Government have developed a new revenue funding model for Regional Partnership Boards (the Regional Integration Fund), addressing the recommendation of the 
2018-19 Wales Audit Office review of the Integrated Care Fund to review all short-term funding streams to ensure minimised duplication and ensure the complementary 
purpose of any separate funding streams.   

Continuous engagement with Welsh Government was undertaken during the development of the funding model to understand any associated risks.  Flexibility has been 
afforded with the application of the new funding model in Year 1 whilst organisations understand the liabilities associated and can make appropriate arrangements to 
adhere to the funding model. 

Regional Integration Fund – Funding Model 

Welsh Government have made a 5 year commitment of revenue funding for Regional Partnership Boards.  This revenue funding, now known as the Regional Integration 
Fund (RIF), brings together previous funding streams provided to RPBs into one source of strategic revenue funds, providing £26.8m for Gwent annually, from April 2022 to 
March 2027.  The funding model comprises four key elements introducing a tapering approach during the course of the 5 year programme.  The tapering approach is 
intended to promote sustainability, with the expectation that partners in receipt of funding provide the resource match to reflect the tapered element as outlined below. 

 

1. Fully Funded National Priorities Fund (100% WG funded - £2.825m) 

Ring fenced funding provided to Regional Partnership Boards at 100%, no tapering or resource match required for initiatives within this category.  This includes 
Dementia ringfenced funding, and the Integrated Autism Service. 

 
2. Acceleration Change Fund (90% funded via RIF, 10% tapering) 

T
udalen 18



Funding to test and develop new models of care, for a maximum period of 2 years.  Following robust evaluation these models can be considered to move into the 
embedding fund 

 
3. National Delivery Model Embedding Fund (70% funded via RIF, 30% tapering) 

Projects successfully tested can move into the embedding fund with a clear business case for sustainability.  Embedding funding can be received for a maximum of 3 
years.  If appropriate, projects can move into the mainstreaming fund at the end of this period. 

 
4. 50/50 Integrated Mainstreaming Fund (50% funded via RIF, 50% tapering) 

 After a project has concluded its three years funding under the Embedding Fund it should now be ready to be mainstreamed. Partners must agree and commit 
resources to ensure that the project or model of care will be sustained long term.  This fund will take the shape of a recurrent pooled fund with partners 
contributing 50% and Welsh Government contributing the remaining 50% 

 

The key message identified within the Welsh Government RIF guidance is the requirement for Regional Partnership Boards to utilise funding to deliver a programme of 
change over the next 5 years.  There is emphasis on the learning from both the Integrated Care Fund and the Transformation Fund, and the desire to create sustainable 
system change through the integration of health and social care services.  The Regional Integration Fund is described as a key lever to drive change and transformation 
within the health and social care system, with Regional Partnership Boards tasked to consider how they deploy their collective resources, including both partnership funding 
and wider core resources to meet their objectives. 

 

The key features and values of the Regional Integration Fund are identified as: 

▪ A strong focus on prevention and early intervention 

▪ Developing and embedding national models of integrated care (also referred to as models of care within the guidance) 

▪ Actively sharing learning across Wales through communities of practice 

▪ Sustainable long term resourcing to embed and mainstream new models of care 

▪ Creation of long term pooled fund arrangements 

▪ Consistent investment in regional planning and partnership infrastructure 

 

 

 

T
udalen 19

https://gov.wales/health-and-social-care-regional-integration-fund


 

The models of care referenced within the guidance have been developed with the intention of ensuring citizens experience an effective and seamless service, with the 
intention of nationally embedded models of care as an output of the Regional Integration Fund.  The models of care are identified as: 

▪ Community based care – prevention and community coordination 

▪ Community based care – complex care closer to home 

▪ Promoting good emotional health and wellbeing 

▪ Supporting families to stay together safely, and therapeutic support for care experienced children 

▪ Home from hospital services 

▪ Accommodation based solutions 

 

Financial Implications 

Funding is provided to [Organisation] as itemised in Table 1 below, itemising the list of services in receipt of funding and the associated financial liabilities for consideration.  
As the funding model is delivered over a five year programme, the implications are identified for the remainder of the programme for financial periods 2023-24 to 2026-27.   

NCC CHILDREN SOCIAL CARE REGIONAL INTERGRATION FUND 

Potential Liability Commitments 
     2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 

Programme Project Name 
Accelerate
/ Embed 

Year 1 
Indicative 
Allocation 

Year 2 Actual 
Budget 

Required from 
NCC 

Year 3 Actual 
Budget 

Required from 
NCC 

Year 4 Actual 
Budget 

Required from 
NCC 

Year 5 Actual 
Budget 

Required from 
NCC 

Year 6 Actual 
Budget 

Required from 
NCC 

Early Intervention & 
Support: Edge of Care 

Enhanced Edge Of Care 
(Newp) Embed £276,088 £82,826 £82,826 £138,044 £138,044 £138,044 

Early Intervention & 
Support: Edge of Care 

Family Group Conferences 
(Newp) Embed £108,448 £32,534 £32,534 £54,224 £54,224 £54,224 

Early Intervention & 
Support: Edge of Care Mediation Support (Newp) Embed £79,172 £23,752 £23,752 £39,586 £39,586 £39,586 
Early Intervention & 
Support: Edge of Care Sgo Support (Newp) Embed £272,568 £81,770 £81,770 £136,284 £136,284 £136,284 
Grand Totals     £736,276 £220,883 £220,883 £368,138 £368,138 £368,138 

 

T
udalen 20



NCC ADULT SOCIAL CARE REGIONAL INTERGRATION FUND 

Potential Liability Commitments 
     2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 

Programme Project Name Accelerate/ 
Embed 

Year 1 
Indicative 
Allocation 

Year 2 
Actual 
Budget 

Required 
from NCC 

Year 3 Actual 
Budget 

Required 
from NCC 

Year 4 Actual 
Budget 

Required 
from NCC 

Year 5 Actual 
Budget 

Required 
from NCC 

Year 6 Actual 
Budget 

Required 
from NCC 

Dementia: Living 
with Dementia 

Early Intervention Dementia 
Reablement Services Ringfenced £136,317 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 

Improving 
System Flow 

Newport / Torfaen Inc Ot - Discharge 
Pathways From Rgh Accelerate £132,600 £13,260 £39,780 £39,780 £39,780 £66,300 

Improving 
System Flow In-Reach Phase 3 Accelerate £50,000 £5,000 £15,000 £15,000 £15,000 £25,000 
Place Based 
Graduated Care Step Up-Down Beds Accelerate £595,466 £59,547 £178,640 £178,640 £178,640 £297,733 

Transition 

Transition - Development Of Integrated 
Working Across Adult And Childrens 
Services In Gwent Accelerate £108,344 £10,834 £32,503 £32,503 £32,503 £54,172 

Support for 
Unpaid Carers Carers Support - Newport Embed £109,608 £32,882 £32,882 £54,804 £54,804 £54,804 
Connected 
Communities Community Co-Ordinators - Newport Embed £135,013 £40,504 £40,504 £67,507 £67,507 £67,507 
Assistive 
Technology Implementation of Better Care Project Embed £46,031 £13,809 £13,809 £23,016 £23,016 £23,016 
Grand Totals 
excluding Home 
First     £1,313,379 £175,837 £353,119 £411,249 £411,249 £588,531 
Improving 
System Flow Home First Accelerate £1,799,418 TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD 
Grand Totals 
including Home 
First     £3,112,797 £175,837 £353,119 £411,249 £411,249 £588,531 

 
 
 

 Notes: 

T
udalen 21



  Ringfenced - no budget contribution required from Lead Organisation 

  
Accelerate - 10% budget contribution required from Lead Organisation for a maximum of 2 years, then 30% budget contribution as move into Embed Stage for a 
maximum of 3 years 

  Embed - 30% budget contribution required from Lead Organisation for a maximum of 3 years 
  Legacy Fund - 50% budget contribution required post Embed Stage 
  Regional Scheme - Liability to be determined 

•  
Although no organisational budgets have been released in Year 1 (2022/23) to contribute to the RIF, 2022/23 is still classed as Year 1, so for Example when we 
have two years of an “Accelerate Scheme”, that will be for financial years 2022/23 and 2023/24 

 
 

Whilst no tapering implications have been realised within Year 1 of the programme (2022-23), the financial implications take into account 2022-23 as Year 1 of the 
programme and is therefore reflected in the liabilities established, e.g. Year 2 is the final year of ‘Acceleration funding’ for projects identified as such in this year’s 
programme. 

Future consideration will be needed on the services that have been developed jointly within the partnership to consider how liabilities may be shared between statutory 
partners.  A further paper will be in the New Year to aid consideration of the following regional initiatives: 

REGIONAL INTERGRATION FUND - REGIONAL SCHEMES 

     2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 

Programme Project Name 
Accelerate
/ Embed 

Year 1 
Indicative 
Allocation 

Year 2 Actual 
Budget 

Required 

Year 3 Actual 
Budget 

Required 

Year 4 Actual 
Budget 

Required 

Year 5 Actual 
Budget 

Required 

Year 6 Actual 
Budget 

Required 
Improving System Flow Home First Accelerate £1,799,418 £179,942 £539,825 £539,825 £539,825 £899,709 
Place Based Graduated 
Care Shared Lives Accelerate £81,040 £8,104 £24,312 £24,312 £24,312 £40,520 
Supporting Care 
Experienced Children MYST Leadership Costs Embed £295,890 £88,767 £88,767 £147,945 £147,945 £147,945 
LD Independence & 
Wellbeing My Mates Embed £160,960 £48,288 £48,288 £80,480 £80,480 £80,480 
Grand Totals     £2,337,308 £325,101 £701,192 £792,562 £792,562 £1,168,654 

 

 Notes: 
  Ringfenced - no budget contribution required from Lead Organisation 

  
Accelerate - 10% budget contribution required from Lead Organisation for a maximum of 2 years, then 30% budget contribution as move into 
Embed Stage for a maximum of 3 years 

T
udalen 22



  Embed - 30% budget contribution required from Lead Organisation for a maximum of 3 years 
  Legacy Fund - 50% budget contribution required post Embed Stage 

•  
Although no organisational budgets have been released in Year 1 (2022/23) to contribute to the RIF, 2022/23 is still classed as Year 1, so for 
Example when we have two years of an “Accelerate Scheme”, that will be for financial years 2022/23 and 2023/24 

 
 

 

Schedule 1: Organisational Services funded by Gwent RPB RIF 

To provide context to the financial liabilities, this schedule provides an overview of the projects/services reliant on partnership funding.  Data is included to identify the 
impact of the project should the activity need to cease. 

Children’s Social Care 

Project  Overview Implication of Cessation 

Enhanced Edge Of Care 
(EOC) - £276,088 

 

Between April 2021- March 2022, the project have supported at total of  1698 individuals to 
remain living within their family network, with 51 being able to return to live within their family 
networks, and 83 who have been diverted to the care system. If the project was to cease, this 
would inevitably increase the number of children becoming looked after, therefore increasing 
the number of ACES and life prospects for the child and YP. Further, this would also result in 
additional pressure on the Statutory system.   

Family Group Conferences 
(FGC) - £108,448 

 

Between April 2021- March 2022, the project received 114 referrals, of which 88 families have 
accessed family group meetings.  Of the 88; 53 (60%) were referred due to child protection and 
safeguarding concerns. 34 (39%) due to the risk of becoming looked after, and 37 (42%) for 
rehabilitation and diverted from Looked After. Cessation of this project would increase the 
prospect of families progressing to case conference.   

Mediation Support (MS) - 
£79,172 

 

The programme consists of a series of 
projects listed here with a shared 
objective of “Supporting Children & 
Families known to Social Services to 
mitigate, where possible, Children 
entering care and to support Family 
reunification.”.  All projects within this 
programme aim to reduce the number of 
children entering the care system, reduce 
the number of those becoming “Children 
Looked After”, and help families stay 
together where possible. 

 
A total of 46 individuals have accessed this project between April 2021- March 2022.  Of these 
37 were supported to remain within their family home (80.5%).   6.5% were supported into 
independent living and another 6.5% were supported to return to their family unit. The project 
has managed to keep 67% of individuals from entering statutory services, thus relieving the 
impact and costs associated with a child becoming looked after. Closure of this service would 
result in more individuals entering statutory services and impact the opportunity to prevent 
escalation for issues such as parental conflict. 

T
udalen 23



Special Guardianship Order 
Support (SGO) - £272,568 

 

Between April 2021- March 2022, a total of 59 individuals have accessed the project for training, 
peer, and psychological support.  

The project has managed to divert 1% of individuals from becoming ‘Looked After’.  If the project 
were to cease its delivery, the impact on statutory services would increase and more children & 
young people would become looked after entering the care of statutory services.    

 

 

Adult Social Care 

Project  Overview Implication of Cessation 

Early Intervention 
Dementia Reablement 
Services - £136,317 

 

The service focuses on supporting people living with 
dementia with bespoke support. The service supports people 
with a diagnosis or, or displaying symptoms of, dementia to 
remain active and connected with their community.    

 

Between April 2021- March 2022, the project in Newport has supported 617 
individuals through the programme. 208 of those individuals with memory 
problems or dementia continue to remain independent of services following 
completion of a reablement programme.   In absence of these services, it is 
anticipated that service users would look to access support from Social 
Services. Further, this could lead to an increase in hospital admission, 
decrease in hospital discharges, increased GP attendance, a rise in referrals 
to Social Services and therefore an increase in requests for packages of Care 
across all 5 Local Authorities. 

Newport / Torfaen Inc Ot - 
Discharge Pathways From 
Rgh- £132,600 

 

 The project operating across Newport and Torfaen the 
Newport/Torfaen Discharge Pathways from RGH was 
established to provide Social Worker In-Reach at the Royal 
Gwent Hospital site, in order to improve the effectiveness of 
the discharge pathway.   The project aims to provide support 
for the need identified to change the current hospital 
discharge pathway within Newport and to manage referrals 
that have impacted on the time, capacity and efficiency of 
the team to respond to those referrals that did require 
Social Work intervention.  This in turn aims to support the 
affected timeliness of Social Work intervention, contributed 
to increased length of hospital stay, and affected compliance 
with the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014.     

The current challenges within social care have continued to impact on 
service delivery between April 2021- March 2022. The ability to meet the 
demands have been severely impacted due to COVID/Staff 
shortages/vacancies etc. The focus has been on prioritising workload on a 
daily basis to manage risks and targeting resources to the highest priority. 

If the service was not available, the Organisation anticipates that the service 
users would access support from Social Services.   It is anticipated there 
would be a system-level impact on Health and Social Care.  Potential impacts 
include affecting patient flow through services, a decrease in hospital 
discharges, an increase in packages of care, and an impact on statutory duty 
compliance.  It was noted on a previous risk assessment that this project is 
service critical to facilitate hospital discharge.  This resource was established 
to support the In-reach approach in Royal Gwent Hospital and St Woolos 
Hospital, which means that the wards are supported to understand who will 

T
udalen 24



need Social Services intervention to leave the hospital and who does not so 
that resources can be focussed on those with the most complex needs.     

 

In-Reach Phase 3 - £50,000 

 

The overall objective of the project is to improve outcomes 
for individuals and families by reducing length of hospital 
stay and decreasing delays through focused, clear discharge 
planning.  Through a key point of contact to co-ordinate 
discharge the aim is for pathways to be streamlined and 
communication improved between professionals, increasing 
professional capacity.    

The current challenges within social care have continued to impact on 
service delivery between April 2021- March 2022. The ability to meet the 
demands have been severely impacted due to COVID/Staff 
shortages/vacancies etc. The focus has been on prioritising workload on a 
daily basis to manage risks and targeting resources to the highest priority. 

If the service was not available, it is anticipated that individuals would access 
support from Social Services. Further, there would be a system level impact 
on both Health and Social Care.  Potential impacts include affecting patient 
flow through services, a decrease in hospital discharges, an increase in 
packages of care, and an increase in adult referrals to Social Services.   

Step Up-Down Beds - 
£595,466 

 

The project provides intermediate care to prevent 
unnecessary admission to hospital or long-term care and to 
facilitate timely discharge from hospital for older people 
with complex needs that require additional support to stay 
safely at home. The project provision exemplifies the ethos 
of intermediate care, ensuring that a multi-disciplinary team 
completes the appropriate assessments with staff from 
across Health and Social Care, working towards a fully 
integrated pathway of care for older people.   

 

Between April 2021 – March 2022 100 individuals were referred to the 
newport service, with 74 supported by graduated care services.  67 
individuals were admitted to the step up/down beds, with 63 discharged 
and 38 able to go back to their usual place of residence, and 8 discharged to 
long term care, 15 were able to be discharged with a package of care from 
the step up/down beds. 

Bed occupancy levels throughout the reporting period were at 
approximately 72%.  the average length of stay for each person was 24.42 
weeks, with a total of 3432 bed days. 2 admissions were avoided due to the 
interventions, with 50 discharges enabled and 15 people able to be 
independent after discharge.  

If the service was not available, it is anticipated that individuals would access 
support from Social Services. In addition, there would be a system level 
impact on Health and Social Care.  Potential impacts include affecting 
patient flow through services, a decrease in hospital discharges, an increase 
in packages of care, an impact on Social Services statutory duty compliance 
and an increase in adult referrals to Social Services.  It was noted this project 
is Service Critical, with the stepdown beds supporting 90% of people to 
return home following a hospital admission and achieving their individual 
outcomes. 

T
udalen 25



Transition - Development 
Of Integrated Working 
Across Adult And Childrens 
Services In Gwent - 
£108,344 

 

The programme is made up of four projects which are 
delivered in Blaenau Gwent, Caerphilly, Monmouthshire – 
through the third sector organisation (Building Bridges), and 
Newport. The transition from Children's Services to Adult 
Services can be a very challenging experience for adults with 
learning disabilities and their families/carers. Similarly, the 
transition to more independent living can be problematic for 
adults with learning disabilities. The provision of specialist 
knowledge helps to address these needs and will help ensure 
compliance to the Social Services and Well Being Act 2014. It 
is clearly identified that transition outcomes improve when 
there is a lead coordinator who facilitates the involvement of 
the right people at the right time.    

The Newport transition project implemented 144 Care & Support Plan (CASP) 
and received and allocated 85 referrals to the team between April 2021 to 
March 2022.  Staff attend school reviews and complete capacity and best 
interest assessments, whilst working across both child and adult services. 

If this service were to cease in its delivery, those referred and supported 
would not have an alternative organisation or pathway that they could be 
referred to.  By ceasing this project, pressure on health board services would 
increase within Mental Health & Learning Disabilities, both child and adult 
services. 

 

Carers Support – Newport - 
£109,608 

 

The main objective of this project is to improve 
identification of unpaid carers, provide easy access to Carers 
Assessments, raise awareness of what support is available to 
carers within their community, assist with signposting, and 
refer on to other agencies where appropriate.  The project 
also aims to ensure that children and young people will be 
protected from inappropriate caring and have the support 
they need to learn, develop and thrive, to enjoy positive 
childhoods and to optimise their abilities. 

Between April 2021- March 2022, the merged projects of the carers 
coordinator and carers support in Newport engaged with 3189 carers and 
supported 1707 carers with information, assistance and advice (IAA). The 
project provided 8 drop-in sessions, with 222 individuals attending 
activities/events. If the services were not available, it is anticipated there 
would be a system-level impact on Social Care.  Potential impacts could 
include an increase in packages of care, and an increase in adult referrals to 
Social Care. It is worth noting that this project aligns with the Social Services 
and Wellbeing Act (2014). 

Community Co-Ordinators 
– Newport - £135,013 

 

The project is a low-level preventative service offering 
information, advice and assistance (IAA) to access 
community resources.  In addition, the project focuses on 
improving well-being and helping people think about what 
matters to them, and the outcomes they want to achieve 
and then connect them with appropriate resources and 
support in the community.  Ultimately, the aim is to reduce 
feelings of isolation and loneliness of older people by feeling 
better associated with activities and services within their 
community. 

1480 individuals received information, advice, and assistance, 339 accessing 
the connected community services available. 5 community event and groups 
supported, with 244 individuals accessing these events. 200 individuals 
socially connected and 21 remaining independent.  55 were supported with 
income maximisation, 53 supported with other enquiries, 21 supported with 
housing and 5 supported with digital inclusion. 

1322 individuals were signposted to supporting services. 1875 outcomes were 
achieved for all individuals accessing the services; 65 maintained 
independences, 368 felt their wellbeing was improved and 358 individuals 
avoided social services intervention. 

The connected communities support those accessing services such as food 
banks, financial support, access to skills for training, including, digital 

T
udalen 26



inclusion, carers networks, social events in the community.  If the service were 
to cease pressures on Health Board & Social Care would increase, by providing 
timely IAA and early intervention support services the community connectors 
project supports the alleviation of pressure on statutory services. 

Implementation of Better 
Care Project - £46,031 

 

The Implementation of the Better Care Project commenced 
with winter funding during 2019-20, with the acquisition of 
specialist equipment.  This equipment provided the 
opportunity to reduce the workforce requirements in 
supporting individuals with complex needs, where possible, 
reducing what is referred to as ‘double handled calls’ to 
‘single handed call’.  To maximise regional opportunities, it 
was agreed to deliver this project in two phases.  The first 
phase being the acquisition of equipment from winter 
funding, and more recently, the dedicated support to train 
staff in the use of the new equipment.   

If the service ended, it is anticipated that service users would access support 
through Social Services, so therefore increasing referrals, and package of 
care requests. In addition, there would be an impact on patient flow through 
services resulting in an increase in hospital admissions and a decrease in 
hospital discharges.   

 

 

Regional Schemes 

Project  Overview Implication of Cessation 

Home First - £1,799,418 

 

The service has been established for approximately 3 years, and 
commenced based on the learning of a pilot initiative within the 
Integrated Care Fund. The principle of this service is a trusted 
assessor model to enable turn around at the front door where 
appropriate. During the COVID-19 pandemic support was 
extended to the Grange University Hospital as well as the District 
General Hospitals. This initiative has been independently 
evaluated very positively, and consensus reached within the 
Gwent Adult Strategic Partnership on the need to sustain the 
service post March 2022. 

 

This project has become an essential front door service across all the acute 
hospital sites that ensures people who do not need admission are given 
the right advice, information and assistance to return home with a follow 
up reablement intervention as required. The regional project is critical for 
moving people in a safe and timely manner secondary care to community 
support. It is considered a top priority to change conversations with the 
public and prevent unnecessary admissions to hospital. 

 

If this project closed, there would be an impact across Social Care and 
Health. For Health, these impacts include an increase in hospital 
admissions, increase in GP attendances, decrease in hospital discharges 
and an impact on patient flow through the system. Potential impacts on 
Social Care include an increase in adult referrals and increase in packages 
of care. 

T
udalen 27



Shared Lives - £81,040 

 

The project model supports people whose level of need means 
it is harder for them to live on their own, by matching them with 
a carer to share their family and lives giving care and support in 
the community. 

People using the scheme may be older, have mental health 
problems, dementia or learning disabilities or other needs which 
require short and long-term support. The Shared Lives Health 
Initiative project provides them with the opportunity to live with 
their matched carer or visit them regularly for day support or 
respite for their families. 

 

Between April 2021 and March 2022, the project received 59 referrals and 
made 29 arrangements. The project has provided 520 hours of day 
support, 650 hours nights of respite and 2456 nights of long term provided. 
There have been 3 Shared Lives carers recruited and approved during this 
period and achieved 400% individual outcomes and an increase of 400% 
for family carer wellbeing.  

The model only receives funding from the RIF to support with the 
continuation of the project. Removal of the funding would mean the 
project would have to cease. The project has two employees, these 
employees would then have to begin the necessary redundancy 
procedures. Currently, there are twenty-seven active Shared Lives Health 
Initiative arrangements. All arrangements would cease and individuals and 
their families would need to secure the support lost through other care 
arrangements, such as nursing or residential homes, and step up or step 
down facilities. All this has the potential to add further strain to the 
individuals, their families and the system in place to support them.    

MYST Leadership Costs - 
£295,890 

 

The service provides responsive, flexible outreach support to 
carers, including families and carers, to keep children and young 
people at home or in their placement.  Providing support to 
children, young people and their care providers through a 
presenting crisis or event, making sure ongoing support post 
crisis is available.  Providing a core daytime service and enhanced 
out of hours service, with a structured, high quality, fit for 
purpose educational provision supported by therapeutic and risk 
management models, delivered in a holistic, multi-disciplinary 
assessment/formulation – either community based or through 
residential provision, offering emergency/crisis residential 
placements when necessary.   

Between April 2021 to March 2022 56 young people were referred to the 
service.  There were 233 consultations held with 26 training sessions 
delivered, and 14 non-intensive cases open. 106 young people who are 
looked after, were supported to ‘step down’ from residential to family-
based care.  

If the MyST service was to cease its delivery, the impact would be seen 
across health and social care sectors, increasing pressure on other service 
areas, increasing waiting times and possibly an increase in children 
becoming looked after, increasing financial implications on statutory 
services. 

My Mates - £160,960 

 

The project supports individuals with a learning disability across 
Gwent are able to access a variety of social events as a means of 
forming friendships and, if requested, can be supported to 
develop a relationship by finding a date and being offered advice 
and information. My Mates support individuals with learning 
disabilities to live independently with access to early 

Between April 2021 and March 2022, 1132 people engaged with the 
project and in addition, received 190 virtual engagements. There were 
7088 meetings with families/individuals held, and 3695 people attended 
events. The project also facilitated 50 training/workshops during this 
period.  

T
udalen 28



intervention services in the community, and greater public 
awareness and understanding of people with learning disabilities 
needs. 

If the funding of the project was to cease, the project has identified that it 
is not sufficiently embedded to consider an exit stage. 

 

Schedule 2: All other services/resource funded by RIF 

To aid transparency and context of the total Regional Integration Fund, schedule 2 below provides an itemised list of all areas of investment under the Regional Partnership 
Board in addition to those already highlighted within this report. 

Organisation Project Name 
Revised Budget 
Allocation 

Blaenau Gwent CBC Carers Support - Blaenau Gwent £102,272 

Caerphilly CBC Carers Support - Caerphilly £127,015 

Carers Trust South East Wales Expanded Carers Small Grants Scheme £126,000 

Carers Trust South East Wales Hub & Spoke - Year 1 Costs (1/2 Of Year 2) £376,000 

Hafal Carers Café £104,386 

Monmouthshire CC Carers Support - Monmouth £136,146 

Torfaen CBC Carers Support - Torfaen £101,423 

ABUHB - PCCS Unpaid Carers - Hospital Discharge Engagement £191,000 

Blaenau Gwent CBC Enhanced Edge Of Care (Bg) £124,847 

Blaenau Gwent CBC Family Group Conferences (Bg) £77,694 

Blaenau Gwent CBC Mediation Support (Bg) £34,847 

Blaenau Gwent CBC Sgo Support (Bg) £135,521 

Caerphilly CBC Enhanced Edge Of Care (Caer) £324,551 

Caerphilly CBC Family Group Conferences (Caer) £190,530 

Caerphilly CBC Mediation Support (Caer) £100,000 

Caerphilly CBC Sgo Support (Caer) £258,532 

T
udalen 29



Monmouthshire CC Enhanced Edge Of Care (Monm) £169,140 

Monmouthshire CC Family Group Conferences (Monm) £34,835 

Monmouthshire CC Mediation Support (Monm) £34,835 

Monmouthshire CC Sgo Support (Monm) £120,957 

Torfaen CBC Enhanced Edge Of Care (Torf) £161,148 

Torfaen CBC Family Group Conferences (Torf) £110,128 

Torfaen CBC Mediation Support (Torf) £61,432 

Torfaen CBC Sgo Support (Torf) £128,108 

Action for children Alternative Residential Provision - Skills For Living £200,000 

Regional MYST Leadership Costs £295,890 

ABUHB - F&T Integrated Assessment And Planning (ISCAN / IAP Pilot) £269,589 

ABUHB - F&T Early Intervention 'Helping Hands' £174,414 

Action for children Iceberg: Family Intervention Team £529,359 

Plattform Plattform 4YP £182,780 

ABUHB - F&T SPACE Wellbeing £111,423 

ABUHB - F&T Expansion Of Gwent Integ. Attachment Service £200,871 

ABUHB - Public Health Integrated Wellbeing Networks £656,426 

ABUHB - PCCS Socially vulnerable cohorts (Newport) £217,084 

ABUHB - PCCS Compassionate Communities - Newport Hub Capacity £207,805 

Blaenau Gwent CBC GMS alignment & IAA Prevention Workstream £142,471 

Bridges Centre Community Car Scheme & Befriending Service £221,330 

Caerphilly CBC Community Connectors - Caerphilly £353,146 

Monmouthshire CC Community Support - Monmouth £343,944 

Torfaen CBC Community Co-Ordinators - Torfaen £97,115 

T
udalen 30



ABUHB - MH&LD Sanctuary @ Front Door £37,500 

ABUHB - PCCS Abuhb - Patient Flow £258,004 

ABUHB - PCCS Discharge team & Regional Extension to WG grants £303,282 

ABUHB - USCH Hospital Transportation £109,200 

ABUHB - PCCS Blaenau Gwent D2RA Resource £123,877 

Caerphilly CBC Caerphilly D2RA Resource £155,950 

Monmouthshire CC Monmouthshire County Council - Hospital Discharge Co-Ordination £202,814 

Monmouthshire CC Monmouthshire D2RA Resource £219,344 

ABUHB - PCCS Newport D2RA Resource £95,200 

Regional Home First £1,799,418 

ABUHB - PCCS Torfaen D2RA Resource £124,800 

Care & Repair Hospital to a Healthier Home £173,361 

British Red Cross Resettlement Scheme £177,446 

British Red Cross Expansion Of British Red Cross Torfaen Intermediate Care Support Service £16,695 

ABUHB - CHC Fast Track / End of Life Dom Care £66,205 

ABUHB - F&T Neuro-Community Service £701,991 

ABUHB - F&T Speech & Language Therapy Community Capacity £180,518 

ABUHB - PCCS Falls Response Unit £391,348 

ABUHB - PCCS CRT Pharmacy Project £290,000 

ABUHB - PCCS GP Alignment & HRAC delivery £256,054 

ABUHB - PCCS Hospital Admission Avoidance Project (HAAP) £68,000 

Caerphilly CBC Early Discharge - Caerphilly £185,430 

Regional Shared Lives £81,040 

Monmouthshire CC Raglan Project £76,378 

T
udalen 31



Monmouthshire CC Community Night Support £287,154 

Torfaen CBC North Torfaen Integrated Hub Pilot £378,323 

ABUHB - PCCS Step Up-Down Beds - Caerphilly £117,629 

Caerphilly CBC Step Up-Down Beds - Caerphilly (Joint Scheme With Health Board - £312,637) £195,008 

Blaenau Gwent CBC (Previously Step Up/Down Beds & Cariad Intermediate Care Beds 0 Phase 2 [Additional 4 Units]) £347,536 

Monmouthshire CC Enhanced Intermediate Care (Previously Enhanced Intermediate Care & Strength Based Assessment) £298,415 

Torfaen CBC Step Up-Down Beds £199,067 

ABUHB - Corp Nursing Infection Prevention & Control - Care Home In-reach £267,500 

ABUHB - Corp Workworce Wellbeing Workforce £300,000 

Central/PMO OT Communitiy Capacity (26 posts) £1,111,578 

Central/PMO Unallocated £3,057,555 

Blaenau Gwent CBC Transition - Development Of Integrated Working Across Adult And Childrens Services In Gwent £70,500 

Bridges Centre Transition - Development Of Integrated Working Across Adult And Childrens Services In Gwent £100,960 

Caerphilly CBC Transition - Development Of Integrated Working Across Adult And Childrens Services In Gwent £87,100 

ABUHB - MH&LD Reducing Health Inequalities £155,272 

Growing Space No More Barriers £97,176 

Regional My Mates £160,960 

Monmouthshire CC Upside Down Pilot Dom Care Monmouth For Ld Commissioning (Locality V Hourly) £51,000 

Volunteering Matters Safe Project - Male Pilot £31,925 

ABUHB - Public Health Foundation Tier £150,250 

ABUHB - PCCS Additional support for primary care mental health team £45,000 

ABUHB - MH&LD MAS: Consultant Capacity £149,712 

ABUHB - SCH MAS: Audiology MDT approach £99,962 

ABUHB - MH&LD Memory Rehabilitation £261,330 

T
udalen 32



ABUHB - MH&LD MAS: Advance Nurse Practitioners £315,324 

ABUHB - MH&LD Abuhb Caerphilly Dementia Pilot - Behavioural Support £205,579 

ABUHB - MH&LD Behavioural Support Service: Improvement To Response Time £117,271 

Alzheimers Society Dementia Support Services  £95,260 

Alzheimers Society Dementia Connect £124,697 

Blaenau Gwent CBC Early Intervention Dementia Reablement Services £136,317 

Caerphilly CBC Shared Lives Dementia £92,750 

Caerphilly CBC Early Intervention Dementia Reablement Services £136,317 

Hospice of The Valley Support For Those With Early On-Set Dementia £16,834 

Monmouthshire CC Early Intervention Dementia Reablement Services £136,317 

Torfaen CBC Early Intervention Dementia Reablement Services £136,317 

Central/PMO Understanding Characteristics And Outcomes (Inder Singh) £73,000 

Blaenau Gwent CBC Implementation of Better Care Project £46,031 

Caerphilly CBC Implementation of Better Care Project £46,031 

Monmouthshire CC Implementation of Better Care Project £46,031 

Torfaen CBC Community Technology Coach - Pilot £43,740 

Torfaen CBC Implementation of Better Care Project £46,031 

Blaenau Gwent CBC Advocacy Access £115,000 

Sightloss Cymru Preventing & Mitigating Sightloss £35,400 

ABUHB - MH&LD Integrated Autism Service £458,000 

PMO Portfolio Management Office £537,177 

GAVO Small Grants Fund - Blaenau Gwent IPB £40,000 

GAVO Small Grants Fund - Caerphilly IPB £40,000 

GAVO Small Grants Fund - Monmouthshire IPB £40,000 

T
udalen 33



GAVO Small Grants Fund - Newport IPB £40,000 

TVA Small Grants Fund - Torfaen IPB £40,000 

   
  Regional Scheme - Shared Liability  
  Liability to be discussed  

 

T
udalen 34



 
 

 

Health & Social Care 

Regional Integration Fund 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 
Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 35



 

Page | 2 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

Contents 

Regional Context 

Development Approach ................................................................................................................................................ 3 

Regional Infrastructure ................................................................................................................................................. 4 

Regional Continuous Engagement Approach ............................................................................................................... 5 

Population Needs Assessments .................................................................................................................................... 5 

Investment Appraisal .................................................................................................................................................... 7 

Governance ................................................................................................................................................................. 10 

Investment Plan 

COMMUNITY BASED CARE – PREVENTION & COMMUNITY CO-ORDINATION ........................................................... 11 

SP01: Support for Unpaid Carers ............................................................................................................................ 14 

SP09: DAP Assessment & Diagnosis ........................................................................................................................ 20 

SP11: Connected Communities ............................................................................................................................... 27 

SP14: LD Independence & Wellbeing ...................................................................................................................... 31 

COMMUNITY BASED CARE – COMPLEX CARE CLOSE TO HOME ................................................................................. 36 

SP04: Supporting Children with Development Needs ............................................................................................ 39 

SP10: DAP – Living with Dementia .......................................................................................................................... 46 

SP12: Place Based Graduated Care ......................................................................................................................... 53 

SP16: Transition ...................................................................................................................................................... 59 

SP17: Assistive Technology ..................................................................................................................................... 64 

EMOTIONAL HEALTH & WELLBEING ........................................................................................................................... 71 

SP05: Children’s Emotional Health & Wellbeing ..................................................................................................... 73 

SP07: Children’s Workforce Development & Professional Support ....................................................................... 79 

SP15: Enhanced Foundation Tier ............................................................................................................................ 84 

FAMILIES STAYING TOGETHER & THERAPEUTIC SUPPORT FOR CARE EXPERIENCED CHILDREN ............................... 88 

SP02: Early Intervention & Support ........................................................................................................................ 90 

SP03: Supporting Care Experienced Children ......................................................................................................... 96 

HOME FROM HOSPITAL ............................................................................................................................................ 103 

SP13: Improving System Flow ............................................................................................................................... 106 

Appendices 

Appendix 1: Gwent Strategic Programmes - RIF Alignment ................................................................................. 11209 

 

 

Tudalen 36



 

Page | 3 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

Development Approach 

The transition period afforded provided by Welsh Government during the 2021-22 financial year allowed for 

thorough consideration of an established portfolio of work delivered within our regional partnership.  To 

demonstrate our intent and commitment to the consideration and strategic development of a new programme, 

regional strategic priorities were established by the Regional Partnership Board.

 

Recognising the level and range of services enabled by partnership funding, thorough assessments were undertaken 

to demonstrate the learning and potential risk within the system should services need to cease due to funding 

availability.  The evaluation and assessment approaches focussed on supporting sustainability planning, to identify 

areas of good practice and learning able to be shared, to introduce or strengthen regional models of delivery.  The 

outcomes and impact of the projects, along with weighted prioritisation scoring and workforce implications were all 

included during this process.  This allowed for refreshed strategic priorities to be developed to enter into a new 5 

year programme for Gwent Regional Partnership Board, as part of the overall development approach illustrated 

below. 

A refreshed programme infrastructure 

supported by our strategic partnerships has 

established the transformation ambition 

described within this strategic plan.  This 

detail will continue to be developed over the 

coming weeks and months to ensure we have 

a rigorous programme of transformation.  

More detailed aspirations will be established 

for models of care reflective of our regional 

programme developments.  We will ensure 

clear benefits realisation plans and 

timeframes are developed to support the 

continued implementation of the new 

Regional Integration Funding model.  The 

ongoing development activities will be 

reflected within a live version of this strategic 

plan and shared across the partnership, and 

with Welsh Government, at regular intervals.   

Tudalen 37



 

Page | 4 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

Regional Infrastructure 

As one of the largest Regional Partnership Boards in Wales, our partnership infrastructure is wide reaching to 

support collaboration across all priority areas for integration as established within the Social Services and Wellbeing 

Act (Wales) 2014, and the requirements of the Part 9 statutory guidance and Partnership Arrangements Regulations. 

 

 

The supporting resource to enable this infrastructure and collaboration is provided via regional resource configured 

within two distinct areas; a Portfolio Management Office, and a Partnership Team. 

Dedicated capacity for the implementation and management of partnership programmes, including governance and 

evaluation, is provided within our Partnership & Integration Portfolio Management Office. The PMO also has 

responsibility for partnership funding utilisation and financial governance as an enabler to the integration and 

transformation agenda. 

The Regional Partnership Team provides dedicated capacity to the partnership infrastructure, and leads on the Part 9 

requirements for the Regional Partnership Board to support the membership and governance of our Regional 

Partnership Board, and undertaking of our Population Needs Assessments and Market Stability Reports. 

In the context of refreshed membership of the Regional Partnership Board, and the development of a new strategic 

transformation programme emerging, a scoping exercise is currently underway to determine the total regional 

resource requirements, and the change management capacity required within programmes to support our place-

based approaches to transformation and integration within operational services. 

This section will be updated to confirm the total utilisation of the £750,000 regional resource funding from the 

Regional Integration Fund, along with the resource match from the Regional Partnership Board in due course. 

 

Tudalen 38



 

Page | 5 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

Regional Continuous Engagement Approach 

Our aim is to be open and progressive in our continuous engagement efforts.  Our partnership infrastructure 

supports continuous engagement across all sectors, and our engagement forums will be strengthened to respond to 

feedback.  The Regional Partnership Board will provide a transparent and connected network of partners, services 

and social value organisations enabling the delivery of our strategic priorities and transformation programmes. 

As outlined within the Social Services and Wellbeing Act (2014) coproduction will be an integral part to the 

development of our RPB 5 year plan. The Population Needs Assessment demonstrated a clear commitment to 

collaborative and co-productive working. In 2022/23, we will continue to build on the work undertaken to develop a 

Regional Communication and Engagement Strategy.   

Coproduction will be a golden thread within our continuous engagement approach; we will continue to use a variety 

of methods tailored to a wide range of stakeholders, ranging from formal committees and boards, partnership and 

provider networks, to more direct public facing communications.  Engagement with citizens and communities will be 

a continuous driver to empower them to give feedback to ensure services meet their needs and improve their 

individual outcomes.   

Each regional strategic programme will have a communication and engagement strategy and accompanying plan, to 

illustrate how coproduction will be achieved within each area.   

Population Needs Assessments 

The findings of the population needs assessment have been included within each strategic programme development 

session and reflected within the strategic outline investment plans herein. 

The thematic structure of our strategic partnerships aligns with the population cohorts identified within the 

population needs assessment, supporting Gwent RPB to deliver against the needs identified.  The RIF Strategic 

Outline Plan describes our regional programmes that will address the needs identified, summarised below.  

Children & Young People 

▪ Improve outcomes for children and young people with complex needs through earlier intervention, 

community-based support, and placements closer to home  

▪ Ensure good mental health and emotional well-being for children and young people through effective 

partnership working, especially mitigating long-term impact of Covid-19 pandemic.  

▪ Strengthen a single front door approach to reduce hand offs and establish a sequenced approach to multiple 

intervention needs  

▪ Implement principles of NEST/NYTH as a whole system approach 

▪ Eliminate profit in residential care for children looked after 

Older People 

▪ Improve emotional wellbeing for older people by reducing loneliness and social isolation with earlier 

intervention and community resilience 

▪ Improve outcomes for people living with dementia and their carers 

▪ To support older people to live, or return following a period of hospitalisation, to their own homes and 

communities through early intervention, integrated care models and a whole system approach 

▪ To mitigate the long term impact of Covid-19 pandemic through reducing waiting lists and times to access 

support, appointments and medical procedures 

Tudalen 39



 

Page | 6 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

People with Disabilities 

▪ Support disabled people, including sensory impairment, through an all-age approach to live independently in 

appropriate accommodation and access community-based services 

▪ Ensure people are support through access to accurate information, assistance and ‘rehabilitation’ where 

required 

▪ Improve transition across all age groups and support services 

▪ RPB to ensure all frontline workers receive up to date training and awareness raising 

▪ Recruitment across health and social care needs to increase including specific roles such as rehabilitation 

officers for visual impairment 

People with Learning Disabilities 

▪ To support people with learning disabilities to live independently with access to early intervention services in 

the community 

▪ Greater public awareness and understanding of the needs of people with learning disabilities 

▪ Increase the number of bespoke and individual support packages for people with a learning disability which 

will involve more one to one support in the community 

▪ Recruitment to a greater number of volunteers 

Awareness of Mental Health 

▪ Increase understanding and awareness of mental health amongst the public to reduce stigma and help 

people to seek support earlier 

▪ Improve emotional wellbeing and mental health for adults and children through early intervention and 

community support 

Unpaid Carers, including Young Carers 

▪ Support unpaid carers through flexible respite, access to accurate information, peer to peer support, 

effective care planning and increased public understanding 

▪ Improve wellbeing of young carers and young adult carers, and mitigate against the long-term impact of 

Covid-19 pandemic 

▪ Increase awareness of the needs of unpaid carers and the ability for frontline staff to recognise those with 

caring responsibilities and signpost for information 

▪ Increase support through third sector and community partners to increase befriending opportunities and 

community groups 

Housing 

▪ Ensure appropriate housing and accommodation for older people and vulnerable citizens via a multi-agency 

partnership approach 

▪ Effective use of Disabled Facilities Grants and appropriate partnership support from available resources 

▪ Collaborative response to homeless from public services and partners, especially the use of unregulated 

placements for young people, through prevention and early intervention 

  

Tudalen 40



 

Page | 7 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

Investment Appraisal 

The total allocation of the Regional Integration Fund for Gwent Regional Partnership Board is £26,858,840.  Whilst 

the funding is provided at the outset of the financial year (to be allocated as determined by the Regional Partnership 

Board in line with RIF guidance), part of the financial allocation is ringfenced for specific use, or for specific priority 

groups where minimum investment levels are identified. 

The ring-fenced elements of the Regional Integration Fund relate to the Dementia Action Plan (£1.611m), Memory 

Assessment Services (£0.565m), the Integrated Autism Service (£0.458m) and ring-fenced carers funding (£0.191m). 

This section of the Strategic Outline Plan describes the utilisation of the funding, and adherence to the funding 

model within Year 1.  The percentages shown within this information relate to the total allocation of funding 

(£26.8million). 

Further detailed work will be undertaken to understand the benefits realisation of each regional programme and 

clear medium term financial plans to reflect the funding model identified within the RIF guidance. 

Match Resources 

Match resources are a key principle of the Regional Integration Fund (RIF) and are intended to assist with levering 

sustainable change across our health and social care system.  Match resources can be made up of two key elements, 

monetary and wider resources; monetary match funding consists of direct financial contributions from core funds or 

other non-Welsh Government grant sources, the wider resource contribution consists of staff time, volunteer time, 

and use of premises and / or facilities.  

The match resources brought alongside the RIF investment reflect the total scope of the regional programmes that 

will support the delivery of the national models of integrated care.  Within each programme the resource matching 

is clearly identified.  It is noted that a consistent position across all partnership organisations identifies no monetary 

match available in Year 1 (2022-23).  Our development work will identify the budget tapering realisation across our 

plan, and the budgetary match contributions from partners, that will be included in a more detailed medium term 

RIF plan. 

The requirement to provide resource match between 10% and 30% of the budget has been achieved.  The 

calculation across the total portfolio identified an average 31% resource match. The summary overview below 

provides the resource match identification within each model of care. 

 

Social Value 

The target of 20% investment in the third sector has not been reached at the outset of the programme with 11% of 

the RIF directly provided to third sector organisations.  This is due to the previous requirement of the 20% only being 

applicable to the Integrated Care Fund (20% of £16million).  With growth in funding level that the investment target 

2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Models Of Care Provisional Budget Resource Match % Resource match

Community Based Care - Prevention & Community Coordination £5,306,245 £886,429 17%

Community Based Care - Complex Care Closer To Home £9,001,418 £2,917,406 32%

Promoting Good Emotional Health & Wellbeing £1,677,683 £231,244 14%

Families Staying Together & Therapeutic Support For CEC £3,299,271 £2,090,413 63%

Home From Hospital £4,070,009 £1,127,273 28%

Accommodation Based Solutions £0 £0

TOTAL £23,354,626 £7,252,764 31%

Tudalen 41



 

Page | 8 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

is now applicable to, and the majority of the funding already utilised to sustain existing activity, additional focus will 

be needed to work towards this target in the development of additional projects and services.  

 

Minimum Investment Levels 

The 5% minimum investment level established for carers has been met with 5.22% investment already provided to 

this vulnerable population group.   

 

Likewise, the 14% minimum investment level for children with complex needs has been met, with 17.75% of funding 

allocated. 

 

Proportionate Investment: Accelerate v Embedding 

RIF guidance identified a 30:70 split between accelerate and embedding funding respectively.  The analysis of our 

regional fund utilisation identifies a 46% accelerate allocation, and a 30% embedding allocation.  Notably, the total 

utilisation is therefore reflecting 76% of funding, this is due to both unallocated funding, along with ringfenced and 

third sector allocations not applicable for tapering.  

 

2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Models Of Care Provisional Budget Third Sector Budget Third Sector %

Community Based Care - Prevention & Community Coordination £5,306,245 £1,192,217 22.47%

Community Based Care - Complex Care Closer To Home £9,001,418 £337,751 3.75%

Promoting Good Emotional Health & Wellbeing £1,677,683 £757,139 45.13%

Families Staying Together & Therapeutic Support For CEC £3,299,271 £200,000 6.06%

Home From Hospital £4,070,009 £476,702 11.71%

Accommodation Based Solutions £0 £0

TOTAL (INCLUDING OTHER) £23,891,803 £2,963,809 11.03%

2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Models Of Care Provisional Budget Carers Budget Carers %

Community Based Care - Prevention & Community Coordination £5,306,245 £1,402,798 26.44%

Community Based Care - Complex Care Closer To Home £9,001,418 £0 0.00%

Promoting Good Emotional Health & Wellbeing £1,677,683 £0 0.00%

Families Staying Together & Therapeutic Support For CEC £3,299,271 £0 0.00%

Home From Hospital £4,070,009 £0 0.00%

Accommodation Based Solutions £0 £0

TOTAL (INCLUDING OTHER) £23,891,803 £1,402,798 5.22%

2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Models Of Care Provisional Budget CwCN Budget CwCN %

Community Based Care - Prevention & Community Coordination £5,306,245 £0 0.00%

Community Based Care - Complex Care Closer To Home £9,001,418 £444,003 4.93%

Promoting Good Emotional Health & Wellbeing £1,677,683 £1,024,433 61.06%

Families Staying Together & Therapeutic Support For CEC £3,299,271 £3,299,271 100.00%

Home From Hospital £4,070,009 £0 0.00%

Accommodation Based Solutions £0 £0

TOTAL (INCLUDING OTHER) £23,891,803 £4,767,707 17.75%

Model Alignment Allocation Regional Position Model Requirement

Accelerate £12,325,131 46% 30%

Embed £8,138,191 30% 70%

Tudalen 42



 

Page | 9 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

Consideration will be needed for a national mechanism that can reflect/deduct funding applicable for tapering 

within regional and national allocations to support ongoing reporting of adherence to the funding model. 

Funding Utilisation by Strategic Programme 

This strategic outline plan describes all regional programmes currently in receipt of Regional Integration Funding, 

their respective allocations shown below as provisional budgets pending formal approval of the plan by the Regional 

Partnership Board. 

The table below also identified the resource matching and funding model alignment within each programme.  We 

would wholly expect that if the transformation is undertaken effectively, our programmes would consist 

 

Unallocated Funding 

Of the funding allocation, we currently have a commitment of £23,891,803, therefore circa £3million unallocated.  

To ensure funding is targeted at the areas of greatest impact, simultaneous developments are underway to support 

plan development: 

▪ Firstly, a review of our regional integrated winter plan 2021-22 to identify areas of success, and areas of 

learning for inclusion within early winter planning activities for 2022-23.  Regional Integration Funding, both 

unallocated, and in-year slippage, will be identified to support a regional winter plan should specific winter 

funds not be identified. 

 

▪ Secondly, to support ongoing assessment and consideration of areas of greatest impact, a regional 

prioritisation framework is being developed to ensure a robust and consistent approach across our 

partnership in the consideration of business cases. 

 

Gwent RPB will ensure full utilisation of the regional allocation of the Regional Integration Fund. 

 

2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Programme Reference Programme Name Provisional Budget Resource Match % Resource match

SP01-UC Support for Unpaid Carers £1,402,798 £252,641 18% Embed

SP02-EIS Early Intervention & Support: Edge of Care £2,803,381 £2,090,413 75% Embed

SP03-CEC Supporting Care Experienced Children £495,890 £0 0% Embed

SP04-CwDN Supporting Children development needs/ND £444,003 £0 0% Embed

SP05-EHW Good emotional health & wellbeing £823,562 £231,244 28% Accelerate

SP06/ACC Safe Accommodation £0 £0 N/A

SP07-ChWD Workforce development/professional support £200,871 £0 0% Accelerate

SP08/DAP/R&I Dementia: Recognition & Identification £0 £0 N/A

SP09-DAP-A&D Dementia: Assessment & Diagnosis £826,328 £0 0% N/A

SP10-DAP-LwD Dementia: Living with Dementia £1,406,976 £149,018 11% N/A

SP11-COMM Connected Communities £2,345,386 £624,866 27% Embed

SP12-PBGC Place Based Graduated Care £6,394,640 £2,479,857 39% Accelerate

SP13-FLOW Improving System Flow £4,070,009 £1,127,273 28% Accelerate

SP14-LD LD Independence & Wellbeing £496,333 £8,922 2% Embed

SP15-FTIER Enhanced Foundation Tier £195,250 £0 0% Accelerate

SP16-TRAN Transition £366,904 £142,567 39% Accelerate

SP17-AT Assistive Technology £273,895 £145,964 53% Accelerate

SP18/DATA Integrated Data £0 £0 N/A

Funding Model 

Alignment

Tudalen 43



 

Page | 10 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

Governance 

Governance of the Regional Integration Fund will be a key aspect of the development activities in early 2022-23.  The 

illustration provided below highlights the governance considerations currently underway to develop governance 

mechanisms under the Regional Partnership Board applicable to all partner organisations. 

These considerations will ensure transparency, oversight and accountability is placed correctly across the system, 

reflected within regional documentation as a clear audit trail of decision making, programme delivery and impact. 

 

 

Whilst wider governance developments are undertaken, a Memorandum of Understanding specifically for the 

Regional Integration Fund will be established.  Due to significant changes in membership, Gwent Regional 

Partnership Board will reconvene in July 2022, and it is proposed the memorandum of understanding will be 

discussed at the Regional Partnership Board meeting of September 2022. 

 

Tudalen 44



 

Page | 11 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

Model of Care Investment Proposal 
COMMUNITY BASED CARE – PREVENTION & COMMUNITY CO-ORDINATION  

 

 

Strategic Vision 
A Healthier Wales aptly describes the aspirations for community based prevention and co-ordination, introducing 
a ‘wellness’ system, which aims to support and anticipate health needs, to prevent illness, and to reduce the 
impact of poor health.  Our regional programmes will support the prevention and early intervention approaches 
needed to enable and encourage good health and wellbeing throughout life.  Encouraging and supporting people 
to manage their own health and wellbeing, be resilient and independent for longer, will mean individuals can 
remain in their own homes and localities.   
 
To do so, our programmes will empower people with the information and support they need to understand and to 
manage their health and wellbeing, to make decisions about care and treatment based on ‘what matters’ to them, 
and to contribute to improving our whole system approach to health and care.  Information, advice and assistance 
will be provided to our citizens and vulnerable population groups appropriate to age and level of understanding. 
 

 

Dementia Action Plan (DAP) Summary 
Across all local authority areas in the Gwent region, an increase in the number of people living with dementia is 
predicted. The increases range from 62.1% in Blaenau Gwent to 97.1% in Monmouthshire over the period 2013 to 
2035.  The RPB are working to support more timely diagnosis and are developing a consistent clearly understood 
diagnostic, care and support pathway which incorporates standards of care and outcome measures.  Living with 
dementia can have a big emotional, social, and psychological impact on a person, their families, and carers.  This 
can affect the relationships a person has with their environment and the support that they receive.  It is important 
to people living with dementia that people develop awareness and an understanding of the condition so they can 
be supported to maintain quality of life.  As an RPB we provide development and learning opportunities jointly 
with our key partners to the workforce and communities to raise awareness, understanding and highlight risk 
factors and preventative measures.  We also work with partners and continue to develop and build on the 
strengths of our Dementia Friendly Communities, working in collaboration of Age Friendly Community groups. 

 

Case for Change 
Loneliness is an issue across all local authority areas and highlighted in the previous population needs assessment, 
this will have been exacerbated recently through the Covid-19 pandemic where a number of vulnerable people 
will have been shielding.  The data varies across the region, but is generally high and between 15%-20% (1 in 5 
people) which is a considerable number of people susceptible to poor emotional and mental health and 
deterioration in physical help.  Loneliness may be perceived as an older person’s issue – recognised by Older 
People’s Commissioner for Wales – but given that the percentage is approximately 20% it is likely that younger 
people will be affected too, especially given virtual working arrangements.  Solutions are generally low cost/no 
cost and it is important for the RPB to promote networks, access to information and local groups. 
 
Older people need good, timely and accurate information to be able to understand what support is available to 
them, and this can be important to maintaining independence. 
Information is now often provided digitally and so access to online information for people is dependent on skills 
and resources.  Greater consideration will be given to supporting people to develop the necessary skills and 
confidence to access information online. 
 
Remaining at home is at the heart of many peoples view of being independent.  People have told us they would 
like help and support to move around and maintain their own home, go out as they please and not have to 

Tudalen 45



 

Page | 12 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

depend too much on others.  We also know that many older people with long term health conditions are caring 
for a family member, friend or neighbour and need to be supported to continue to do so.  These unpaid carers 
contribute significantly to the Gwent economy and potential health and social care costs. 
 
People living with disabilities have been disproportionately impacted by the Covid 19 pandemic. They have had 

potentially higher risk of catching the virus due to underlying health conditions and have had difficulty in engaging 

in preventative measures and have experienced disruptions to health services they usually rely on. People with 

sensory loss have found it extremely challenging as their communication needs have not been met leaving them 

increasingly isolated. Although health and social care have worked hard across Gwent to reach out and support 

people during this time, we need more specific actions going forward, to recognise the impact there has been for 

people with health, physical and sensory disabilities. 

 

Key Enablers 
Integrated Planning and Commissioning 

✓ 

Ensuring community support services, delivered by all agencies, are co-ordinated and aligned within 
an integrated system.  Supporting a no wrong door approach in providing information, advice and 
assistance 
 

Technology enabled care 

✓ 

Assistive Technology is an enabler to independence; working closely with the assistive technology 
programme we will continue to test and develop new methods of supporting independence and 
wellbeing in a persons own home. 
 

Promoting the social value sector 

✓ 

The third sector are well placed within the early intervention and prevention part of our system and 
will a key partner in the holistic approach to this model of care.  Our provider network and third 
sector forum will support the system connectivity needed, aligning the significant range of third 
sector services not commissioned by health or social care. 
 

Integrated Community Hubs 

✓ 

Alignment of existing community hubs and spokes will be central to the development of this model 
of care, identifying gaps or opportunities in provision where the Integration and Capital Rebalancing 
Fund can support enhanced/strengthened community provision. 
 

Workforce development and integration 

✓ 

Work with our workforce across all sector to support a no wrong door approach, ensuring 
individuals are connected to their communities and receive information, advice and assistance 
appropriate to their needs.  A strengths based approach is fundamental to supporting individuals to 
manage their own health and wellbeing needs. 
 

 

Priority Population Groups 
 Primary 

Beneficiary 
Secondary 
Beneficiary 

DAP 

Older people including people with dementia 

✓  ✓ 

Older People with Complex Needs, including those living with Dementia, will 
be supported to connect with their communities, and receive information, 
advice and assistance appropriate to their needs.  Improving and/or 
maintaining independence and wellbeing 

Children and young people with complex needs    

Tudalen 46



 

Page | 13 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 

People with learning disabilities and neurodevelopment conditions, 
including autism 

✓   
People with learning disabilities will be supported to connect with their 
communities, and receive information, advice and assistance appropriate to 
their needs.  Peer support and networking opportunities will be providing to 
promote improved and/or maintained independence and wellbeing. 

Unpaid carers 

✓   
Unpaid Carers will be supported to connect with their communities, and 
receive information, advice and assistance appropriate to their needs.  
Improving and/or maintaining independence and wellbeing 

People with emotional and mental health wellbeing needs 

 ✓  
People with emotional and mental health wellbeing needs, will be 
supported to connect with their communities, and receive information, 
advice and assistance appropriate to their needs.  Improving and/or 
maintaining independence and wellbeing 

Other beneficiaries    

N/A 

 

Total programme cost and match funding 

Total cost of 
programme 

Welsh 
Government 
contribution 

Partner 
monetary match 

Partner 
resource match 

% support for 
unpaid carers 

% for social 
value sector 

delivery 

£6,192,674 £5,306,245 £0 £886,429 26.44% 22.47% 

 

Programme management resource to be confirmed. 

  

Tudalen 47



 

Page | 14 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 Strategic Outline Plan (Gwent refer as Programme, WG refer as Project) 
 SP01: Support for Unpaid Carers 

 
 

Model of Care Alignment 

Community 
based care – 
prevention and 
community 
coordination 

Community 
base care – 
complex care 
closer to home 

Promoting good 
emotional 
health and 
wellbeing 

Supporting 
families to stay 
together safely 
and therapeutic 
support for care 
experienced 
children 

Home from 
hospital 

Accommodation 
based solutions 

✓  ✓    

 

Programme Summary 

The Unpaid Carers Programme consists of two workstreams – Carers Support and Co-ordination and the Regional 
Hub and Spoke Model.  The work of these programmes aligns with the four key priorities for unpaid cares outlined 
in the Welsh Government Strategy for Unpaid Carers 2021. 
 
Unpaid carers will be actively encouraged to recognise themselves as unpaid carers, in order to feel valued and 
supported in their caring role, and will be empowering along with those they care for to live healthy and fulfilled 
lives, achieving personal wellbeing goals and living a life alongside caring. 
 
For all unpaid carers living and supporting others in the Gwent Region to be recognised and valued for their caring 
role; empowering them to live well and fulfil their own well-being outcomes  
 
To embed and develop the support in the Gwent Region for unpaid carers, to improve the identification of carers 
and ensure they feel valued and supported both in their caring role and in their own well-being outcomes. 
 
A seamless, connected system of support across Social Care, Third Sector and Health will be developed for unpaid 
carers, at a regional and local level.  This system will support unpaid carers in their caring role, and empower 
unpaid carers to live a life alongside caring and meet their personal well being goals. 
 

 

Intended Outcomes 

Person Centred Outcomes ▪ Unpaid carers will be actively encouraged to recognise themselves 
as unpaid carers, in order to feel valued and supported in their 
caring role 

▪ Empowering unpaid carers and those they care for to live healthy 
and fulfilled lives, achieving personal wellbeing goals and living a 
life alongside caring 

▪ Through connected services preventing duplication for unpaid 
carers, who may be time limited to access support, for example 
reducing the need for multiple assessments 

System Outcomes/Benefits ▪ Through early identification and support the risk of carer 
crisis/breakdown will be reduced and associated demand on 
statutory services 

Tudalen 48



 

Page | 15 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

▪ Preventing duplication maximising time for services to support 
unpaid carers 

 

Baseline Position 

An unpaid carer is someone who provides unpaid care to an adult or a disabled child.  This can range from one 
hour a week to full time care.  Under the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 unpaid carers have an 
equal right to an assessment and support as those that they care for.  Local Authorities have a duty to consider 
the support needs of an unpaid carer who is looking after someone who usually lives within its area (including a 
disabled child) and provide unpaid carers with information and advice relating to their caring role and support 
needs (in Welsh if the unpaid carer wishes).  Unpaid carers also have a right to a Carers Assessment to be 
undertaken by the Local Authorities.  The Strategy for Unpaid Carers in Wales (2021) outlines four key priority 
areas which the Unpaid Carers programmes will align to. 
 
There are currently a range of initiatives in place to support unpaid carers in the Gwent region – dedicated carers 
support services (including Young Carers and Young Adult Carers), carers co-ordination (sitting withing Community 
Connector teams) and the hub and spoke model (a single point of access for carers, co-producing services for 
carers alongside existing provision including all partners in Local Authority, Health and the Third Sector). 

During the year 2021-2022 16017 carers have been engaged with, either virtually or face to face.  Dedicated support 
and activities for Unpaid Carers has been provided with 430 Drop-in sessions for unpaid carers to attend when 
convenient for them, 403 dedicated unpaid carers events and activities and 698 unpaid carers have attended 
support groups.  11087 Unpaid Carers have received Information Advice and Assistance.  370 Unpaid carers have 
been provided with crisis support and 528 carers assessments have been undertaken.  In order to identify Unpaid 
Carers it is important that any agencies they may contact are able to signpost to appropriate support.  464 partner 
organisations have been engaged with by services within this programme. 

Carer's reported that events, activities and drop in sessions have made a positive difference to their lives, and well-
being scores and have made a positive difference to the cared for or carers family. Outcomes have been collected 
on the difference made to Unpaid Carers by the programme April 2021-March 2022.  From information provided 
Unpaid Carers have reported increased confidence (1703 Unpaid Carers), Increased Independence (1660 Unpaid 
Carers), and reduced feelings of isolation (2086 Unpaid Carers).  For Unpaid Carers who have attended 
events/activities or drop ins 4618 Unpaid Carers have reported that these made a positive difference to their 
lives/wellbeing scores, and 4079 reported that they made a positive difference to those cared for or their families.  

Dedicated support has been provided to Young Carers and Young Adult Carers.  During the year 2021-2022 53 
schools have engaged in the Young Carers in Schools Programme, and 339 Young Carers have been identified and 
supported in schools. 

The unpaid carers programmes will build on these services, enhancing support for unpaid carers to recognise 
themselves as unpaid carers, to increase the identification of unpaid carers by Social Care, Health and the Third 
Sector and to ensure equitable support and person-centred outcomes across the region.    

 

Key Enablers 

Workforce Development & 
Integration 

Defining an integrated system, including workforce required to support a 
seamless service for unpaid carers that embodies the principle of No 
Wrong Door and provides equitable person-centred outcomes for unpaid 
carers throughout the region. 
 
Widen the reach of the Carer Friendly training to support unpaid carers in 
the workplace. 
 

Tudalen 49



 

Page | 16 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

Undertake and embed a development plan for dedicated psychological 
support for unpaid carers across the region. 

Integrated Planning & Commissioning Ensuring all carers support and co-ordination services, including SLA’s 
between areas, are part of a whole system approach that provides equity 
of support and outcomes across the region.   

Technology & Digital Solutions Linking with the Assistive Technology programme exploring how Assistive 
Technology can maximise independence for those cared for, and support 
unpaid carers in their caring role. 
 
Implementing a communications and engagement strategy embedding 
the use of digital solutions to support connectivity and access for unpaid 
carers. 

Capital Infrastructure The Carers programme links with the Connected Communities 
Programme, and the use of Integrated Wellbeing Centres as potential 
spokes in the Hub and spoke model. 

Social Value Sector The Third Sector will be key partners in developing and supporting the 
Unpaid Carers Programmes to achieve optimal person-centred 
outcomes, enabling unpaid carers to access support close to home in the 
community 

 

Priority Population Groups   

 Primary Beneficiary Secondary Beneficiary 

Older people with complex needs  ✓ 

People with Dementia  ✓ 

Unpaid Carers, inc. Young Carers ✓  

Children with Complex Needs  ✓ 

People with emotional and mental health wellbeing needs  ✓ 

People with Learning Disability and Neurodevelopmental 
conditions 

 ✓ 

 

Development Approach 

Priority 1: Identifying and Valuing Unpaid Carers 
 
Aligned to Priority 1 the Carers Support and Co-ordination Services and Regional Hub and Spoke model currently 
will be embedded and strengthened.  These services aim to increase the number of carers identified and 
supported.  Further work will be undertaken to develop training to support identification of carers, particularly 
working with professionals to increase awareness.  There are currently a suite of resources available such as Carer 
Friendly training and Young Carers in Schools Accreditation, through mapping and expanding it will be ensured 
that the reach of this training is maximised throughout the region.   
 
A focus on supporting unpaid carers around hospital discharge will be developed, sharing current good practice to 
both ensure identification of unpaid carers during discharge planning, including individuals new to caring, and to 
support unpaid carers through the discharge process. 
 
An engagement programme will be developed to build on the current networks utilised to raise awareness and 
celebrate unpaid carers, as well as direct engagement with unpaid carers.    Part of this strategy will be to include 

Tudalen 50



 

Page | 17 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

targeted/themed engagement for different cohorts of unpaid carers, for example young carers, young adult 
carers, older age carers, working age carers, carers of people with dementia.  Through this it is hoped to support 
carers from all areas of life to identify as an unpaid carer as early as possible in their carer journey, as well as 
ensuring information is accessible and relevant/informative.  Engagement and support will be accessible and 
bilingual (English and Welsh). 
 
Priority 2: Information, Advice and Assistance 
Aligned to priority 2 the carers co-ordinators services which sit alongside the Community Connectors in Local 
Authorities, will be embedded in order to ensure unpaid carers have access to the right information and advice at 
the right time and in an appropriate format. 
 
As part of the engagement strategy in priority 1, awareness will be raised of ways to access Information, Advice 
and Assistance.  It is also acknowledged that there are some unpaid carers who are not digitally connected (the 
digital divide) and so work will be undertaken to engage with these groups of unpaid carers via different formats. 
 
The provision of Information, Advice and Assistance will be supported by the Regional Hub and Spoke model.  A 
mapping of current spokes will be undertaken, allowing gaps to be identified and the establishment of new spokes 
where needed.   This will be interlinked with the Connected Communities programme of work, with a potential for 
Integrated Wellbeing Centres to be aligned with the model. 
 
P3: Supporting life alongside caring 
Unpaid carers will be supported to take breaks from their caring role to enable them to maintain their own health 
and well-being and have a life alongside caring.  This priority underpins the Carers Support services and Regional 
Hub and Spoke model.   
 
Through the Unpaid Carers Programmes the offer of respite across the region will be refined and redesigned.  
Research will be undertaken to identify and define respite opportunities (ranging from hourly activities to 
residential care, with or without the person cared for).  The approach to respite will be person focused, based on 
What Matters to You conversations, considering provision of bespoke respite services e.g. short breaks, or support 
in own home.  In order to support a person-centred approach co-production will be essential to ensure the respite 
offer is fit for purpose.  Consideration will be given on how to support unpaid carers to choose what to do with 
their personal protected time, alongside offers of specific opportunities. 
 
To support a life alongside caring Priority 3 outlines that access to psychological support for unpaid carers must be 
extended.  As part of the Unpaid Carers programmes scoping and implementing dedicated psychological support 
will be established, for example through recruiting counsellors, or establishing dedicated support from 
psychological wellbeing practitioners in GP surgeries. 
 
P4: Supporting unpaid carers in education and the workplace 
The Unpaid Carers programmes will further develop work to support unpaid carers to work and learn.   
 
It is acknowledged that Young Carers and Young Adult Carers may face specific challenges and difficulties to live 
their own life and undertake a caring role and through the carers support programme development of specific 
Young Carers and Young Adult Carers support will be undertaken. 
 
The current Young Carers in School Accreditation Programme which supports the identification of Young Carers in 
Primary and Secondary schools will be mapped and expanded to ensure equitable cover throughout the region. 
 
To support unpaid carers in the workplace the Carer Friendly training will be expanded, enabling unpaid carers to 
be identified and organisations empowered to support unpaid carers to continue to work. 
 

Tudalen 51



 

Page | 18 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

Engagement will also be undertaken with unpaid carers who are NEET (not in education, employment or training) 
to ensure that all unpaid carers in the region have the opportunity to be valued and supported to access work or 
training.  This links to the Children and Families NEST framework for young adult carers and the Young Person’s 
Guarantee (to provide everyone under 25 an offer of a place in education or training, or support to get into work 
or self-employment). 
 
Alongside supporting unpaid carers with training or entering the workplace/maintaining work financial resilience 
will be promoted.  Promotion of welfare benefits and financial support will be undertaken through unpaid carers 
support services and engagement, and consideration of how to link with other services such as the Citizen’s 
Advice Bureau will be undertaken. 

 

Interdependencies 

The work of the Workforce Development Board and Assistive Technology Programme will be key enablers in 
supporting the Unpaid Carers Programmes. 
 
The Unpaid Carers Programmes will interlink with the Improving System Flow and Place Based Graduated Care 
Programmes to identify and support unpaid carers during discharge planning.  The Unpaid Carers Programme will 
also link with the Community Connectors Programme to support the potential of unpaid carers spokes via the 
Integrated Wellbeing Hubs. 
 
Through support for young carers and young adult carers the unpaid carers programme will interlink with the 
NEST implementation group and the Young Person’s Guarantee (to provide everyone under 25 an offer of a place 
in education or training, or support to get into work or self-employment). 

 

Interim Financial Model (Year 1 Only) 

Total cost of 
programme 

RIF Contribution 
Partner match 

monetary 
Partner match 

resource 
% support for 
unpaid carers 

% support for 
social value 

sector 

£1,655,439 £1,402,798 £0 £252,641 100% 43.23% 

 

Regional Investment Model 
Select the funding element which the project will be set against.  Repeat the table and rationale for each project 

Element 1 – Acceleration funding year 1 
 

N/A 

Element 1 – Acceleration funding year 2 
 

N/A 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 1 

✓ 

The regional programme supporting unpaid carers was established under the Integrated Care Fund.  
The Covid-19 pandemic has increased the need for unpaid carer support.  We have a regional model 
of support that will continue to be embedded to continue to deliver the positive outcomes achieved, 
and the support needs identified for unpaid carers. 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 2 
 

N/A 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 3 
 

N/A 

Element 3 – Legacy fund 
 

N/A 

Tudalen 52



 

Page | 19 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

Element 4 – National priorities (Dementia and Memory Assessment Services/Diagnostic support) 
 

N/A 

  

Tudalen 53



 

Page | 20 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 Strategic Outline Plan (Gwent refer as Programme, WG refer as Project) 
 SP09: DAP Assessment & Diagnosis 

 

Model of Care Alignment 

Community 
based care – 
prevention and 
community 
coordination 

Community 
base care – 
complex care 
closer to home 

Promoting good 
emotional 
health and 
wellbeing 

Supporting 
families to stay 
together safely 
and therapeutic 
support for care 
experienced 
children 

Home from 
hospital 

Accommodation 
based solutions 

✓  ✓   ✓ 

 

Programme Summary 

Early recognition and diagnosis of Dementia is essential to ensuring people access holistic support and treatment 
early in their Dementia journey, enabling people with Dementia to live well for longer. Early access to practical 
and emotional support can have a significant impact on how patients manage their condition and continue to live 
independently, including co-morbidities such as Hearing Loss. 
 
The Assessment and Diagnosis programme, has a specific focus on strengthening Memory Assessment Services by 
providing additional consultant capacity, advanced nurse practitioners, and to introduce audiology and memory 
Rehabilitation as part of the MDT approach.  It will also focus on reviewing and standardising the role of dementia 
support workers to minimise handoffs and ensure people with dementia and those that care for them understand 
how to access diagnosis and support. 
 
It supports the ethos of developing ‘teams around the individual’ to provide additional support for people with 
dementia and their families/carers, and a focus on the roll out of the ‘Good work – Dementia Learning and 
Development Framework’ to enable people who work with those living with dementia to have the skills to 
recognise symptoms earlier and help them feel confident and competent in caring for and supporting those living 
with dementia. 

 

Intended Outcomes 

Person Centred Outcomes • Individuals will understand the steps they can take to reduce their 
risk, or delay the onset, of dementia. 

• The wider population understands the challenges faced by people 
living with dementia and are aware of the actions they can take to 
support them. 

• People are aware of the early signs of dementia; the importance of a 
timely diagnosis; and know where to go to get help. 

• More people are diagnosed earlier, enabling them to plan for the 
future and access early support and care if needed. 

• Those diagnosed with dementia and their carers and families are able 
to receive person-centred care and support which is flexible. 

• Research is supported to help us better understand the causes and 
management of dementia and enables people living with dementia, 
including families and carers, to be co-researchers. 

Tudalen 54



 

Page | 21 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

• Staff have the skills to help them identify people with dementia and 
to feel confident and competent in supporting individual’s needs 
post diagnosis 
(DAP) 

System Outcomes/Benefits • Developing ‘teams around the individual’ to provide additional 
support for people with dementia and their families/carers. 

• Reviewing and standardising the role of dementia support workers – 
increasing their numbers as required. 

• Increasing the rate and timeliness of dementia diagnosis. 

• Strengthening collaborative working between social care and 
housing to enable people to stay in their homes longer. 

• The roll out of the ‘Good work – Dementia Learning and 
Development Framework’ to enable people who work with those 
living with dementia to have the skills to recognise symptoms earlier 
and help them feel confident and competent in caring for and 
supporting those living with dementia. 

• Introducing the principles of ‘John’s Campaign’ across the system 
 

 

Baseline Position 

 
Generally there has been an increase in referrals to Memory Assessment Services since the initial first wave of Covid.   
Although this is still not up to the levels of referrals we were receiving pre Covid, it is evident that the referrals 
coming through to services are often not at the early stage of memory issues as we have seen in the past, and 
progression and deterioration is further advanced, hence needing additional input from MAS Services.  
 

In line with Dementia Standard 6 of the All Wales Dementia Care Pathway of Standards people should receive a 

range of interventions to support diagnosis within 12 weeks of referral.  It is important to note that this is the 

maximum acceptable waiting time, but the service strives to see, diagnose, and provide intervention as soon as 

possible after referral. 

 

There is a MAS in each of the five localities in the Gwent region.  Waiting times vary across the region, impacted by 

factors such as medical availability, geographical variation, social demographics and population numbers.  Waiting 

times for MAS services for each locality as at July 2021 are shown in the Graph below, with the Caerphilly locality 

showing the longest wait: 

 

Tudalen 55



 

Page | 22 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 
 
MAS Services were stepped down for four to five months during the first wave, and only urgent referrals were seen 
routinely.  Whilst all efforts were made to carry out initial assessments on routine new referrals virtually, what the 
teams have found across all Boroughs was that people were happy to wait to be seen in person rather than have a 
virtual appointment.   This was probably around 80% for routine new referrals.  Similar could be said for routine 
follow up appointments.    
 
This step down of services caused a backlog and delay in patients having their initial appointment, and their 
diagnostic appointment. 
 
Waiting List Clinics have proved very difficult to achieve, as this requires staff to work additional hours on weekends 
to provide additional clinics.   Staff in MAS Services during the pandemic have been working  flexibly and at times 
working within other areas, such as CMHT and Inpatient Units.   Across all Boroughs staffing levels have been 
affected by Covid and additional sickness levels throughout the pandemic.    Previously, when the directorate have 
implemented WLIs there has been a huge uptake from Medical, Nursing and Admin staff to work these additional 
hours.   On speaking to staff there has been a very small appetite recently to complete additional hours due to the 
pressures in their current roles in their working weeks, ie covering covid sickness, vacancies etc. 
WLIs have taken place in Newport (4 Saturday Clinics), Torfaen (4 Saturday Clinics) and Monmouthshire (3 Saturday 
Clinics) since October 2021.  More are planned up until June 2022 in all Boroughs. 
 
That being said, all MAS teams have been working extremely hard to see additional patients whether it be virtually, 
face to face or at home to lessen delays for patients coming through MAS services. 
 
Current Waiting List Data  
(WG MAS Waiting Times targets are 4 weeks for Pre Screening and 12 weeks for Diagnostic Appointment) 

BOROUGH PRE SCREENING DIAGNOSTIC 
APPOINTMENT 

PRE SCREENING DIAGNOSTIC 
APPOINTMENT 

BLAENAU GWENT 8 weeks 12 weeks 5-6 weeks 12 weeks 

CAERPHILLY 6 weeks 15 weeks 12 weeks 18 weeks 

MONMOUTHSHIRE 4 weeks 10 weeks 5 weeks 12 weeks 

NEWPORT 12 weeks 16 weeks 10 weeks 12 weeks  

TORFAEN 4 weeks 10 weeks 6 weeks  12 weeks 

 
Monmouthshire and Torfaen have clearly benefitted from the additional clinics.   Blaenau Gwent pre-screening has 
deteriorated this is due to a number of vacancies at present in the MAS team.   Newport also has a high number of 
vacancies in both nursing and admin currently, and this is the main reason for their increased appointment times.   
Newport team have planned additional clinics booked in for February and March. 
 
Caerphilly has markedly improved.  They have been unable to undertake additional Saturday Clinics due to admin 
staffing shortages, but they have been maximising all opportunities with using the additional medical staff they have 
at present (Consultant post 28 week pregnancy working from home to complete additional new assessment clinics 
virtually and an additional SpR) to work specifically on the MAS waiting list.    
 

 

Key Enablers 

Workforce Development & 
Integration 

A resilient, skilled and integrated health and social care workforce is 

critical to the successful delivery of the national models of care. Through 

a revision of the current resource capacity across the dementia model 

and alignment across health and social care services, local authorities 

Tudalen 56



 

Page | 23 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

and third sector will improve retention of staff to ensure the workforce is 

appropriately trained and upskilled to provide truly seamless, integrated 

services for the people across the region, aligning to the Strategic 

Regional Learning and Development Plan. 

 

To provide a straightforward framework that will guide our regional 
agencies and stakeholders together so they can all feed into and benefit 
from broad perspectives associated with learning and training for 
dementia. Redefined support worker role to ensure all individuals with 
dementia living in the community have a dedicated support worker. 
 

Integrated Planning & Commissioning To successfully develop and then mainstream the national models of 
integrated care, DAP and Dementia standards effective whole system 
planning and/or commissioning across health, social care, housing and 
wider delivery partners will be critical. By linking in with 
divisions/organisations a review of all current SLA’s will be undertaken 
including core funded, partnership funded, WG funded SLA’s.  An added 
regional approach will ensure equitable service provision across the 
region. 
 

Technology & Digital Solutions Explore Assistive Technology to maintain independence for as long as 
possible for individuals living in their own homes and technology enabled 
care solutions for those that require more complex care within the 
community or an acute setting. 
 
A key population group as a beneficiary of the Assistive Technology 
programme is people living with dementia, their families and carers, 
focusing on three key areas: 
 
▪ Supporting independence in their own home 
▪ Providing therapeutic technologies  
▪ Technology enabled care for more complex care when needed 

 

Capital Infrastructure Diagnosis advancements and Independent living solutions for people 
living with dementia to support delivery of: 
 
▪ Independent living solutions enabled by RIF capital programmes 

working with a range of partners for example, RSL’s etc. 
▪ Development of integrated hubs that are dementia specific or 

dementia friendly 
▪ Providing intermediate care capacity that will support reablement 

of people living with dementia or alternative respite facilities. 
 

Social Value Sector The third sector are key partners in the delivery of the programme to 
delivery against the priorities of the Dementia Action Plan and Dementia 
Standards, support a range of priority areas including: 
 
▪ Community based early intervention activity  
▪ Support for those with more complex needs  
▪ Pre bereavement and bereavement support 

 

Tudalen 57



 

Page | 24 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 

 

Priority Population Groups   

 Primary Beneficiary Secondary Beneficiary 

Older people with complex needs  ✓ 

People with Dementia ✓  

Unpaid Carers, inc. Young Carers  ✓ 

Children with Complex Needs   

People with emotional and mental health wellbeing needs  ✓ 

People with Learning Disability and Neurodevelopmental 
conditions 

✓  

 

Development Approach 

MAS - Advanced Nurse Practitioners  
One of the limiting factors in expanding the MAS service across the region in line with predicted demand is that 
currently a Consultant Psychiatrist is required to undertake the diagnostic interventions.  
 
To free up the capacity of the Consultant Psychiatrists a change in way of working was identified as essential for 
sustainability of the service. Funding was awarded for the recruitment of 4 Advanced Nurse practitioners to 
undertake prescribing and Diagnostician roles to allow the service to expand and free up clinical time for patients. 
This would also ensure all patients, regardless of complexity receive a diagnosis within 12 weeks. In addition, 
recruitment of a Band 7 practice facilitator to develop educational programmes relating to dementia for staff within 
the MAS system and wider care home, GP forums.   
 
The Advanced Nurse Practitioners will also undertake a programme of engagement with third sector parties and 
referrers to improve awareness. In line with providing care closer to home, expansion of the team will allow for 
negotiation of clinical spaces outside of the MAS locations, using hubs and surgeries where able, to ensure inclusion 
and accessibility for as many individuals as possible. They will also hold post-diagnostic responsibilities for Young 
Onset PLWD to ensure robust management and support for unique needs in this patient cohort  
 
MAS - Additional Consultant Capacity  
The Torfaen Borough was identified as having the lowest Older Adult Consultant Psychiatrist WTE rate per 10k 
population out of the 5 Boroughs in ABUHB.  This insufficient Consultant Medical Capacity within Torfaen was 
impacting on the ability to provide expertise and support to the memory assessment services within the locality. 
  
In order to stabilise the service in Torfaen and ensure equity of Senior Clinical Cover as well as supporting the 
expansion of the MAS in line with growing demand funding was approved for the appointment of a second 
Consultant Psychiatrist.  Thus providing a sustainable service to meet the existing and predicted medium term future 
demand within the speciality. 
 
Recruitment of a Consultant Psychiatrist in Torfaen will also improve MAS cover in the Caerphilly area, which 
currently has the longest waiting times. This is because the Electroconvulsive Therapy Service responsibility is 
currently held by the Caerphilly Borough Consultant team. With increased Consultant cover in Torfaen this will allow 
the transfer of responsibility to Torfaen, freeing up dedicated Consultant Psychiatrist time in Caerphilly for the MAS 
service  

Tudalen 58



 

Page | 25 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 
MAS - Home Based Memory Rehabilitation (OT)  
An audit of ABUHB Occupational Therapy (OT) provision to memory services in 2020 identified a significant gap. Too 
few people are accessing recommended early interventions, such as planned OT interventions in ABUHB at the point 
of diagnosis, except for the offer of memory enhancing medication and the offering of Cognitive Stimulation Therapy 
programmes in some Boroughs. This falls far short of the recommendations and standards.  
 
In order to address these Gaps as identified funding was awarded for the implementation of an early intervention 
OT service. The service will consist of a team lead occupational therapist (1 x WTE Band 7) with a team of OT staff 
(4 x WTE Band 6s) to deliver an equitable service to all memory services across Gwent. The intention is for this to 
be the starting point for an AHP/MDT specialist early intervention service in-order to holistically meet the needs of 
those diagnosed with dementia and their carers.  
 
The focus will be on offering input within 12 weeks following a diagnosis and with people who are either willing or 
able to identify their own goals (with support from OT) i.e therapy will not be done ‘to’ them based on other’s 
concerns. The need and want will come from the person.  
 
Two Highly Specialist OTs are undertaking the pilot and evaluation of an early intervention service (in two Boroughs), 
starting.  The plan is to finetune Service Pathways in April, following which suitable participants (Service Users) will 
be recruited. 
 
Information has been developed for all stakeholders, and exact ‘assessment’ and evaluation tools and methods 
have been developed. The pilot OTs have completed the ‘Master Class's training in Home based Memory 
Intervention’ in March. 
 
MAS - Hearing Assessments (Audiology)  
Alongside timely access to diagnosis a holistic approach to Dementia assessment and management is required to 
ensure that patients have the best opportunity to engage effectively with memory assessment services, in particular 
by incorporating hearing assessments into the diagnostic process.  
 
Funding was approved for the recruitment of specialist band 7, band 5 and band 4 audiologists to ensure a seamless 
service between audiology and memory services is established. This will allow all patients who are referred to the 
MAS to access a hearing assessment prior to the memory assessment, in Primary Care or Community Settings where 
possible.  
 
The service will also provide educational support for carers and family on impact of hearing loss and management 
of hearing aids through local carer education and support services.  
 
Development work is being undertaken collaboratively across Audiology and Memory Assessment Services to 
embed this approach within the diagnostic pathway. 
 
After an analysis of likely referrals and funded staffing Torfaen, Newport and North Caerphilly will be covered and 
will provide a test of concept for roll out to other boroughs. The audiology pathway has been written and agreed 
with the dementia team, with processes identified for when staffing is in place. Links have been made with BCU to 
collect similar data to build an evidence base. 

 

Interim Financial Model (Year 1 Only) 

Total cost of 
programme 

RIF Contribution 
Partner match 

monetary 
Partner match 

resource 
% support for 
unpaid carers 

% support for 
social value 

sector 

Tudalen 59



 

Page | 26 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

£826,328 £826,328 N/A N/A 0% 0% 

 

 

 

Regional Investment Model 
Select the funding element which the project will be set against.  Repeat the table and rationale for each project 

Element 1 – Acceleration funding year 1 
 

 

Element 1 – Acceleration funding year 2 
 

 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 1 
 

 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 2 
 

 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 3 
 

 

Element 3 – Legacy fund 
 

 

Element 4 – National priorities (Dementia and Memory Assessment Services/Diagnostic support) 

✓ 

As a reflection of the service development enabled by Memory Assessment Services funding, both 
the MAS funding and an element of Dementia ringfenced funding supports the delivery of this 
programme 
 

 

 

  

Tudalen 60



 

Page | 27 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 Strategic Outline Plan (Gwent refer as Programme, WG refer as Project) 
 SP11: Connected Communities 

 

Model of Care Alignment 

Community 
based care – 
prevention and 
community 
coordination 

Community 
base care – 
complex care 
closer to home 

Promoting good 
emotional 
health and 
wellbeing 

Supporting 
families to stay 
together safely 
and therapeutic 
support for care 
experienced 
children 

Home from 
hospital 

Accommodation 
based solutions 

✓      

 

Programme Summary 

The Connected Communities Programme provides a whole system approach to community support, early 
intervention and prevention using a triad of support, 
building on the established links within our 
communities via community connectors, IAA teams 
and Integrated Wellbeing Networks.   
 
The programme will ensure wellbeing of people is 
maintained or improved, and social isolation and 
loneliness, avoided or reduced.  It intends to reduce 
the impact of loneliness and isolation by fostering 
community wellbeing spaces and approaches, 
establish locality links and networks and create 
community-based solutions that will:     
    
▪ Support people to stay well through taking 

part in activities they enjoy.      
▪ Support people to stay well through 

information, advice, and assistance.         
▪ Support people to make their contribution, including exploring and supporting the development of small 

local enterprises as a route to wellbeing.          
▪ Reduce social isolation.  
▪ Promote independence.  
▪ Develop partnership working with primary care, other Local Authority services, Registered Social 

Landlords' and the third sector.    
 
The programme will support a range of adults with varying levels of need, ranging from isolated individuals to 
improve their confidence and access services in their local community, to individuals with more complex support 
needs.  
 

 

Intended Outcomes 

Person Centred Outcomes ▪ People remain active and independent in their own homes 

Information, 
Advice & 

Assistance

Community 
Network & 

Asset 
Development

Direct 
support to 
engage in 

community

Tudalen 61



 

Page | 28 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

▪ People maintain good health and wellbeing for as long as possible 

System Outcomes/Benefits ▪ Development of a consistent approach to community wellbeing and 
prevention across Gwent 

▪ Timely access to wellbeing support for people in the community 
▪ Enhanced community wellbeing, reducing demand on packages of 

care 
▪ A skilled workforce who are able to link people to wellbeing support 

local to them 

 

Baseline Position 

OPwCN Connected Communities Programme Performance 
Outcomes April 2021 – March 2022 

Across all services 13,360 individuals have accessed 
the programme and helped 231 people become 
socially connected with 316 volunteers recruited to 
support individuals and 21 people have been 
supported to remain independent. 

223 events and groups have been supported with 945 
people attending.  

6553 people were signposted and given information, 
advice & assistance. 1691 home visits were carried 
out, and from these people were supported with 
income maximisation, housing enquiries, digital 
inclusion, and COVID-19 related enquiries. 

169 stay well plans were developed with 2362 
passenger journeys provided. 

The service carried out 684 GP and volunteer 
sessions. 

From a sample of individuals accessing services: 40% 
maintained or improved independence 

Number of individuals accessing connected 
communities service 13,360 

Number of community events or groups supported 223 

Number of new volunteers recruited 316 

Number of people socially connected 231 

Number of people supported to remain independent 21 

People signposted and given IAA 6553 

Number of individuals attended groups or events 945 

Number of supporting home visits completed 1691 

Number of new individual Support / Stay Well Plans 
developed 169 

Number of passenger journeys have been provided 2362 

Number of GP Surgery  & Volunteer sessions delivered 684 

52% maintained or improved wellbeing, 61% maintained or improved confidence 52% individuals avoided social 
services intervention, and 64% individuals achieved outcomes. 

 

 

Key Enablers 

Workforce Development & 
Integration 

Work with our workforce across all sector to support a no wrong door 
approach, ensuring individuals are connected to their communities and 
receive information, advice and assistance appropriate to their needs.  A 
strengths based approach is fundamental to supporting individuals to 
manage their own health and wellbeing needs. 
 

Integrated Planning & Commissioning Ensuring community support services, delivered by all agencies, are co-
ordinated and aligned within an integrated system.  Supporting a no 
wrong door approach in providing information, advice and assistance. 
 

Technology & Digital Solutions Assistive Technology is an enabler to independence; working closely with 
the assistive technology programme we will continue to test and develop 

Tudalen 62



 

Page | 29 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

new methods of supporting independence and wellbeing in a persons 
own home. 

Capital Infrastructure Alignment of existing community hubs and spokes will be central to the 
development of this model of care, identifying gaps or opportunities in 
provision where the Integration and Capital Rebalancing Fund can 
support enhanced/strengthened community provision. 
 

Social Value Sector The third sector are well placed within the early intervention and 
prevention part of our system and will a key partner in the holistic 
approach to this model of care.  Our provider network and third sector 
forum will support the system connectivity needed, aligning the 
significant range of third sector services not commissioned by health or 
social care. 
 

 

Priority Population Groups   

 Primary Beneficiary Secondary Beneficiary 

Older people with complex needs ✓  

People with Dementia  ✓ 

Unpaid Carers, inc. Young Carers  ✓ 

Children with Complex Needs  ✓ 

People with emotional and mental health wellbeing needs  ✓ 

People with Learning Disability and Neurodevelopmental 
conditions 

 ✓ 

 

Development Approach 

The pandemic has changed communities dramatically since March 2020 and the services have had to adapt their 
roles considerably since the outbreak.  The approach and programme have never been more important however 
with the impact of shielding and social isolation and increased risks of frailty, lack of confidence, isolation, and 
loneliness.  The following adaptations to the model of delivery have been proposed by the project to encompass 
“new normal”:  
 
▪ Virtual Meeting Places  
▪ Addressing the Digital Divide  
▪ Moving Groups Online  
▪ Development of Outdoor Spaces  
▪ Reintroducing Physical Meeting Spaces  
▪ Partnership and Collaboration  

 
Key learning highlights the need for a flexible approach to respond to the needs of individuals within a changeable 
landscape.   Developments to date have highlighted the organic nature in the way community assets and 
connections develop, with an organic approach support evolution of the offer.  Working with communities to 
ensure a coproduced and collaborative approach is essential to supporting ongoing engagement.  
 
Learning shows that services have evolved over several years, the School of Social Care Research in Swansea 
University have written and supported development of the collaborative approach to wellbeing and prevention of 

Tudalen 63



 

Page | 30 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

which this project is a key element.  In partnership with Pembrokeshire, the service leads also undertook a 
research project using Most Significant Change and Community of Enquiry techniques by using exploratory talk, 
narrative, and stories we were able to evaluate the impact of individual elements on individuals and communities 
along with the experience of colleagues involved in the developing approach, examples of such are available 
locally.  
 
In line with the vision set out in the ‘National Primary Care strategy’, but there will be a heavy emphasis on 
maximising the role of third sector providers, particularly in providing information, advice and assistance, and 
helping to develop a ‘wellbeing workforce’ where social prescribers, care navigators and other multi-disciplinary 
professionals are seen as part of the core offer, and shifting the emphasis away from the GP as the gatekeeper of 
health and wellbeing services. 
 
Our capital strategic needs assessment will support an understanding of the opportunities and gaps within the 
network of hubs and spokes already provided within our communities.  A common language needs to be 
established to aid both citizen and professional awareness and understanding of the offer enabled by hubs and 
spokes.  Consideration will be given to a differentiated skill mix, with specific OD and workforce development 
programmes implemented where needed. 
 

 

Interdependencies 

This programme will work closely with all other programmes aligned to the Community Care: Prevention and Early 
Intervention Model of Care to ensure learning and good practice shared, and embedded. 

 

Interim Financial Model (Year 1 Only) 

Total cost of 
programme 

RIF Contribution 
Partner match 

monetary 
Partner match 

resource 
% support for 
unpaid carers 

% support for 
social value 

sector 

£2,970,252 £2,345,386 £0 £624,866 0% 9.44% 

 

Regional Investment Model 
Select the funding element which the project will be set against.  Repeat the table and rationale for each project 

Element 1 – Acceleration funding year 1 
 

 

Element 1 – Acceleration funding year 2 
 

 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 1 

✓ 

This programme brings together the developments enabled through the Integrated Care Fund and 
Transformation Fund, providing a whole system approach to community resilience and wellbeing.  
Embedding the existing capacity and new ways of working is critical to the prevention and early 
intervention required for longer term system wide impact. 
 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 2 
 

 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 3 
 

 

Element 3 – Legacy fund 
 

 

Element 4 – National priorities (Dementia and Memory Assessment Services/Diagnostic support) 
 

 

  

Tudalen 64



 

Page | 31 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 Strategic Outline Plan (Gwent refer as Programme, WG refer as Project) 
 SP14: LD Independence & Wellbeing 

 

Model of Care Alignment 

Community 
based care – 
prevention and 
community 
coordination 

Community 
base care – 
complex care 
closer to home 

Promoting good 
emotional 
health and 
wellbeing 

Supporting 
families to stay 
together safely 
and therapeutic 
support for care 
experienced 
children 

Home from 
hospital 

Accommodation 
based solutions 

✓  ✓   ✓ 

 

Programme Summary 

This programme intends to ensure all individuals with a Learning Disability have access to equitable opportunities 
and ‘joined up’ services.  Individuals their families and carers feel supported and fully informed when accessing 
services and services are driven by what matters to them, and will be supported to live as independently as 
possible within their community.  The programme also includes a specific focus on reducing health inequalities for 
people with a learning disability working with primary care GP practices. 
 
All individuals with a Learning Disability have access to equitable opportunities and ‘joined up’ services.  By 
establishing an integrated system that supports people with a learning disability, their transition across the system 
will be seamless, they will live as independently as possible within their community and only tell their story once. 
 
Establish integrated working and data sharing across the health & social care system.  
Reducing health inequalities through reasonable adjustments to mainstream services and access to specialist 
services when needed.  
Improving community integration, including increasing housing options closer to home.    
 
Further develop and transform innovative flexible services for people with a learning disability across the Gwent 
region to construct an integrated, fair, equitable and safe service, in line with the Equalities Act (2010); that’s 
shaped by the Learning Disability Improving Lives programme (2018.) 

 

Intended Outcomes 

Person Centred Outcomes ▪ Reduce health inequality for people with a learning disability 
▪ Individuals their families and carers feel supported and fully 

informed when accessing services and services are driven by what 
matters to them 

▪ Individuals have access to equitable services and adequate 
specialist support. 

▪ Individuals’ health and social care needs are fully met, with no-one 
‘falling through the gaps’ 

▪ Building independence for people with a learning disability 
 

System Outcomes/Benefits ▪ Preventing further escalation, reducing duplication and the need for 
complex health services  

Tudalen 65



 

Page | 32 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

▪ Prevention of pressures of statutory services 
▪ Improved joint-working pathways through systems 
▪ improve planning and funding systems  
▪ Improved community support structures  
▪ The system demonstrates quality and synergy of the learning 

disabilities services 
 

 

Baseline Position 

It has been previously highlighted that the transition from child and adult services for people with a learning 
disability transitioning through the system can be complex and hard to navigate. This is restricting the opportunities 
for complementary working across services and the prospects to provide a whole integrated flexible system that 
will empower individuals and let them have their say on how the system works. 

 
Joining up and integrating services is a challenge, for example, when people leave school or college, support may 
vanish.  Data on people with a learning disability and the impact lack or disjointed services have on them, and their 
families and carers is detrimental to them living a full and healthy life. When services are not available, and a 
person’s needs are not met this can result in escalation of the original presenting issues forcing them to access 
primary/emergency services. The programme of services for people with learning disability is built in to help prevent 
and relieve pressures on primary services and make sure they are offered the same options as everyone else within 
their communities/closer to home across the Gwent region.  
 
Gaps across the region; where a service is offered in one area and is producing successful outcomes for people with 
a learning disability, their families, and carers, it is not offered in other local authorities causing disparity, creating 
an unequitable service, which goes against the Equalities Act (2010) and A Healthier Wales (2018), Learning 
Disabilities Improving Lives (2018).  For a fair and equitable service where outcomes are person centred, we need 
to build on the successful piloted innovations to be delivered and expand across the Gwent region. 
 
Through our population needs assessment, we have identified a total of 673 people with learning disabilities known 
to ABUHB with average life expectancy increasing over the last few decades.  However, the pandemic has had a 
negative impact on people with a learning disability, where they have felt isolated at being separated from family 
and friends and daily routines disrupted.  People have said that stress, anxiety, feeling isolated and changes to their 
normal routine has had a negative impact on mental health. Also, some people felt their health had deteriorated as 
they were not as active and had put on weight due to not going out and about. 
 

 

Key Enablers 

Workforce Development & 
Integration 

▪ Upskilling staff to enable better retention. 
▪ Embed appropriate training with workforces in strategic/ operational 

levels. 
▪ Revision and agreement of current resource with exploration into 

alignment across services, from health to social care.  
▪ Established connectivity between Health, social care housing & 

education workforces to ensure a coordinated response for families.  
 

Integrated Planning & Commissioning ▪ Implement an integrated approach across services and organisations 
to ensure individuals, their families and carers are given the right 
equitable support. 

▪ Working with organisations to commission and implement the suite 
of services agreed to take forward. 

Tudalen 66



 

Page | 33 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

▪ Revision of current SLA’s - By linking in with divisions/organisations a 
review of all current SLA’s will be undertaken including core funded, 
partnership funded, WG funded SLA’. 
 

Technology & Digital Solutions ▪ Expand opportunities of assistive technology that may benefit people 
with a learning disability, their families, and carers to help promote 
independence and make sure there are equitable options for 
individuals. For example, a focus on the assistive technology arena 
that can help alleviate the problem of an individual having to 
repeatedly tell their story. Use of integrated data system such as 
WCCIS. 
 

Capital Infrastructure ▪ Supporting independence via a range of living solutions 
 

Social Value Sector ▪ To work with third sector to build resilience for people with a learning 
disability, their family, and carers; and enhance community-based 
provision. Making sure their voices are heard and needs are acted 
upon and are met. 
 

 

Priority Population Groups   

 Primary Beneficiary Secondary Beneficiary 

Older people with complex needs   

People with Dementia  ✓ 

Unpaid Carers, inc. Young Carers  ✓ 

Children with Complex Needs   

People with emotional and mental health wellbeing needs   

People with Learning Disability and Neurodevelopmental 
conditions 

✓  

 

Development Approach 

The future vision as set out in A Healthier Wales (2018) focuses on a ‘Whole System Approach’ to health and social 
care’ focused on health and wellbeing and preventing illness. The ambition in line with A Healthier Wales (2018) & 
Learning Disability Improving Lives (2018), is to strengthen services across all sectors for individuals with a learning 
disability, their families, and carers, by increasing community integration and improving planning and funding 
systems, to reduce preventable health inequalities making sure they have access to equitable opportunities and can 
take more responsibility for their own health and wellbeing. 
 
Through engagement with professionals and individuals, there will be a strategic and sequenced approach, to 
embed the learning disabilities suite of services as highlighted for continuation into the future 5-year plan. In line 
with this piece of work there will be opportunity to develop the expansion of the services highlighted as exceptional, 
delivering positive outcomes across the Gwent region. This will work towards a prosperous environment where 
resources will be used efficiently and proportionately as stated in one of the seven well-being goals from the Well-
Being of Future Generations Act (2015); developing a skilled and well-educated population, to create consistency 
and creating a healthier society where wellbeing is maximised, to reduce the negative impacts experienced by 
individuals with a learning disability to get it right. 

Tudalen 67



 

Page | 34 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 
Areas highlighted for growth / expansion started as local innovation pilots, which falls into the bottom red section 
of the pyramid in the A Healthier Wales 2018 (Diagram Below).  These services have demonstrated and evidenced 
the positive impact, they have been able to make in the lives of individuals with a learning disability, their families, 
and carers.  The expansion is to move these services into a new regional model which will require a whole system 
approach for successful integration. 

 
Under the policy drivers within the A Healthier Wales (2018); people with a learning disability will be supported to 
stay well.  The programme will offer a suite of services, working seamlessly together, that will help tackle inequalities 
people with a learning disability, their families and carers come up against when accessing services, help or support. 
 
To drive this forward, a whole system approach across health and social care will need to take place, working in 
collaboration, using a person-centred approach  and bringing support into the community, working towards creating 
a single system. 
 

 

Interdependencies 

Aligns with the Transition, Children with complex needs, Emotional Health and Wellbeing, Edge of Care, Complex 
Care, and Complex Needs Panels. 
Children & Adolescents with Learning Disabilities Service 
Adult Learning Disability Services  
Child & Adolescents with Mental Health  
Adult Mental Health Service. 

 

Interim Financial Model (Year 1 Only) 

Total cost of 
programme 

RIF Contribution 
Partner match 

monetary 
Partner match 

resource 
% support for 
unpaid carers 

% support for 
social value 

sector 

£505,255 £496,333 £0 £8,922 0% 26.01% 

 

Regional Investment Model 
Select the funding element which the project will be set against.  Repeat the table and rationale for each project 

Element 1 – Acceleration funding year 1  

Tudalen 68



 

Page | 35 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 

Element 1 – Acceleration funding year 2 
 

 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 1 

✓ 

This programme brings together the developments enabled through the Integrated Care Fund 
providing a regional programme of peer support and wellbeing activity.  Embedding the existing 
capacity and new ways of working is critical to the prevention and early intervention required for 
longer term system wide impact. 
 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 2 
 

 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 3 
 

 

Element 3 – Legacy fund 
 

 

Element 4 – National priorities (Dementia and Memory Assessment Services/Diagnostic support) 
 

 

 

  

Tudalen 69



 

Page | 36 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

Model of Care Investment Proposal 
COMMUNITY BASED CARE – COMPLEX CARE CLOSE TO HOME 

 

 

Strategic Vision 
To establish a robust and sustainable community infrastructure that support individuals with care needs to be 
cared for within their own homes, or as close to home as possible.  Embodying the principles established within 
the six goals for Urgent Care policy handbook, this model of care will provide a right sizing approach to the 
community capacity needed to provide care close to home, and facilitate the discharge to recover and assess 
pathways.  To have nationally overcoming the challenges associated with community capacity across multiple 
professions (ranging from allied health professionals to domiciliary care), including workforce recruitment, 
retention and pay scales. 
 

 

Dementia Action Plan (DAP) Summary 
We are aware of the impact of the pandemic on people living with dementia and professionals within health and 
social care have been working hard to support people through assistive technology, online support and telephone 
calls where face to face visits could not be provided.  We have also been supporting people living with dementia, 
their family and carers through the Get There Together National project, working with partners to create a series of  
films aimed to reduce concerns and reassure anyone who is anxious about getting beyond the front door as well as 
dealing with the stresses of Covid-19. 
 

 

Case for Change 
Healthy life expectancy is increasing over time, which is positive, however when the time comes where the oldest 
population develop care and support needs, those needs are more intensive and expensive as people live longer.  
People over the age of 65 are more likely to need extra support to remain independent in their own homes and 
across all local authorities in Gwent it is predicted there will be an increase in people unable to manage at least one 
domestic task on their own.  
 
Predicted number of people aged 65 or over that will be unable to manage at least one domestic task on their 
own (household shopping, wash and dry dishes, clean windows inside, jobs involving climbing, use a vacuum 
cleaner, wash clothing by hand, open screw tops, deal with personal affairs, do practical activities).   Figures are 
taken from Living in Britain; Results from the 2001 General Household Survey, Supplementary report: People aged 
65 and over, table 37, ONS.  The predicted increases range is from 44.9% in Blaenau Gwent to 71.6% in 
Monmouthshire.  As an RPB we have a range of multi-disciplinary reablement and care services in place to provide 
long and short-term support to help people live independently in their own homes. 
 
The number of older people with unmet care and support needs is increasing substantially due to challenges in 
the health and care system.  Effective solutions are needed to address these needs including addressing delayed 
discharges in hospitals that can lead to worsening health outcomes and complications around care and support 
needs. It is clear that most people desire to cope with their illnesses and remain independent at home and care 
models need to reflect the needs of the person as part of their care and support. 

 

Key Enablers 
Integrated Planning and Commissioning 

✓ Planning and Commissioning will be integral to the establishment of right sized community capacity.  
Consideration is needed to the mechanisms that will enable integrated approaches to 

Tudalen 70



 

Page | 37 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

commissioning; the capacity and commissioning requirements will be identified within ongoing 
work. 
 

Technology enabled care 

✓ 

The use of assistive technology to support independence at home will be explored in conjunction with 

the Assistive Technology Programme, which will in turn support admission avoidance or early 

discharge.  Shared information between services will support the goal of integrated working, and 

seamless care for the individual. 

Promoting the social value sector 

✓ 
Working with our provider network and third sector forum to identify intermediate care capacity 
within the system, supporting resilience and community care closer to home.   
 

Integrated Community Hubs 

✓ 

Connectivity to hubs that provide assessment (step up/down) beds and reablement facilities will 
enable a seamless model and implementation of the D2RA pathways.  The capital strategic needs 
assessment and evaluation of recently implemented older persons integrated hubs will support the 
continued development of this infrastructure. 
 

Workforce development and integration 

✓ 

The success of this model of care is entirely dependent on the ability to right size community 
capacity and overcome the current and ongoing workforce capacity constraints.  Both regional and 
national activity is required to overcome this issue. 
 

 
 

Priority Population Groups 
 Primary 

Beneficiary 
Secondary 
Beneficiary 

DAP 

Older people including people with dementia 

✓   
Enabling care to be provided in a persons own home will maximise 
outcomes achievable for each individual, and mitigate avoidable physical 
deconditioning. 
 

Children and young people with complex needs 
   

N/A 

People with learning disabilities and neurodevelopment conditions, 
including autism    
N/A 

Unpaid carers 

 ✓  
Working with unpaid carers to ensure they are supported, and considered 
alongside care plans. 
 

People with emotional and mental health wellbeing needs 
   

N/A 

Other beneficiaries    

N/A 

 
 
 
 

Tudalen 71



 

Page | 38 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 
 
 

Total programme cost and match funding 

Total cost of 
programme 

Welsh 
Government 
contribution 

Partner 
monetary match 

Partner 
resource match 

% support for 
unpaid carers 

% for social 
value sector 

delivery 

£11,918,824 £9,001,418 £0 £2,917,406 0% 3.75% 

 
Programme management resource to be confirmed. 

  

Tudalen 72



 

Page | 39 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 Strategic Outline Plan (Gwent refer as Programme, WG refer as Project) 
 SP04: Supporting Children with Development Needs 

 

Model of Care Alignment 

Community 
based care – 
prevention and 
community 
coordination 

Community 
base care – 
complex care 
closer to home 

Promoting good 
emotional 
health and 
wellbeing 

Supporting 
families to stay 
together safely 
and therapeutic 
support for care 
experienced 
children 

Home from 
hospital 

Accommodation 
based solutions 

 ✓ ✓ ✓   

 

Programme Summary 

This programme of work supports children with development needs and aims to improve access to specialist by 
improving strategic and operational planning and access to services.  It has a focus on improving community 
integration, including increasing placement options closer to home to reduce the number of out of county 
placements. 
 
The model of support provided via ‘Helping Hands’ ensures parents and families receive timely guidance and 
support to preventing any further avoidable escalation. 
 
Establishing an integrated system that supports children with complex needs and their families, providing 
appropriate support so that they can meet their potential. 
They will have access to a suite of initiatives, using prevention and early intervention techniques and reducing 
adverse childhood experiences 
 
▪ Improve access to specialist services offering fairness & equity across the system to build resilience 
▪ Improved strategic and operational planning and access to services 
▪ Improving community integration, including increasing placement options closer to home to reduce the 

number of ‘out of county placements. 
 
Creating a whole system approach for wellness flexible enough to meet the needs of children with complex needs, 
and their families, ensuring they receive the same level of care regardless of where they live, putting the children 
and family at the centre of the system/NEST. 
 

 

Intended Outcomes 

Person Centred Outcomes ▪ Reduce health inequality for children with complex needs  
▪ People feel supported and fully informed when accessing services 

and services are driven by what matters to them 
▪ Access to equitable services with adequate specialist support 
▪ Health and social care needs are fully met, with no-one ‘falling 

through the gaps’ 
 

Tudalen 73



 

Page | 40 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

System Outcomes/Benefits ▪ Preventing further escalation, reducing duplication and the need for 
complex health services  

▪ Further improve joint-working pathways through systems 
▪ Improve planning and funding systems  
▪ Further improve community support structures  

 

 

Baseline Position 

Following changes made to the statutory guidance in relation to Part 9 of the Social Services & Well-Being Act (2014); 
the definition of children with complex needs now comprises: 

▪ children with disabilities and/or illness  
▪ children who are care experienced  
▪ children who in need of care and support 
▪ children who are on the edge of care/at risk of becoming looked after  
▪ children with emotional and behavioural needs 

 
The children with complex needs programme comprise of services that use a whole family approach and support 
the improvement of emotional health and wellbeing.  Whereas some services focus on direct work with the child 
and their families, siblings and carers, other services support a family’s ability to navigate the complex system of 
support a child might have when numerous professional agencies are involved in that child’s care and treatment.  
Other services align with the Workforce principles, the mechanism for change is in providing professionals across 
health, social care, and education; training on attachment and developmental trauma, with the addition of follow-
up sessions for the workforce to ensure frontline teams are supported in contributing to wider cultural change in 
their approach with families. 
 
Helping Hands - The system promotes psychological wellbeing  and offers earlier and targeted intervention that is 
equitable across the Gwent region.  Working directly with those in need through early intervention. To improve 
family understanding, relationships, and stability.  A whole family approach to emotional wellbeing is adopted, so 
we can achieve a decrease in reported parental stress, an increased level of care closer to home and long-term 
benefits such as a reduced burden of economic care in adulthood.  The inclusion of community-based support and 
placement closer to home to reduce the number of children with complex needs escalating through the support 
system.  Below is a diagram of how this part of the system works: 

 
 

Tudalen 74



 

Page | 41 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

Between April to September 2020, a total of 33 children were supported . When referring to the information and 
advice provision,  A total of 252 informal professional contacts had been made.  Four workshops were delivered of 
which a total of 50 delegates attended, comprising of 44 parents and 6 professionals.  From a sample of delegates 
that attended the workshops, 100% found the content helpful or very helpful and 100% were likely or very likely to 
recommend the session to another parent.  Currently, in addition to the one-off workshops, an Early Positive 
approach to Support (E-PatS) parenting programme is delivered over a 9-week period for 6 families.   
 
A total of 19 calls from concerned parents have been received by the team, averaging 46 minutes per call where 
bespoke information and advice has been provided on the challenges experienced by the parent. From the 19 calls 
received, 3 safeguarding concerns were raised by professionals, which if the service was unavailable could have 
potentially not been identified.  In addition to parent calls, a total of 6 calls were received from associated 
professionals requiring support and service signposting information, however due to the nature of the calls, the 
professional calls averaged 12 minutes in duration which is significantly lower than parental contact. 
 
Integrated Assessment & Planning (IAP/ISCAN) - Providing care co-ordination to families who are struggling to cope 
with the multitude of professionals / agencies involved in their child's care which supports and guides them through 
the maze of services, empowering the families to take ownership of their child's care. The service facilitates a multi-
agency integrated assessment and plan for those children with the most complex needs, to improve the emotional 
wellbeing, which achieves a decrease in reported parental stress, an increased level of care closer to home and long-
term benefits such as a reduced burden of economic care in adulthood. Below shows a representation of how this 
part of the service functions: 

 

 

Between October 2018 to December 2019, 183 children were accepted by the Integrated Services for Children with 
Additional Needs care-coordination team, 86% (157 children) were for developmental support, whilst the remaining 
14% (26 children) requires non-developmental support coordination. The majority required care or complex care 
coordination (49% and 46% respectively) whereby only a small percentage required integrated assessment and 
planning (5%).  However, of the referrals accepted, 38% were referred to the Family Liaison Officers, latterly referred 
to as Family Support Worker.  The outcomes of the pilot project in 2016 stipulated that waiting times were reduced 
for 100% of the cases accepted, furthermore, 90% of the cases had their waiting time reduced in the region of 12 
to 13 weeks. 
 

Tudalen 75



 

Page | 42 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 
Children supported through the Care Coordination team 
whereby closed cases were identified.  Graph 2 identifies the 
reason for case closure for the 74 cases during the reporting 
period.   As depicted by graph 1, the majority of the cases (66%) 
were closed due to the children successfully completing their 
individual action plan, demonstrating the success of the 
intervention.  15% of the accepted referrals opted out of 
receiving support as they felt they had their children’s behaviours 
under control following advice and guidance from various 
services. 
 
Now more than ever, supporting people’s emotional health and well-being is vital to keeping society healthy and 
preventing the escalation of health and social care needs. With the impacts of COVID-19, this is further realised with 
an increasing number of people of all ages, including children and young people, being identified as having 
emotional health and wellbeing support needs 
 
Joining up and integrating services is a challenge, for example, when people leave school or college, support may 
vanish.  When services are not available, and a person’s needs are not being met this can result in escalation of the 
original presenting issues forcing them to access primary/emergency services. The programme of services for 
children with complex needs is built in to help prevent and relieve pressures on primary services and make sure that 
the services offered are consistent and equitable for all, across the Gwent Region. 
 
Gaps across the region; where a service is offered in one area and is producing good outcomes is not necessarily 
offered in other local authorities is causing disparity, creating an unequitable service, which goes against the 
Equalities Act (2010) and A Healthier Wales (2018), Learning Disabilities Improving Lives (2018).  For a fair and 
equitable service where outcomes are person centred, we need to build on the successful piloted innovations for 
delivery and expansion across the Gwent region. 
 

 

Graph 1. Reason for case closure 2018-2019 

 

Key Enablers 

Workforce Development & 
Integration 

▪ Upskilling staff to enable better retention. 
▪ Ensure training with workforces in strategic/ operational levels 

around the NEST framework and their contribution to the whole 
system. 

▪ Revision and agreement of current resource with exploration into 
alignment across services, from health to social care 

▪ Established connectivity between Health, social care & education 
workforces to ensure a coordinated response for families.  
 

Integrated Planning & Commissioning ▪ Implement an integrated approach across services and organisations 
to ensure individuals, their families and carers are given the right 
equitable support. 

▪ Working with organisations to commission and implement the suite 
of services agreed to take forward 

▪ Revision of current SLA’s - By linking in with divisions/organisations a 
review of all current SLA’s will be undertaken including core funded, 
partnership funded, WG funded SLA’ 
 

Technology & Digital Solutions ▪ NEST framework digital tool to create a platform that enables 
professionals to demonstrate good practice. 

Tudalen 76



 

Page | 43 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

▪ Expand opportunities of assistive technology that may benefit care 
experienced children & young people to help promote independence 
and make sure there are equitable options for individuals. For 
example, a focus on the assistive technology arena that can help 
alleviate the problem of an individual having to repeatedly tell their 
story constantly. Use of integrated data system such as WCCIS. 
 

Capital Infrastructure ▪ Feasibility study for children’s centre in the north of Gwent Region 
▪ Identify any areas that could benefit from Capital funding and 

identify opportunities to align capital and revenue resources 
 

Social Value Sector ▪ Working with third sector & local authority to create an integrated 
system of provision/access, that builds resilience for care 
experienced children & young people and enhance community 
provision. Making sure their voices are heard and needs are met. 

▪ Ensuring accessible services within the community where they live 
 

 

Priority Population Groups   

 Primary Beneficiary Secondary Beneficiary 

Older people with complex needs   

People with Dementia   

Unpaid Carers, inc. Young Carers  ✓ 

Children with Complex Needs ✓  

People with emotional and mental health wellbeing needs  ✓ 

People with Learning Disability and Neurodevelopmental 
conditions 

 ✓ 

 

Development Approach 

The future vision as set out in A Healthier Wales (2018) focuses on a ‘Whole System Approach’ to health and social 
care’ focused on health and wellbeing and preventing illness. The ambition in line with A Healthier Wales (2018) & 
Learning Disability Improving Lives (2018), is to strengthen services across all sectors for children with complex 
needs, their families and carers, by increasing community integration and improving planning and funding systems, 
to reduce preventable health inequalities making sure they have access to equitable opportunities and can take 
more responsibility for their own health and wellbeing. 
 
The children with complex needs system currently have services embedded within, that cover many aspects of the 
whole system, taking on a ‘whole system approach’.  From direct clinical work with the children, young people their 
families, siblings, and carers, to support to those who need help navigating the complex system and workforce 
training & development.  There is a need to further progress the suite of services highlighted for continuation into 
the future 5-year plan and to align them more appropriately. 
 
To do this we will need a planned out and sequenced course of action to engage with professionals and individuals 
across the whole system to gain better insight into how we can expand, embed, and improve integration between 
each system process and function.  In line with this piece of work there will be opportunity to explore the expansion 
of the service areas highlighted as exceptional, delivering  successful outcomes across the Gwent region. This will 

Tudalen 77



 

Page | 44 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

work towards a prosperous environment  where resources will be used efficiently and proportionately as stated in 
one of the seven well-being goals from the Well-Being of Future Generations Act (2015); developing a skilled and 
well-educated population, to create consistency and creating a healthier society where wellbeing is maximised, to 
reduce the negative impacts experienced by children with complex needs to get it right. 
 
Areas  highlighted for growth / expansion started as local innovation pilots, which falls into the bottom red section 
of the pyramid in the  A Healthier Wales 2018 (Diagram Below).  These services have demonstrated and evidenced 
the positive impact, they have been able to make in the lives of children with complex needs, their families, and 
carers.  The expansion is to move these services into a new regional model which will require a whole system 
approach working this way will allow us to improve integration across the system. 

 
Under the policy drivers within the A Healthier Wales (2018); children with complex needs, their families, and carers, 
along with the workforce, will be supported to improve knowledge of the services within the system, be given a 
clearer understanding of the pathways and how to navigate them, a more informed and upskilled workforce and to 
help them to stay well.  The programme will offer a suite of services, working seamlessly together, that will help 
tackle inequalities that children with complex needs come up against when accessing services, help or support. 
 
To drive this forward, using the NEST approach: a whole system approach across health and social care will need to 
take place, to develop mental health, well-being and support services for babies, children, young people, parents, 
carers and their wider families across Wales: working in collaboration, 
using a person-centred approach  and bringing support into the 
community, working towards creating a single system with ‘no wrong 
door’ approach so that families get the right help at the right time and 
in a way that is right for them.  
 
In Children’s and Families Services, we are working towards a NEST 
framework that embodies the principles of offering children 
Nurturing, Empowering, Safe and Trusted environments (NEST). The 
framework is intended to support the working together of services so 
that babies, children, young people, parents and carers have the 
support of their own ‘NEST’. The shared value base this framework 
provides helps to focus services on the same priorities that are person 
led and person centred. The ‘no wrong door’ approach has supported 
the development of a single point of access, that has enabled children, young people and families to get the right 
support and the right time, and a ‘no bounce principle’ when entering into complex system.  
 
It’s not for our children, young people, and families to navigate our complex system, we need to make this as 
accessible as possible to meet needs and prevent escalation. We know that points of transition and change can be 
anxiety provoking, so ensuring we support these points are crucial especially when children’s services are starting 
to align in this way. The continuity of experience and sequencing of interventions we provide need to be joined up, 
so the system doesn’t make things worse for people in the long term. 
 
By using feedback from key stakeholders and expanding the opportunity to utilise new assistive technology through 
coproduction; will enable us to embed value-based healthcare to measure what matters most to people, ensuring 
that improvement activity is focussed on outcomes.  
 
Through sustainable growth and developing community-based models of care that will provide early intervention 
and prevent the escalation of poor emotional and mental health and wellbeing for children with complex needs, as 
set out in the Well-Being of Future Generations Act (2015), we can bring about a more equal, cohesive, healthier, 
resilient, and prosperous society where children with complex needs, families and carers have the same rights and 
opportunities available to them locally.  
 

Tudalen 78



 

Page | 45 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 

Interdependencies 

Aligns with the Transition, Emotional Health and Wellbeing. Children & Adolescents with Learning Disabilities 
Service, Adult Learning Disabilities, Child & Adolescents with Mental Health & Adult Mental Health Service 
 
There is a need to establish formal links with the Complex Care and Complex Needs Panels. 
 

 

Interim Financial Model (Year 1 Only) 

Total cost of 
programme 

RIF Contribution 
Partner match 

monetary 
Partner match 

resource 
% support for 
unpaid carers 

% support for 
social value 

sector 

£444,003 £444,003 £0 £0 0% 0% 

 

Regional Investment Model 
Select the funding element which the project will be set against.  Repeat the table and rationale for each project 

Element 1 – Acceleration funding year 1 
 

 

Element 1 – Acceleration funding year 2 
 

 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 1 

✓ 

The developments enabled through the Integrated Care Fund established the integrated approaches 
to care co-ordination, and early support for parent carers of neurodiverse children with challenging 
behaviours.  The programme is identified to be embedding to support the new ways of working and 
support available to be mainstreamed. 
 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 2 
 

 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 3 
 

 

Element 3 – Legacy fund 
 

 

Element 4 – National priorities (Dementia and Memory Assessment Services/Diagnostic support) 
 

 

  

Tudalen 79



 

Page | 46 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 Strategic Outline Plan (Gwent refer as Programme, WG refer as Project) 
 SP10: DAP – Living with Dementia 

 

Model of Care Alignment 

Community 
based care – 
prevention and 
community 
coordination 

Community 
base care – 
complex care 
closer to home 

Promoting good 
emotional 
health and 
wellbeing 

Supporting 
families to stay 
together safely 
and therapeutic 
support for care 
experienced 
children 

Home from 
hospital 

Accommodation 
based solutions 

 ✓ ✓  ✓ ✓ 

 

Programme Summary 

This programme will support the continued implementation of the Dementia Action Plan for Wales, and the 
Regional Dementia Blueprint.  Establishing an integrated and connected system of support around the person 
living with dementia, their families and carers is the key driver within this programme.  Working with dementia 
services across the region to strengthen and where needed redesigned, to establish a model in line with Dementia 
Care Standards. 
 
The programme supports the specific Dementia Action Plan aim for people to live well with Dementia; to increase 
support through a seamless system for people with dementia to live as well as possible, for as long as possible.  
This will be enabled by connected services for early intervention and supportive interventions to live well by 
maximising their independence and ability to participate in the community.  The programme has an extended 
focus on the following: 
 
▪ Dementia services have a regional taskforce approach as a commitment to redesign services aligned to an 

all Wales vision so they are more ‘dementia supportive’, including the establishment of ‘connector’ roles to 
be navigators and points of contact, offering support, advice and signposting throughout their journey from 
diagnosis to end of life (Dementia Standards, S12).  Taskforce across the system will have increased 
opportunity of education and training for in person centred learning and development for all staff working 
on a care plan for people living with dementia, focusing on front door emergency service development for 
capacity assessment at the outset and enhancing Clinical Work Station awareness of diagnosis coding.  
 

▪ Establishment of a framework and structure for Dementia Care Mapping (DCM) to be adopted as routine 
practice by organisations and care settings providing intensive dementia care (Dementia Standards, S16). 
Services will have accurate data of the individual and communication appropriately transferred between 
settings, improving the success of the person and their carer adapting and adjusting to change in their 
circumstances (Dementia Standards, S19). Carers will be supported and offered stage appropriate learning, 
education and skills training to address front door emergency service development and prevention of 
hospital admissions (Dementia Standards, S10). 

 
▪ The system will provide seamless transition and strengthened partnership working through the 

Communities of Practice to ensure that all care partners communicate and jointly work with each other to 
foster smooth transitions of care (Dementia Standards, S19). 

Tudalen 80



 

Page | 47 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 

Intended Outcomes 

Person Centred Outcomes People living with dementia, their families and carers will have equitable 
access to individualised and person-centred care. 
 
People living with dementia, and their carers, will feel supported by the 
system, and understand where to access support at times of need 
 
People living with dementia, and their carers, will develop anticipatory 
care plans to ensure their wishes are known early in the dementia 
journey 
 

System Outcomes/Benefits Reduction in hand-offs and duplication across the system 
Delayed need for formal care 

 

Baseline Position 

The Dementia Programme underpins the key themes and aims of the, the six models of care of, Dementia Action 
Plan and the All Wales Dementia Pathway of Standards: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
There are a wide number of service level agreements (SLA) that we are reviewing the mapping exercise for both 
funded and community support activities across the region to refresh due to the learning from the pandemic and 
some community groups and services closing or services adapted to meet the needs of the community. 
 
We work with our third sector partners to ensure that they are an integral and equal partner in the delivery of the 
dementia blueprint, where currently it is acknowledged that there remains a level of activity that is not identified 
or engaged to provide a seamless system. Welsh Government document of ‘Dementia Action Plan: strengthening 
provision in response to COVID-19’ considers a number of recovery priorities that support the vision of the Dementia 
Action Plan (DAP) and aligned to the four themes: accessible, responsive, journey, partnership and relationships 
consisting of the 20 standards wrapped around the person, setting out alignment to the aims of the programme 
below: 

Tudalen 81



 

Page | 48 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 
Dementia Aim 5 – ‘Living as well as possible, for as long as possible with dementia’ aligns to: 

• 3. Protecting rights / person centred approach  
o 3.1 Post diagnostic therapeutic interventions/rehabilitation  
o 3.3 Improved hospital care 
o 3.4 Palliative care 

• 4. Responding to changes in care 
o 4.3 Mental health support 

 
Dementia Aim 6 – ‘The need for increased support’ aligns to: 

• 3. Protecting rights / person centred approach  

o 3.1 Post diagnostic therapeutic interventions/rehabilitation  
o 3.2 Support for care homes 
o 3.3 Improved hospital care 

• 4. Responding to changes in care 

o 4.2 Support for unpaid carers 

o 4.3 Mental health support 

 

Key Enablers 

Workforce Development & 
Integration 

A resilient, skilled and integrated health and social care workforce is 

critical to the successful delivery of the national models of care. Through 

a revision of the current resource capacity across the dementia model 

and alignment across health and social care services, local authorities 

and third sector will improve retention of staff to ensure the workforce is 

appropriately trained and upskilled to provide truly seamless, integrated 

services for the people across the region, aligning to the Strategic 

Regional Learning and Development Plan. 

 

To provide a straightforward framework that will guide our regional 
agencies and stakeholders together so they can all feed into and benefit 
from broad perspectives associated with learning and training for 
dementia. Development of ‘connector’ roles to be navigators and points 
of contact as identified in standard 12 of the All Wales Dementia Care 
Pathway of Standards.  

Integrated Planning & Commissioning To successfully develop and then mainstream the national models of 
integrated care, DAP and Dementia standards effective whole system 
planning and/or commissioning across health, social care, housing and 
wider delivery partners will be critical. By linking in with 
divisions/organisations a review of all current SLA’s will be undertaken 
including core funded, partnership funded, WG funded SLA’s. A more 
regional approach will ensure equitable service provision across the 
region. 
  

Technology & Digital Solutions Explore assistive technology to maintain independence for as long as 
possible for individuals living in their own homes and technology enabled 
care solutions for those that do require more complex care within the 
community or an acute setting. 
 

Tudalen 82



 

Page | 49 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

A key population group as a beneficiary of the assistive technology 
programme is people living with dementia, their families and carers, 
focusing on three key areas: 

• Supporting independence in their own home 

• Providing therapeutic technologies  

• Technology enabled care for more complex care when needed 

Capital Infrastructure Independent living solutions for people living with dementia to support 
delivery of  

• Independent living solutions enabled by RIF capital programmes 
working with a range of partners for example, RSL’s etc. 

• Development of integrated hubs that are dementia specific or 
dementia friendly 

• Providing intermediate care capacity that will support 
reablement of people living with dementia or alternative respite 
facilities.  

Social Value Sector The third sector are key partners in the delivery of the programme to 
delivery against the priorities of the Dementia Action Plan and Dementia 
Standards, support a range of priority areas including: 

• Community based early intervention activity  

• Support for those with more complex needs  

• Pre bereavement and bereavement support 

 

Priority Population Groups   

 Primary Beneficiary Secondary Beneficiary 

Older people with complex needs  ✓ 

People with Dementia ✓  

Unpaid Carers, inc. Young Carers  ✓ 

Children with Complex Needs   

People with emotional and mental health wellbeing needs  ✓ 

People with Learning Disability and Neurodevelopmental 
conditions 

 ✓ 

 

Development Approach 

A Healthier Wales highlights the improvement of ‘better co-ordination of research, innovation and improvement, in 
pursuit of higher quality and value, and will provide a pipeline of local opportunities which can be further developed 
into new models of seamless care’.  
 
The Regional Integrated Fund (RIF) as an enabler of the programme provides 100% intervention rate (no tapering 
applicable) to support ongoing delivery of the Dementia Action Plan, to redesign activity through sequencing and 
transformation of the whole system. Welsh Government have shown a commitment to developing cross-cutting 
themes to consider a number of recovery priorities that support the vision of the Dementia Action Plan (DAP) and 
aligned to the four themes: accessible, responsive, journey, partnership and relationships consisting of the 20 
standards wrapped around the person. 
 

Tudalen 83



 

Page | 50 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

The ‘What Good Looks Like’ model below illustrates the services and support required as in accordance to the need. 
Channelling resources to support new models of care will be consistent with the national design principles that will 
focus on increased investment in prevention and early intervention as outlined in Healthier Wales.  
 
The model has been developed regionally, however due to the pandemic the implementation has stalled. The 
development approach will focus on the implementation of the model within the work streams that have been 
established under the dementia standards.  

 

 
The development of the dementia programme will identify current service alignment of the Dementia Action Plan, 
providing assessment of service gaps and improvement aligned to the dementia standards, strengthening the system 
of support to increase support and capacity throughout the whole system.  Consideration of RIF revenue and capital 
as enablers to transformation, alongside core resources. Cross-cutting programmes will provide related support to all 
strategic programmes where needed formal reporting mechanism into the relevant Strategic Partnership on a regular 
basis, as described within a governance framework.  
 
The current programme will maintain the existing activity and investment areas whilst the work around the dementia 
care standards commences and redefining existing activity over the few months as part of the Regional Partnership 
Board development programme, giving specific consideration to the following: 
 
Living as well as possible, for as long as possible with dementia 
▪ Developing individual advanced care plans 
▪ Maximising physical well-being for example advice and support to keep active, eat well or prevent falls. 
▪ Communication support, such as speech and language therapy. 
▪ Counselling support. 
▪ Introduction to palliative care interventions. These will include the management of pain and other symptoms 

with a goal of achieving the best quality of life. 
▪ Supporting people in the early stages of dementia to ensure they have the information and opportunity to 

make decisions about their own future care and support. This should consider lasting powers of attorney12 and 
advanced decisions.  

Tudalen 84



 

Page | 51 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

▪ Enabling access to cognitive stimulation programmes, such as teaching and practising memory strategies, which 
can improve both cognitive function and quality of life.  

▪ Ensuring access to allied health professionals (such as physiotherapists and occupational therapists) and 
reablement / rehabilitation services to delay loss of skills and maintenance of life roles for longer. 

▪ Enabling access to assistive technology and / or equipment and making adaptations to the environment to 
maintain or improve a person’s independence, safety and wellbeing. 

▪ Provision of flexible, enabling and personalised respite support. 
▪ Ensuring access to advocacy support.  
▪ Work with social care, health services and housing providers and involve people with dementia, their families 

and carers to strengthen collaboration on a strategic approach to housing to enable people to stay in their homes.  
▪ Enable housing staff to access to training to assist them to support people with dementia.  

 
The need for increased support  
▪ Have specialist intensive support for a limited period of time, for example from social services, learning 

disability teams and/or community mental health teams with training and experience in crisis resolution 
support and meeting complex needs. 

▪ All carers will have reasonable breaks from their caring role to enable them to maintain their capacity to care, 
and to have a life beyond caring 

▪ Support for the carer can help to prevent crisis and help maintain their own physical and mental well-being as 
well as that of the person they are caring for. 

▪ Accommodate the needs of a person with dementia when they are in hospital, with flexibility to allow family 
members to support a person whilst in hospital if they wish. 

▪ When admitted to any hospital, individuals with dementia should have access to effective non-instructed 
advocacy or an Independent Mental Capacity Advocate (IMCA) and Independent Mental Health Advocate 
(IMHA) in the most appropriate manner depending on individual circumstances. 

▪ Ensure that the recommendations from the Royal College of Psychiatrists’ National audit of dementia in general 
hospitals are implemented, including instructing health boards and trusts to adopt the principles of ‘John’s 
Campaign’. 

▪ Expand the use of Dementia Care Mapping™ as an established approach to achieving and embedding person-
centred care for people with dementia and ensure health boards implement ‘Driver Diagram – Mental Health 
Inpatient Environments for people with dementia’.  

▪ Ensure older person mental health units have agreed care pathways for accessing regular physical healthcare. 
▪ Ensure that access to advocacy services and support is available to enable individuals to engage and participate 

when local authorities are exercising their statutory duties under the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 
2014. 

▪ Ensure the ‘teams around the individual’ discuss the importance of making advance decisions and ensure an 
agreed palliative care pathway is in place.  

▪ Identify professionals who would benefit from training in initiating serious illness conversations, and provide such 
training.  

 

 

Interdependencies 

This programme aligns with the connected communities programme, unpaid carers programme and core resource 
within Older Adult Mental Health Services, Community Resource Teams, and wider general hospital services. 
 

 

Interim Financial Model (Year 1 Only) 

Total cost of 
programme 

RIF Contribution 
Partner match 

monetary 
Partner match 

resource 
% support for 
unpaid carers 

% support for 
social value 

sector 

Tudalen 85



 

Page | 52 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

£1,555,994 £1,406,976 £0 £149,018 0% 16.83% 

 

 

Regional Investment Model 
Select the funding element which the project will be set against.  Repeat the table and rationale for each project 

Element 1 – Acceleration funding year 1 

✓ 

A small element of this funding is supporting care homes; due to ongoing recruitment and retention 
challenges a new model will be developed to provide support to care homes caring for those living 
with Dementia. 
 

Element 1 – Acceleration funding year 2 
 

 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 1 
 

 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 2 
 

 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 3 
 

 

Element 3 – Legacy fund 
 

 

Element 4 – National priorities (Dementia and Memory Assessment Services/Diagnostic support) 

✓ The majority of this programme is funded via the Dementia ringfenced funding. 
 

 

  

Tudalen 86



 

Page | 53 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 Strategic Outline Plan (Gwent refer as Programme, WG refer as Project) 
 SP12: Place Based Graduated Care 

 

Model of Care Alignment 

Community 
based care – 
prevention and 
community 
coordination 

Community 
base care – 
complex care 
closer to home 

Promoting good 
emotional 
health and 
wellbeing 

Supporting 
families to stay 
together safely 
and therapeutic 
support for care 
experienced 
children 

Home from 
hospital 

Accommodation 
based solutions 

 ✓   ✓ ✓ 

 

Programme Summary 

This programme focusses on providing right sized community services supporting people to maintain 
independence with seamless care delivered closer to home, allowing individuals to achieve their personal goals.   
Provided through two interlinked workstreams: Bed based intermediate care is provided in each of the Local 
Authorities through a series of Step Up / Step Downs services. These are supported through Community 
Intermediate Care schemes that focus on maintaining independence and improving the quality of life of those 
returning home following a period of care. 
 
Supporting the implementation of the D2RA Framework, the capacity enabled through this programme is 
intended to ensure people will only be in hospital if acutely unwell, maximising hospital capacity for people who 
require acute care and assessment, and will aid efficient flow through hospital and community services, with 
capacity being utilised for the right person at the right time.  This programme directly supports the Improving 
System Flow programme. 
 
‘Right sized’ community services supporting people to maintain independence with seamless care delivered closer 
to home, allowing individuals to achieve their personal goals and a true quality of life.   The model will be fit for 
the future, flexible to adapt to changing/growing demand. 
 
Community support services will be right sized (with the aim to discharge within 48 hours of being medically 
optimised, in line with the D2RA measures).  Where possible people will be supported to recover in their usual 
place of residence, accessing community-based care if needed. 
 
Community and discharge support services will be strengthened and redesigned to establish a model throughout 
the region that provides consistent person-centred outcomes, in line with the principles of A Healthier Wales and 
the Discharge to Recover then Assess model. 

 

Intended Outcomes 

Person Centred Outcomes ▪ People will not be unnecessarily referred to long term care due to 
deconditioning/delayed intervention 

▪ People’s experience will be optimised, being fully informed and 
supported in achieving their personal goals  

▪ People will not experience harm associated with deconditioning 
during avoidable time in a hospital bed 

Tudalen 87



 

Page | 54 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

▪ Through early transfer to reablement pathways the outcomes of 
recovery and reablement will be maximised, with people being 
supported to be as independent as possible 

System Outcomes/Benefits ▪ Reduced statutory services demand due to a reduction in avoidable 
deconditioning/deterioration 

▪ Reduction in people referred for long term care due to early 
intervention maximising capacity for people who require long term 
care 

▪ People will only be in hospital if acutely unwell, maximising hospital 
capacity for people who require acute care and assessment 

▪ There will be efficient flow through hospital and community 
services, with capacity being utilised for the right person at the right 
time 

 

Baseline Position 

Intermediate care is currently provided through two interlinked modalities. Bed based intermediate care is 

provided in each of the Local Authorities through a series of Step Up / Step Downs services. These are supported 

through Community Reablement schemes that focus on maintaining independence and improving the quality of 

life of those returning home following a period of care.    

The Place Based Graduated Care Programme is underpinned by the D2RA (Discharge to Recover then Assess) 

Model which provides a framework for integrated planning and delivery of community and hospital services.  

There are 5 pathways aligned to community-based care supporting admission avoidance and early discharge, as 

outlined in Figure 1 below: 

 

        Figure 1: Home First: The Discharge to Recover then Assess model (Wales) – 2021 
 

Quarterly reports are currently submitted for five key D2RA measures.  Summary data for January 2021 – 
December 2021 is outlined below.  In order to collect accurate information integrated data systems are required, 
which aligns with the Integrated Data Development Programme. 
 

Tudalen 88



 

Page | 55 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 
Measure 1: Number of People transferred on to each D2RA Pathway 

Pathway 0 Pathway 1 Pathway 2 Pathway 3 Pathway 4 Total 

2163 2125 3262 194 143 7887 

 
Measure 2: % of those transfers that took place within 48 hours of the decision being made (that they were 
ready for transfer from hospital to this pathway for supported recovery and assessment)  
We are currently unable to provide this information by pathway.  Figures are provided from complex list 
discharges (all pathways including D2RA), indicating 76% of patients are discharged from hospital within 48 hours 
of being ‘medically fit’ between January 2021 and December 2021, as shown in the table below: 
 

Number of individuals 
discharged within 48 hours of 

being medically fit 

Total number 

of discharges  

Percentage of individuals 
discharged within 48 

hours 

17245 22780 76 

 
Measure 3: % people transferred to a D2RA Pathway with a co-produced recovery plan in place  
A mechanism to capture this information is to be developed as part of ongoing work 
 
Measure 4: % people transferred out of the D2RA Pathway to their usual place of residence  

Pathway 0 Pathway 1 Pathway 2 Pathway 3 Pathway 4 

tbc 65% 54% 59%* tbc 
  *Data currently does not include community hospital beds 
 

 Measure 5: % people readmitted to hospital within 28 days  

Pathway 0 Pathway 1 Pathway 2 Pathway 3 Pathway 4 

tbc tbc 5% 6% 13% 
 

 

Key Enablers 

Workforce Development & 
Integration 

Linking with the workforce development programme a recruitment, 
retention and training plan will be developed to support a resilient and 
right sourced workforce for Place Based Graduated Care supporting, 
reviewing skills needed for example Occupational Therapy capacity. 

Integrated Planning & Commissioning An overview of SLA’s will be undertaken as part of the Improving System 
Flow programme to identify third sector services supporting discharge. 

Technology & Digital Solutions The use of assistive technology to support independence at home will be 

explored in conjunction with the Assistive Technology Programme, which 

will in turn support admission avoidance or early discharge. 

Shared information between services will support the goal of integrated 
working, and seamless care for the individual. 

Capital Infrastructure Accommodation based solutions such as rapid home adaptations to aid 
discharge, independent living facilities with integrated wrap around care 
and purpose-built intermediate care facilities will be considered. 

Social Value Sector The Third Sector will be key partners supporting the Place Based 
Graduated Care Programme to achieve optimal person-centred 
outcomes.  Through SLA’s Third sector services currently support hospital 
avoidance and patient discharge, including providing some intermediate 

Tudalen 89



 

Page | 56 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

care services, which will be reviewed and expanded upon as part of the 
programme. 

 

Priority Population Groups   

 Primary Beneficiary Secondary Beneficiary 

Older people with complex needs ✓  

People with Dementia ✓  

Unpaid Carers, inc. Young Carers  ✓ 

Children with Complex Needs   

People with emotional and mental health wellbeing needs   

People with Learning Disability and Neurodevelopmental 
conditions 

  

 

Development Approach 

The Place Based Graduated Care Programme aligns with the Home from Hospital model of care, the six goals for 
urgent and emergency and urgent care (Goal 6 - Home First Approach and reduce the risk of readmission) and the 
Home First: Discharge to Recover then Assess (D2RA) model.  The programme focuses on the community 
infrastructure to support patients to be discharged from hospital once acute medical treatment has finished and 
to recover in the community, prior to any long-term decisions about care being undertaken. 
 
The Place Based Graduated Care programme is closely interlinked with the Improving system Flow Programme as 
part of a Whole System Approach supporting the Home from Hospital model of care.  The Improving System Flow 
programme supports pathways 0 and 1, along with discharge co-ordination.  
 
The programme supports the four key principles of the D2RA model: 

1. Think ‘Home First’ and keep the individual at the centre of all discharge considerations. 
2. Balance risk and agree co-produced, clearly documented plans. 
3. Have the community services infrastructure in place 
4. Communicate. 

 
A phased approach will be taken for the Place Based Graduated Care programme.  During the first year the 
capacity for community services and infrastructure to support discharge will be co-produced and redesigned.   
Areas of work that are providing good outcomes for individuals will be embedded, and a new model for graduated 
discharge support throughout the region will be developed.  A benefits realisation plan will be developed to 
ensure that the programme is providing good person-centred outcomes for individuals based on What Matters to 
You conversations.  During the following years of the programme the new model for discharge support will be 
implemented and evaluated to ensure the programme is working optimally to support person-centred outcomes 
for people in the Gwent region. 
 
The programme will work to support pathway 2 (recovery at home) by mapping capacity in community services, 
that support hospital discharge and admission avoidance, including current SLA’s and those that are not directly 
commissioned by health and social care (in line with the Improving System Flow Programme).  This will allow good 
practice to be identified and shared across the region, as well as any gaps in the system to ensure equity across 
the region.  This work will also consider capacity for pathway 4 (in reach recovery support to a patient’s current 
care home).  Interlinking with the Assistive Technology and Capital programmes consideration will be given to how 

Tudalen 90



 

Page | 57 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

assistive technology and rapid home adaptations can help people recover and remain/regain independence once 
discharged from hospital.   
 
The programme will also refine and redesign the model for pathway 3 (bedded intermediate care services). Step 
up/Step Down beds are currently available in each locality, however a review will be undertaken to identify any 
gaps or areas of good practice.  Working in conjunction with the Capital programme a review of the development 
of further intermediate care facilities will be considered.  Transfer to the pathways will be based around What 
Matters to Me conversations.  Where bedded intermediate care is required there will be a continued focus on 
people being transferred and supported to recover at home as soon as possible.   
 
Working in line with the rolling engagement strategy to be undertaken as part of the Improving System Flow 
programme of work it is the intention to raise awareness of staff of the community options available for 
individuals, supporting conversations with individuals and their families and ensuring a patient’s pathway is 
seamless as they move to different areas for support.   
  
The Place Based Graduated Care programme will work and interlink with other core workstreams that are being 
undertaken such as the COTE/Frailty pathway review, and the Direct Admission pathway 

 

Interdependencies 

The Place Based Graduated Care programme is closely linked to the Improving System Flow Programme as part of 
a Whole System Approach supporting the Home from Hospital model of care.  It also links with the Unpaid Carers 
Programme, supporting Unpaid Carers and those cared for through hospital discharge. 
 
The work of the Integrated Data Development Programme, Workforce Programme and Assistive Technology 
Programmes will be key enablers in supporting this Programme. 
 
The Place Based Graduated Care Programme also links with core workstreams that are being undertaken such as 
the COTE/Frailty Pathway review and the Direct Admission Pathway. 

 

Interim Financial Model (Year 1 Only) 

Total cost of 
programme 

RIF Contribution 
Partner match 

monetary 
Partner match 

resource 
% support for 
unpaid carers 

% support for 
social value 

sector 

£8,874,497 £6,394,640 £0 £2,479,857 0% 0% 

 

Regional Investment Model 
Select the funding element which the project will be set against.  Repeat the table and rationale for each project 

Element 1 – Acceleration funding year 1 

✓ 

This refreshed programme will introduce streamlined and seamless pathway of care, enabling care 
closer to home.  A model of graduated care will be established across the region, providing 
consistency and shared understanding of the community care available.  Mechanisms to understand 
capacity across the system, and support effective care planning will closely align with the 
redevelopment of the Improving System Flow programme. 
 

Element 1 – Acceleration funding year 2 
 

N/A 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 1 
 

N/A 

Tudalen 91



 

Page | 58 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 2 
 

N/A 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 3 
 

N/A 

Element 3 – Legacy fund 
 

N/A 

Element 4 – National priorities (Dementia and Memory Assessment Services/Diagnostic support) 
 

N/A 

 

  

Tudalen 92



 

Page | 59 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 Strategic Outline Plan (Gwent refer as Programme, WG refer as Project) 
 SP16: Transition 

 

Model of Care Alignment 

Community 
based care – 
prevention and 
community 
coordination 

Community 
base care – 
complex care 
closer to home 

Promoting good 
emotional 
health and 
wellbeing 

Supporting 
families to stay 
together safely 
and therapeutic 
support for care 
experienced 
children 

Home from 
hospital 

Accommodation 
based solutions 

 ✓ ✓ ✓   

 

Programme Summary 

The programme will focus on the development a regional transition strategy to ensure a whole system approach 
to the planning and support provided to children and their families experiencing transition.  Whole system 
mapping will be undertaken to ensure opportunities and bottlenecks are address, and learning responded to 
across the system. 
 
The ethos of the programme is to foster independency over dependency; ensure the system works well enough so 
different needs of the individuals across adult and child services are met. 

 

Intended Outcomes 

Person Centred Outcomes ▪ People will feel supported and fully informed when transitioning 
between services 

▪ Individuals have access to equitable services and adequate 
specialist support. 

▪ Develop a clear pathway of support through transition. 
▪ Individuals care and treatment continues, with no unintended 

deterioration in their personal health or wellbeing  
▪ People’s health and social care needs are fully met, with no-one 

‘falling through the gaps’ 
 

System Outcomes/Benefits ▪ Staff will be upskilled and fully aware of pathways/processes for 
transition and are empowered to support people on their journey 

▪ Through ensuring individuals transition smoothly and care is 
ongoing there will be no ‘unexpected’ future demand due to 
deterioration of conditions. 

▪ The system demonstrates quality and synergy of transition services 
▪ Transition to be viewed as a priority throughout the system and not 

just an afterthought. 
 

 

Baseline Position 

Becoming an adult isn’t just an event, it’s a process full of decisions and lots of changes. For young people getting 
support from healthcare services, the move from child services to adult services is part of this process. (Transition 

Tudalen 93



 

Page | 60 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

Handover & Guidance WG 2020); Young people are all different, they all grow up in different ways. So, the best time 
for a person to move to adult services could be different to someone else. It’s not just about age, it’s about being 
able to show that a person:  

▪ Understands their care needs  
▪ Understand what needs to happen 
▪ Can give consent 

 
Joining up and integrating services is a challenge, for example, when people leave school or college, support may 
vanish.  When services are not available, and a person’s needs are not being met, this can result in escalation of the 
original presenting issues forcing them to access primary/emergency services. The transition programme will be 
further developed to help prevent and relieve pressures on primary services and make sure that the services offered 
are joined up, consistent and equitable for all, across the Gwent Region. 
 
From extensive early scoping work in the development of this programmes a number of barriers to streamlined 
transition arrangements have been identified.   
 
It is perceived that there is currently a level of duplication within transition, the main egress that arises is the 
duplication or repeated assessments an individual must complete whilst navigating the transition service, resulting 
in ‘Assessment Fatigue’.   Complex cases also don’t neatly align with one single pathway, which impacts the number 
of processes currently undertaken; this is an example of one of many areas of variation within current transition 
arrangements across statutory agencies within Gwent. 
 
Organisations in Gwent have a varying degree of dedicated process and capacity for transition; some areas having 
a more generalist approach where transition is part of wider working, or other areas where dedicated staff and/or 
small teams support this specific cohort of individuals. 
 

 

Key Enablers 

Workforce Development & 
Integration 

▪ An understanding of current transition resource and requirements for 
additional staff to support transition will be developed as part of the 
mapping and planning phases. 

▪ Upskilling staff to enable better retention. 
▪ Embed appropriate training with workforces in strategic/ operational 

levels. 
▪ Revision and agreement of current resource with exploration into 

alignment across services, throughout health, social care, education & 
housing 

▪ Established connectivity between health, social care, housing & 
education workforces to ensure a coordinated response for families.  
 

Integrated Planning & Commissioning ▪ Delivering on the developed strategies to undertake transformation of 
the transition services. 

▪ To work on the ground at grass roots with services to help them 
develop and implement any changes laid out in the strategies. 

▪ Implement an integrated approach across services and organisations 
to ensure individuals, their families and carers are given the right 
equitable support throughout transition. 

▪ Working with organisations to commission and implement the suite of 
services agreed to take forward. 

Tudalen 94



 

Page | 61 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

▪ Revision of current SLA’s - By linking in with divisions/organisations a 
review of all current SLA’s will be undertaken including core funded, 
partnership funded, WG funded SLA’. 
 

Technology & Digital Solutions ▪ Explore integrated data systems that would assist shared transition 
planning across agencies. 

▪ Expand and exploring opportunities of assistive technology that may 
benefit transition and may help promote independence for individuals 
in the transition service.  

Capital Infrastructure ▪ Regional facilities providing support during transition, to develop 
independent living skills, training flats, etc. 
  

Social Value Sector ▪ The Social Value Sector will be a key consideration of available and 
future transition support.  Where an integrated MDT approach to 
transition will be developed through the course of the programme. 

 

Priority Population Groups   

 Primary Beneficiary Secondary Beneficiary 

Older people with complex needs   

People with Dementia   

Unpaid Carers, inc. Young Carers  ✓ 

Children with Complex Needs  ✓ 

People with emotional and mental health wellbeing needs  ✓ 

People with Learning Disability and Neurodevelopmental 
conditions 

✓  

 

Development Approach 

The future vision as set out in A Healthier Wales (2018) focuses on a ‘Whole System Approach’ to health and social 
care’ focused on health and wellbeing and preventing illness. The ambition in line with A Healthier Wales (2018) & 
Learning Disability Improving Lives (2018), is to strengthen services across all sectors for individuals their families, 
and carers, navigating the transition services by increasing community integration and improving planning and 
funding systems, to reduce preventable health inequalities making sure they have access to equitable opportunities 
and can take more responsibility for their own health and wellbeing, through the ‘whole system approach’. 
 
We know that points of transition and change can be anxiety provoking, so ensuring we support these points are 
crucial especially when children’s services are starting to align in this way. The continuity of experience and 
sequencing of interventions we provide need to be joined up, so the system doesn’t make things worse for people 
in the long term. 
 
In transition we are trying to foster independency over dependency but in order to do this we need to ensure the 
system works well enough so that all the different needs of the individuals across adult and child services are still 
met.  

Tudalen 95



 

Page | 62 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 
Using the 5 principles set out in the ‘Moving from children’s 
to adult’s services handover guidance (2020)’, we will work 
with all services engaged with young people expiring 
transition so that processes are consistent and seamless. 
Through mapping current services and developing the 
strategies to implement effective change throughout the 
transition system. we will improve collaboration efforts with 
other organisation and enhance our information sharing 
which will help ensure that the needs of the people are 
identified early, and the right support is put in place to 
produce positive outcomes. (Additional Learning Needs 
[ALN] Act 2018). 
 
The programme will be developed and implemented within three phases: 
 
Phase 1 – focussing on system mapping, benchmarking, and research, which will be undertaken to map out current 
transition resource available within the system.  Evidence will be captured as to how the system for transition is 
configured within each service area, where the gaps in services occur and identify where bottlenecks may exist as 
barriers to seamless transition.   
 
Evidence gathered will be collated and reviewed and the findings will be written up and shared with relevant key 
stakeholders.   Current standard operating procedures (SOPs), policies and procedures will be gathered and 
reviewed from each organisation as each area has their own policies to follow which makes transition across services 
difficult to navigate.  It is the plan to create an overarching strategy for transition where there are streamlined SOPs, 
policies and procedures dedicated to transition. 
 
Phase 2 – Will focus on areas for improvement, which will then feed into the development of the proposed 
strategies for; transition between children and adults service and for vulnerable adults who fall between services 
as they don’t meet the relevant criteria for a particular service.  This will outline and shape how the changes will be 
taken forward and create the vision of how transition will work in the improved model. 
 
The strategies will be coproduced with key stakeholders and all areas and aspects highlighted for change or 
realignment will need to be agreed and signed off by all involved before moving on to the next phase.  
 
Consultation will take place with individuals once the strategies have been developed for agreement and sign off. 
Agreement across services and from all stakeholders is paramount to the success of creating a seamless transition 
service so that individuals feel empowered and involved in the changes that will take place. 
 
Within this phase we will explore the opportunities of utilising any new technology and assistive technology that 
can support the transition process and future independence.  
 
Phase 3 - Implement the changes needed to ensure a seamless transition strategy is adopted across the region and 
any necessary reengineering of the transition system is undertaken. 
 
A nominated service area will be identified so that a Deming cycle can be implemented so change and realignment 
can be carried out on a smaller scale so that the proposed changes can be documented to measure the impact of 
the changes and the reengineering of the services.  By doing this we can review the outcomes of the small scale 
changes and reengineering and make any necessary adaptations to the process of change prior to wider 
implementation.   
 
An implementation plan will be developed to ensure sequential adoption of change across all transition services. 

Tudalen 96



 

Page | 63 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 
A communication tool will be produced for signposting and to raise awareness of services. Throughout the process 
there will be review gates allocated for analysis and to sense check all findings and documentation and progress.   
 
Within transition there will be an awareness of the children and families’ services and how they work under the 
nest framework. The shared value base this framework provides helps to focus services on the same priorities that 
are person led and person centred. 
 

 

Interdependencies 

NEST implementation plan 
Children services across health and social care 
Assistive technology programme 
LD wellbeing programme 
Emotional and mental health wellbeing programme 

 

Interim Financial Model (Year 1 Only) 

Total cost of 
programme 

RIF Contribution 
Partner match 

monetary 
Partner match 

resource 
% support for 
unpaid carers 

% support for 
social value 

sector 

£509,471 £366,904 £0 £142,567 0% 0% 

 

Regional Investment Model 
Select the funding element which the project will be set against.  Repeat the table and rationale for each project 

Element 1 – Acceleration funding year 1 

✓ 

Capacity was initially enabled via the Integrated Care Fund to introduce dedicated transition works 
in parts of the region.  This programme has a new focus to develop a regional transition strategy, 
and an agreement programme of transformation to align/re-engineer the system to implement 
seamless transition pathways. 
 

Element 1 – Acceleration funding year 2 
 

N/A 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 1 
 

N/A 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 2 
 

N/A 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 3 
 

N/A 

Element 3 – Legacy fund 
 

N/A 

Element 4 – National priorities (Dementia and Memory Assessment Services/Diagnostic support) 
 

N/A 

 

  

Tudalen 97



 

Page | 64 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 Strategic Outline Plan (Gwent refer as Programme, WG refer as Project) 
 SP17: Assistive Technology 

 

Model of Care Alignment 

Community 
based care – 
prevention and 
community 
coordination 

Community 
base care – 
complex care 
closer to home 

Promoting good 
emotional 
health and 
wellbeing 

Supporting 
families to stay 
together safely 
and therapeutic 
support for care 
experienced 
children 

Home from 
hospital 

Accommodation 
based solutions 

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

 

Programme Summary 

The Assistive Technology Programme seeks to maximise the use and impact of Technology Enabled Care solutions 
to improve health and wellbeing outcomes, maintain independence for as long as possible, and support 
transformation of models of care. 
 
The programme will facilitate development and sharing of learning across the partnership, supported by an 
evaluation framework to ensure future investments and expansion of Technology Enabled Care solutions are 
made in the right areas with impact and learning maximised. 
 
The programme provides the space and capacity to capture, promote and deliver evidence-based AT products 
consistently across Gwent and explore, with all sectors, how technology can transform and support the delivery of 
technology-enabled care which based around the person. 
 
Maximise the use and impact of Technology Enabled Care solutions to improve health and wellbeing outcomes, 
maintain independence for as long as possible, and support transformation of models of care. 
 
Develop and share learning in partnership, supported by an evaluation framework to ensure future investments 
and expansion of Technology Enabled Care solutions are made in the right areas with impact and learning 
maximised. 
 
Provide the space and capacity to capture, promote and deliver evidence-based AT products consistently across 
Gwent and explore, with all sectors, how technology can transform and support the delivery of technology-
enabled care which based around the person. 

 

Intended Outcomes 

Person Centred Outcomes ▪ People will have various AT products available depending on their 
needs 

▪ People will be supported to remain independent and at home where 
possible 

▪ AT considered as part of individual care plans 
▪ Supporting people early to ease condition development and improve 

familiarisation with AT products 

Tudalen 98



 

Page | 65 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

▪ Improving access to assistive technology and/or equipment and 
making adaptations to the environment to maintain or improve a 
person’s independence, safety and wellbeing 

System Outcomes/Benefits ▪ Awareness of AT products for specific conditions and prevention  
▪ Evaluation Framework 
▪ Local, regional and national AT collaboration 
▪ Central Resource including AT product database 
▪ Shared knowledge and good practice 
▪ Development of digital skills, inclusion and confidence 
▪ Re-imaging the delivery of care using AT 
▪ Awareness of new AT products and developments 
▪ Improved digital skills and confidence of staff 
▪ Shared vision of AT delivery across Gwent 
▪ Pathway development and consideration of AT within care planning 
▪ Awareness of ethical/duty of care considerations and the new LPS 

(Liberty Protection Protocols)  
▪ Equity of funding considerations 
▪ Good practice sharing and events 
▪ Lessons learned 
▪ Expanding AT awareness to existing and new networks 
▪ Mapping of touchpoints where AT products are prescribed  
▪ Consistent documentation to support safe deployment of AT 

products 
▪ Support AT delivery for each county to deliver devices and upskilling 

staff 
▪ Regional showcase events  

 

Baseline Position 

Technology continues to play an increasing role within the daily lives of most people.  The pandemic further 
increased the speed of adoption as many people relied on technology to keep in touch, order supplies and access 
appointments.  Technology also plays an expanding role within the provision of care, which has the potential to 
both improve the quality of life and the delivery of care. While AT is not new it is advancing and evolving quickly 
with significant opportunities to transform how support and care are provided.   
 
It is crucial that knowledge and learning are shared, that new ideas are embraced and evaluated to ensure that 
the people of Gwent are aware, supported and able to use technology that has the potential to significantly 
transform lives and the provision of care. 
 
Locally, organisations across Gwent continue to innovate and use AT products in ways that are making a positive 
difference.  Over the last four years of AT development within the ICF programme the understanding and 
potential impact of AT products has grown and the mostly anecdotal impact, encouraging.  In the lifecycle of the 
programme the baseline position is currently in the Discovery phase: 

 

Discovery Definition Delivery Maturity

Tudalen 99



 

Page | 66 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

Discovery – Mapping Current Activity / Identifying Stakeholders / Capturing Existing Capacity 
Definition – Co-producing Programme Definition / Establishing Communication Structures / Defining and Agreeing 
on Strategy  
Delivery – Delivering Strategy / Monitoring Progress / Capturing and Sharing Learning / Providing Platform for 
Delivery 
Maturity – Platform Used to Continue Delivery and Development / Continued Sharing of Learning / Collaboration 
across Regions 

 

 

Key Enablers 

Workforce Development & 
Integration 

AT products are being used across all sectors in Gwent and through 
existing networks key stakeholders are learning from each other, 
however, there is not currently a mechanism for integrated planning and 
commissioning.  When considering telehealth, for example, the provision 
is not currently consistent across all five of the local authority areas.   

Integrated Planning & Commissioning The programme is built on the provision of technology and digital 
solutions as an enabler to delivery and success. 

Technology & Digital Solutions The social value sector plays a crucial role within the AT space.  Housing 
associations, charities and other organisations all use AT in various ways 
and are an integral part of the programme.  When considering a whole 
system and person-centred approach they will continue to be an 
important cog in the wheel of AT delivery and success in Gwent.   

Capital Infrastructure Capital is required to facilitate the testing of AT products and provide the 
funding required to implement innovative and non-innovative AT 
solutions.  Non-innovative solutions are those available from shops 
online and offline such as Google, Amazon, Apple and associated 
connected products that are considered smart. 

Social Value Sector Assistive Technology can only be deployed successfully if there are 
several components: 

• Workforce digital skills and confidence of the people using them 

• Awareness of AT products and their use 

• Quality internet connection where required 

• Time to integrate AT into the service provided 
The programme will support the awareness of AT, promote digital skills 
and confidence while providing guidance and support wherever possible.  

 

Priority Population Groups   

 Primary Beneficiary Secondary Beneficiary 

Older people with complex needs ✓  

People with Dementia ✓  

Unpaid Carers, inc. Young Carers ✓  

Children with Complex Needs ✓  

People with emotional and mental health wellbeing needs ✓  

People with Learning Disability and Neurodevelopmental 
conditions 

✓  

 

Tudalen 100



 

Page | 67 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

Where applicable, provide details on any additional population groups this programme will support: 

Assistive Technology can be specifically designed for a condition, or it can be universal.  This programme will look 
to support and tackle some other population groups in line with the biggest health challenges within Gwent 
including Dementia, mental health, diabetes and heart disease.  The programme will also work with all other 
regional strategic programmes. 

 

Development Approach 

The transformation ambition is to create an AT centre of excellence within Gwent that collates AT information for 
partners both within the region and outside and inspires AT use.  The centre will drive AT innovation, share good 
practices, and create a testbed to evaluate new products and developments.  
 
At the heart of the programme is the ambition to use technology safely and appropriately to improve health 
outcomes, ease carer burden and maintain or improve independence.   AT can help prevent and support many 
conditions and health aims, including but not limited to those shown in this diagram: 

 

 
 
Assistive Technology supports A Healthier Wales future ambitions for health and social care through the 
Quadruple Aim: 

 

“We will make Wales a great place to work in health and social care, and we will do more to support carers and 
volunteers. We will invest in new technology which will make a real difference to keeping people well and help 
our staff to work better. 

Assistive 
Technology 

(AT)

Monitors 
Health Signs

Eases 
Agitation and 

Anxiety

Provides 
Feedback and 

Tracking

Stimulates  

Saves Money

Eases Carer 
Burden

Increases 
Congnition 

and Function

Eases 
Lonelines

Care at or 
Closer to 

Home

Supports 
Independence

1.Supporting people to 
stay well and not just 
when they become ill

Products and 
interventions that are 

the best fit for the 
person

Interventions to take 
pressure off hospitals 

and increase 
independence

Using latest technology 
to help people get 

better or live the best 
life possible

Tudalen 101



 

Page | 68 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

Gov.wales. 2019. A Health Wales: our Plan for Health and Social Care. [online]  
Available at: <https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-10/a-healthier-wales-action-plan.pdf>  

[Accessed 16 March 2022] 

 
Learning from the use and rollout of AT products previously it is crucial that moving forward, testing, evaluation 
and development is built into the delivery of the AT programme.  The programme will develop a relationship with 
a research partner, potentially TEC Cymru, to support evaluation.   
 

Value-based health care is a transformation approach to designing and delivering care solutions that offer 
the greatest value to a person receiving them at the lowest possible cost to health and social care systems. 
 

Life Science Hub Website Accessed 14/03/2022 

 
The value-based healthcare approach will be used when developing and evaluating products to ensure prudent 
use of any funds available.  The programme will  
 
The AT development approach will include key components: 
 

 
 
 

Data-driven 
The development approach will be built on data collated from partners across all sectors and what is available in 
each of the five counties.  Mapping of availability and use across Gwent will provide the necessary data to drive 
decision making and funding of AT products.  Where possible, opportunities will be taken to procure jointly.    
 
Measuring Outcomes 
Measuring and evaluating outcomes is a key missing cog in the wheel.  While there are many AT products 
available (currently a locally developed database of over 250) not many have been evaluated locally. This has led 
to a variation in the availability of AT products across Gwent.  The programme will measure outcomes of chosen 
AT products and use this as a basis to roll out to ensure equity of access in all five counties. 

 

Co-production 

The Social Services Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 and Wellbeing of Future Generations Act 2015 require an 
emphasis on co-production and the promotion of personal wellbeing.  
 

Equity Across Gwent 
(Continued Monitoring and Feedback)

Evaluation

Testing

AT 
Products 

Suggestions

Tudalen 102



 

Page | 69 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

The sheer volume of AT products available makes it difficult for one organisation to know everything.  TEC Cymru, 
Life Science Hub Wales, Health Education and Improvement Wales are all active within this space and keen to 
collaborate.  Working together will benefit all stakeholders and build a strong AT and Technology Enables Care 
partnership.  
 
Regional, local and national co-production will be embedded within the development and delivery of the 
programme.  This will be achieved through a Gwent AT Steering Group which currently meets to share existing 
projects and communicate through appropriate channels including the RPB website and social media and through 
wider AT networks or groups.  
 
This model of co-production will be used to facilitate conversation and delivery: 

 
The AT programme will work with all programmes and co-produce a plan for each to discover how AT can support 
delivery.  

 

Interdependencies 

 

 

Interim Financial Model (Year 1 Only) 

Total cost of 
programme 

RIF Contribution 
Partner match 

monetary 
Partner match 

resource 
% support for 
unpaid carers 

% support for 
social value 

sector 

£419,859 £273,895 £0 £145,964 0% 0% 

 

Regional Investment Model 
Select the funding element which the project will be set against.  Repeat the table and rationale for each project 

Element 1 – Acceleration funding year 1 

✓ 
A pilot project enabled by the Integrated Care Fund to explore the implementation of single handed 
equipment, along with use of capital funding to test and implement assistive technologies, this new 
regional programme provides the structure and evaluation mechanisms necessary to foster 

Tudalen 103



 

Page | 70 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

Technology Enabled Care as solutions to maintaining and/or improving independence and and 
wellbeing. 
 
Working closely with the Life Sciences Hub, this programme will support shared learning wider than 
Gwent. 
 

Element 1 – Acceleration funding year 2 
 

 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 1 
 

 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 2 
 

 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 3 
 

 

Element 3 – Legacy fund 
 

 

Element 4 – National priorities (Dementia and Memory Assessment Services/Diagnostic support) 
 

 

 

Tudalen 104



 

Page | 71 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

Model of Care Investment Proposal 
EMOTIONAL HEALTH & WELLBEING 

 

 

Strategic Vision 

To empower individuals to manage their own emotional health and wellbeing, and understand where they can 
access support and materials, to prevent the escalation of poor emotional and mental health wellbeing. 

To have successfully embedded the 8 pillars of the NEST framework across children’s services, and to consider it’s 
application or similar frameworks across wider service areas; recognising the importance of an individuals informal 
and formal system of support, to be identified and connected. 

 

 

Case for Change 
Mental health affects everyone as it includes emotional, psychological, and social well-being. It affects how we 
think, feel, and act.  It helps determine how we handle stress, relate to others, and make life choices.  Mental health 
is important at every stage of life, from childhood and adolescence through to adulthood.  A quarter of people will 
experience mental health issues or illness at some point during their lifetime, often facing discrimination and stigma 
and affecting the people around them. 
 
Research was completed in 2020/2021 by a range of partners from ABUHB, Swansea and Cardiff University, ‘The 
influence of the COVID-19 pandemic on mental wellbeing and psychological distress: A comparison across time’.  This 
research highlighted the impact the pandemic has likely had on psychological wellbeing and the mental health of 
many people. It was found that there was an increase in clinically significant levels of psychological distress in Wales, 
particularly in younger adults, women, and those from areas of greater deprivation.   
 

 

Key Enablers 
Integrated Planning and Commissioning 

 N/A 
 

Technology enabled care 

✓ 
Ensuring digital platforms are maximised to support wider accessibility to self-help materials, 
resources, and awareness of the network of support available. 
 

Promoting the social value sector 

✓ Ensuring third sector partners are an integral part of our system so we maximise community 
accessibility as part of the prevention agenda  

Integrated Community Hubs 

✓ As described within the Connected Communities programme 
 

Workforce development and integration 

✓ 

▪ Ensure training with workforces in strategic/ operational levels around the NEST framework 
and their contribution to the whole system.  

▪ Adopting the Connect 5 Foundation Tier training programme across all sectors, supporting 
recipients of training to identify their own wellbeing needs, and support peers. 

▪ Collaborating to establish ways we can collectively promote good Emotional Health and 
Wellbeing.  

 

Tudalen 105



 

Page | 72 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 
 

Priority Population Groups 
 Primary 

Beneficiary 
Secondary 
Beneficiary 

DAP 

Older people including people with dementia 

   N/A 
 

Children and young people with complex needs 

✓   

Children will understand the support available to them, and their support 
networks will embody the principles of the NEST framework ensuring a 
holistic approach to a young person’s care needs, and support available to 
both the child and their trusted adult when needed. 
 

People with learning disabilities and neurodevelopment conditions, 
including autism 

   
N/A 
 

Unpaid carers 
   N/A 

 

People with emotional and mental health wellbeing needs 

✓   
All individuals, including the vulnerable cohorts identified within guidance, 
will be empowered to manage their own emotional and mental health 
wellbeing needs via a range of resources and materials.  
 

Other beneficiaries    

N/A 

 
 

Total programme cost and match funding 

Total cost of 
programme 

Welsh 
Government 
contribution 

Partner 
monetary match 

Partner 
resource match 

% support for 
unpaid carers 

% for social 
value sector 

delivery 

£1,908,927 £1,677,683 £0 £231,244 0% 45.13% 

 
Programme management resources to be confirmed.  

Tudalen 106



 

Page | 73 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 Strategic Outline Plan (Gwent refer as Programme, WG refer as Project) 
 SP05: Children’s Emotional Health & Wellbeing 

 

Model of Care Alignment 

Community 
based care – 
prevention and 
community 
coordination 

Community 
base care – 
complex care 
closer to home 

Promoting good 
emotional 
health and 
wellbeing 

Supporting 
families to stay 
together safely 
and therapeutic 
support for care 
experienced 
children 

Home from 
hospital 

Accommodation 
based solutions 

✓  ✓    

 

Programme Summary 

Building on the success of the Iceberg Programme, this refreshed programme focusses on reviewing local 
innovation and scaling up good practice to a regional level.  It will improve alignment of current services to ensure 
sequencing of intervention that’s driven by need and enhance our Single Point of Access system to embed our ‘no 
wrong door’ principle across the whole system. 
 
Addressing the above will ensure early and right support will help our children/young people fulfil their life 
potential and become resilient adults. 
 
A seamless and more ‘joined up’ mental health and emotional wellbeing system that has a focus on early 
intervention, therapeutic support and prevention. 
 
Reviewing local innovation and scaling up good practice to a regional level. 
- Improve alignment of current services to ensure sequencing of intervention that’s driven by need.  
-Enhance our Single Point of Access system to embed our ‘no wrong door’ principle across the whole system. 
 
To move beyond our current ‘known’ setup of health, social care and third sector working in partnership towards 
a wellness system that isn’t just about service delivery, but reflects what matters, with enough flexibility to meet 
the needs of people moving through it. 

 

Intended Outcomes 

Person Centred Outcomes Early and right support will help our children/young people fulfil their life 
potential and become resilient adults. 
 

System Outcomes/Benefits Establish a whole system response that prevents duplication and 
escalation.  
 

 

Baseline Position 

The original purpose of the ‘Iceberg’ programme was to redraft the landscape of multi-agency provision to 
support the mental health and emotional wellbeing of children, young people and their families across the greater 
Gwent region.  In line with the principles set out in A Healthier Wales, the programme aimed to introduce a 
transformative, high-value, evidence-driven and seamless system of community-based care and support with 

Tudalen 107



 

Page | 74 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

multi-agency collaboration at its heart.  The model aspired to deliver a whole-systems approach from early 
intervention and prevention through to highly specialist provision. 

 

The programme was based on the ‘Iceberg model’, a conceptual framework grounded in key principles: 

• Culture change: the recognition that all services and front line staff have a significant part to play in 
prevention and intervention (at all levels, from early help to highly specialist intervention) with our most 
vulnerable children and families. 

• Moving from a ’refer on’ to a ‘support in’ culture: supporting the existing relationships in a child’s life, as 
these can make the biggest difference, by making specialist clinical expertise more accessible to the adults 
best-placed to support children and effect change. 

• Ensuring that support for children is grounded in psychological understanding, with emphasis on the 
importance of relationships and ACEs. 

• Partnership working: planning service developments in partnership and moving at a ’casework’ level from 
‘silo’, single-agency responses to co-ordinated, multi-agency approaches. 
 

Regarding key resources and activities, the Transformation Grant resource was used to implement a number of 
inter-connected workstreams, which complemented other core- and grant-funded initiatives:  

• Platfform 4YP, a peer support service;  

• the Family Intervention Team (FIT), providing brief, psychological formulation-based interventions;  

• Gwent Community Psychology (GCP), supporting culture change and improving access to specialist 
‘support in’ for frontline staff;  

• the provision of ‘drop-in’ support clinics by School Nurses;  

• Gwent Parent-Infant Mental Health Service (G-PIMHS), providing support and training to early years staff 
as well as direct therapeutic provision;  

• the whole-schools approach team (WSA), supporting whole-school approached to improved mental 
health and wellbeing;  

• regional leadership roles for My Support Team (MyST), a mental health service for children looked after in 
Gwent; and  

• Capacity to support the Gwent Single Point of Access for Children’s Emotional wellbeing (SPACE-
Wellbeing) model. 
 

The following provisions have now been developed sufficiently that they are now core funded by Health and/or 

Social Care, including;  

• Gwent Community Psychology (GCP), supporting culture change and improving access to specialist 
‘support in’ for frontline staff;  

• the provision of ‘drop-in’ support clinics by School Nurses;  

• Gwent Parent-Infant Mental Health Service (G-PIMHS), providing support and training to early years staff 
as well as direct therapeutic provision;  

• the whole-schools approach team (WSA), supporting whole-school approached to improved mental 
health and wellbeing;  
 

Core capacity to support the Gwent Single Point of Access for Children’s Emotional wellbeing (SPACE-Wellbeing) 
model (although due to the spike in referrals because of the COVID 19 pandemic, referrals have increased 
significantly leading to a need for additional capacity. 
 
PNA feedback on what we can do to improve wellbeing in Gwent in the future highlighted schools as a tool that 
can be utilised by local communities for groups to meet and more community classes to be held.  Schools are very 
much seen as a positive way to engage with our local residents too. It was also suggested more youth activities 
will help improve mental wellbeing of teenagers. 
 

Tudalen 108



 

Page | 75 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

The PNA identified children and young people in contact with the youth justice system  may have more health and 
wellbeing needs than other children of their age.  They have often missed out on early attention to these needs.  
The frequently face a range of other, often entrenched difficulties, including school exclusion, fragmented family 
relationships, bereavement, unstable living conditions, and poor or harmful parenting that might be linked to 
parental poverty, substance misuse and mental health problems.  
 
For vulnerable children and young people, wellbeing is about strengthening the protective factors in their life and 
improving their resilience to the risk factors and setbacks that feature so largely and are likely to have a continuing 
adverse impact on their long term development. 

 

Key Enablers 

Workforce Development & 
Integration 

Ensure training with workforces in strategic/ operational levels around 
the NEST framework and their contribution to the whole system. 
Collaborating to establish ways we can collectively promote good 
Emotional Health and Wellbeing.  
 

Integrated Planning & Commissioning Revision of current SLA’s to ensure consistency and alignment of KPI’s 
with our whole system strategic approach. 

Technology & Digital Solutions NEST tool to create a platform that enables professionals to demonstrate 
and share good practice. 

Capital Infrastructure Aligns with the work within 21st Century schools around making 
environments that flex to the needs of our children and young people. 
We need to ensure a consistent response to Emotional Health and 
Wellbeing across Education, Health and Social Care so the principles of 
our NEST/NYTH framework are reinforced across all environments.  
 

Social Value Sector Ensuring third sector partners are an integral part of our system so we 
maximise community accessibility as part of the prevention agenda. As 
outlined in the NEST/NYTH agenda, safe and supportive communities are 
an integral pillar to the framework, and our third sector agencies offer 
those community based services that extend our offer and meet a range 
of needs.   
 

 

Priority Population Groups   

 Primary Beneficiary Secondary Beneficiary 

Older people with complex needs   

People with Dementia   

Unpaid Carers, inc. Young Carers   

Children with Complex Needs  ✓ 

People with emotional and mental health wellbeing needs ✓  

People with Learning Disability and Neurodevelopmental 
conditions 

 ✓ 

 

 

Tudalen 109



 

Page | 76 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

Development Approach 

The Transformation programme enabled us to make significant changes into our Mental Health/Emotional 

Wellbeing landscape, and has created the foundations for us to build on with the National NEST/NYTH framework. 

Our ‘Iceberg’ programme is already aligned with some of the pillars in the framework, and we are committed to 

building on this and developing a new iteration of this workstream. We know that due to the pandemic, the 

demand on Mental Health services has risen, and will continue to rise, so our offer in this area needs to be 

sufficiently flexible to meet the ever changing landscape of need.   

To drive this forward using the NEST/NYTH framework, we will be further developing our whole system approach 
to Mental Health and Emotional Wellbeing. 
 
 

 
 

We have elements of innovative practice such as our ‘no wrong door’ approach through our Single Point of Access 
wellbeing panel (SPACE) and our Whole School Approach workstream, but we are now primed for the next stage 
of development that includes the following elements; 
 
SPACE Wellbeing ‘No Wrong Door’ 
 

- Using our Transformation Iceberg Evaluation and emerging evidence from our Population Needs 
Assessment to further develop the ‘network’ behind the SPACE wellbeing panel door to ensure there are 
enough options to meet the needs of our population. 

- Ensuring an alignment and connectivity with services that are providing support across the wider system 
such as transition and services for children with complex needs to prevent people falling through gaps.  

- Continuing to streamline processes across the region, and sharing good practice within our Regional SPACE 
steering board quarterly meetings.  

 
Safe and Supported Communities  
 

- Increase the amount of universal and community provision to promote and support individuals taking care 
of their own Emotional Health and Wellbeing as a preventative approach.   

- Establish and embed integration opportunities with community provisions and wider public services. 
- Through coproduction develop an understanding of what ‘safe and supported’ means to our young people 

and families and implement changes accordingly.  

Tudalen 110



 

Page | 77 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 
Easy Access to Expertise 
 

- Analysing our local innovative to explore opportunities for services to be further adapted and up scaled 
regionally, ensuring we align with existing provisions and build in integration from the start.   

- Scanning our current landscape to identify areas of improvement and addressing any gaps or sticking 
points in the system. 

- Developing further links between Health, Social Care and Education to ensure equity of access to specialist 
support when needed. 

- Continue to adapt and embed our system to meet the needs of our population, aligning with but not 
replacing acute Mental Health Services such as CAMHS. 

 
Wellbeing across education  
 

- Aligning services within the wider ‘Whole School Approach’ agenda to ensure connectivity and clarity 
around access to support in order to support Educational staff.  

- Establish alignment with the ‘Health and Well-being’ elements of the new curriculum to promote and 
encourage good Emotional Health and Wellbeing.  

- Build confidence and resilience in School staff by ensuring adequate access to support when needed. 
 
Co-produced innovations 
 

- Coproducing with young people new ideas of promoting good Emotional Health and Wellbeing and creating 
positive feedback loops.  

- Work with families and young people to understand any barriers or challenges that might emerge in 
accessing our services. 

- Coproduce solutions around Mental Health stigmatisation and develop innovative practice that really gets 
to the heart of ‘what matters’ to our children, young people and families.  

- Ensuring learning is developed and shared at a micro, meso and macro level in line with NEST/NYTH 
principles.    

 
Trusted Adults 
 

- Embedding the principles of NEST/NYTH into our delivery models across the Mental Health Landscape 
through regular engagement events, building in opportunities to share good practice and finding a way to 
formally capture our principles in action. By doing this, we are able to build on the culture change we have 
started through the Transformation Iceberg Programme around how we view Emotional Health and 
Wellbeing needs.   

- Empowering adults around the children and young people in our system by offering support, advice, 
guidance and training when they need it and in a way that suits their needs.  

 
The COVID 19 pandemic has resulted in an inevitable increase in demand for Emotional Health and Wellbeing 
Services, now more than ever, we need to be working collaboratively to ensure we meet children and young 
people’s needs in a timely manner to prevent any escalation that may result in more acute service needs.  
 
As reflected above, how we promote Children and Young people taking care of their own Emotional Health and 
Wellbeing needs is an area that could be strengthened and developed as a form of earlier intervention to support 
resilience for their future. 
 

 

Interdependencies 

Tudalen 111



 

Page | 78 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

Aligns with the Transition, Children with complex needs, care experienced children, complex care and complex 
needs panels. 
Children & Adolescents with Learning Disabilities Service 
Adult Learning Disabilities 
Child & Adolescents with Mental Health  
Adult Mental Health Service. 
 

 

Interim Financial Model (Year 1 Only) 

Total cost of 
programme 

RIF Contribution 
Partner match 

monetary 
Partner match 

resource 
% support for 
unpaid carers 

% support for 
social value 

sector 

£1,054,806 £823,562 £0 £231,244 0% 86.47% 

  

Regional Investment Model 
Select the funding element which the project will be set against.  Repeat the table and rationale for each project 

Element 1 – Acceleration funding year 1 

✓ 

This refreshed programme will support the continued development of a regional system of support 
for children with complex needs, and the implementation of the NYTH/NEST framework.  A regional 
model of care will be described, and identified on the national NEST digital tool.   
 

Element 1 – Acceleration funding year 2 
 

 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 1 
 

 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 2 
 

 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 3 
 

 

Element 3 – Legacy fund 
 

 

Element 4 – National priorities (Dementia and Memory Assessment Services/Diagnostic support) 
 

 

 

  

Tudalen 112



 

Page | 79 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 Strategic Outline Plan (Gwent refer as Programme, WG refer as Project) 
 SP07: Children’s Workforce Development & Professional Support 

 

Model of Care Alignment 

Community 
based care – 
prevention and 
community 
coordination 

Community 
base care – 
complex care 
closer to home 

Promoting good 
emotional 
health and 
wellbeing 

Supporting 
families to stay 
together safely 
and therapeutic 
support for care 
experienced 
children 

Home from 
hospital 

Accommodation 
based solutions 

 ✓ ✓ ✓   

 

Programme Summary 

This programme will act as a catalyst for change to effectively improve the experience and wellbeing of children 
and in how professionals work with children and young people affected by attachment difficulties and 
developmental trauma. The mechanism for change will be in providing professionals across Health, Social Care 
and Education with training on Attachment and Developmental Trauma, providing follow-up sessions to ensure 
frontline teams are supported in contributing to wider cultural change in their approach with families.  
 
In addition, workforce engagement and development will be undertaken to ensure the principles of the NEST 
framework are embedded within our ways of working, generating a consistent language and approach in the 
support and opportunities for children and their networks. 

Gwent Attachment Service – Delivers attachment-informed training; a dedicated service to support highly 

vulnerable children who have experienced complex developmental trauma and disrupted attachment histories. In 

a move from traditional models of delivery, the service has been developed to offer an indirect model of 

intervention rather than work directly with the children and their families.  It acts as a catalyst for change to 

effectively improve the experience and wellbeing of children and in how professionals work with children and young 

people affected by attachment difficulties and developmental trauma. 

 
The service is fundamental to supporting vulnerable children with developmental trauma in line with Iceberg 
transformation model, creating cultural change to mitigate specialist referrals. The service has been integral in 
supporting social care and education with children with developmental trauma. 
The model of training is attachment-informed, experiential, and skills-driven with emphasis on self-care and staff 
wellbeing. The model reflects this with efforts taken to ensure that initial training is co-produced with the teams to 
tailor the programme to their current level of skill and understanding. 
 

The initial training covers five themes over the course of two days, with the aim of addressing the barriers to working 
effectively with children who have experienced trauma and improving confidence in evidence-based skills.  Themes 
covered are: 
 
Table 1: Schedule of Initial Training 

Day 1 

1. What is attachment? 

2. Impact of developmental trauma and disrupted attachment 

3. Implications of attachment difficulties and developmental trauma 

Day 2 4. Promoting Change 

Tudalen 113



 

Page | 80 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

5. The importance of looking after yourself 

 

The training is followed up with a series of six, two-
hour Skills Development Sessions (SDSs), scheduled 
approximately one month apart. Based on previous 
case consultation models, the sessions were 
developed with the aim of improving knowledge and 
confidence and reducing worries about working in 
an attachment and trauma informed way. The 
sessions are tailored to the team’s capacity, 
wellbeing and existing skills, with different approaches and exercises used to illustrate the key points.  
 

Session Prominent themes and exercises 

1 Recap of the concepts and case formulation 

2 Exploring the use of PACE in practice and case 
formulation 

3 PACE responses to difficult statements 

4 Shield of shame and case formulation 

5 Case formulation and outcome measures 

 

Intended Outcomes 

Person Centred Outcomes A smaller cohort of staff able to support a child’s needs where 
appropriate 

System Outcomes/Benefits Reduction in onward referrals 
Avoidance of additional waiting lists 
Professionals feel supported and have increased confidence in managing 
complex needs 

 

Baseline Position 

GAS Performance Outcomes April 2021 – March 
2022 

Total Training sessions provided covered subjects such 
as attachment & trauma informed leadership, co-
producing train the trainer models for foster care 
groups and connected care groups, attachment 
informed supervision triad, and research, with a 
redesign of the education training process.  

Teams accessing training materials  96  

Training sessions provided (Hrs)  537  

Direct therapeutic work (Hrs)  179.5  

The following is a sample taken from 2018 - 2020: the Gwent Attachment Service have undertaken a total of 47 
training sessions. Of these, 30 were for the initial two-day attachment-informed training and 13 were Skills 
Development Sessions. The remaining 4 were for bespoke training sessions provided to Guardians, to the 
Attachment Champion Forum and to Welsh Assembly members.  

 Graph 1. Professionals Trained across all sectors   

 Table 2: Schedule of Skills Development 

Sessions 

 

Tudalen 114



 

Page | 81 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

  

Training was extended to 40 teams 
across Health, Social Care and Education 
from across all five boroughs of Gwent. 
In total, this equates to 540 
professionals trained with follow-up 
Skills Development Sessions.  Graph 1 
shows the number of professionals 
trained and which partnership area they 
work in.   

Gaps in the information provided by the 
teams was limited however for the 200 
professionals who provided details of 
their case numbers, it is estimated that 
over 2837 children would directly 
benefit from being cared for in an 
attachment-informed way   

A total of 282 participants provided feedback, the responses were collated into themes, which are; Knowledge 
and Understanding, Relevance of Training, Training Structure and Delivery, Impact and Benefits to Working 
Practice, Professional Experience and SDS Structure and Delivery.   

98% of all respondents felt that the session provided them with new ideas, or a more helpful way of thinking about 
the situations they face. 100% of responses agreed that the experience gained through the training sessions would 
be useful in their work, with almost all participants (99%) stating that their working practices would change 
following the sessions, and that this would result in positive changes in the child and carer relationship.    

All respondents agreed that they had a decreased feeling of anxiety and increased confidence in the skills that 
they had developed. Almost all attendees (92%) stated that they had quite a lot, or a great deal more 
understanding of the child and of their behaviour in a way that would make them more confident at 
approaching complex cases. 
 

 

Key Enablers 

Workforce Development & 
Integration 

Ensure training with workforces in strategic/ operational levels around 
the NEST framework and their contribution to the whole system. 
Collaborating to establish ways we can collectively promote good 
Emotional Health and Wellbeing.  
 

Integrated Planning & Commissioning Workforce development will extend to commissioned or third sector 
delivered services 

Technology & Digital Solutions NEST tool to create a platform that enables professionals to demonstrate 
and share good practice. 

Capital Infrastructure Principles of our NEST/NYTH framework are reinforced across all 
environments.  
 

Social Value Sector As outlined in the NEST/NYTH agenda, safe and supportive communities 
are an integral pillar to the framework, and our third sector agencies 
offer community-based services that extend our offer and meet a range 
of needs.   
 

 

Tudalen 115



 

Page | 82 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

Priority Population Groups   

 Primary Beneficiary Secondary Beneficiary 

Older people with complex needs   

People with Dementia   

Unpaid Carers, inc. Young Carers  ✓ 

Children with Complex Needs ✓  

People with emotional and mental health wellbeing needs   

People with Learning Disability and Neurodevelopmental 
conditions 

  

 

Development Approach 

Working with all statutory partners, we will identify a system wide understanding of professional support needs 
and the support already available. 
 
The programme will seek to address gaps in provision, and also provide a programme of engagement and 
organisational development to support both an understanding and implementation of the NYTH/NEST framework 
and it’s 8 supporting pillars.  Professionals will be provided with tools and techniques to assess current provision 
against the NYTH/NEST framework, informing areas where further workforce development may be needed. 

 
 

Interdependencies 

Aligns with all children’s services, and regional children’s transformation programmes 
 

 

Interim Financial Model (Year 1 Only) 

Total cost of 
programme 

RIF Contribution 
Partner match 

monetary 
Partner match 

resource 
% support for 
unpaid carers 

% support for 
social value 

sector 

£200,871 £200,871 £0 £0 0% 0% 

  

Regional Investment Model 
Select the funding element which the project will be set against.  Repeat the table and rationale for each project 

Element 1 – Acceleration funding year 1 

✓ 

The learning and success obtained through the Gwent Attachment, has provided an approach that 
will be built on in this children’s services specific workforce development programme. 
 
The programme will explore and develop an enhanced model of professional support across health, 
social care and education, and the provision of dedicated interventions for very complex cases. 
 

Element 1 – Acceleration funding year 2 
 

 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 1 
 

 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 2  

Tudalen 116



 

Page | 83 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 3 
 

 

Element 3 – Legacy fund 
 

 

Element 4 – National priorities (Dementia and Memory Assessment Services/Diagnostic support) 
 

 

 

  

Tudalen 117



 

Page | 84 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 Strategic Outline Plan (Gwent refer as Programme, WG refer as Project) 
 SP15: Enhanced Foundation Tier 

 

Model of Care Alignment 

Community 
based care – 
prevention and 
community 
coordination 

Community 
base care – 
complex care 
closer to home 

Promoting good 
emotional 
health and 
wellbeing 

Supporting 
families to stay 
together safely 
and therapeutic 
support for care 
experienced 
children 

Home from 
hospital 

Accommodation 
based solutions 

✓      

 

Programme Summary 

Identified as a key regional priority, this relatively new programme will have a refreshed focus on the following 
areas: 
 
▪ Further develop digital and non-digital self-help provision, to be promoted through the Melo brand, 

focusing on evidence-based, accessible and appropriate resources which target groups of the population at 

greatest risk of poor emotional and mental wellbeing. 

 

▪ Rapidly expanding and continuing the quality improvement of the Gwent Connect 5 workforce training 
programme, to provide our local workforce with the knowledge and skills to improve their own emotional 
and mental wellbeing, as well as equipping them with the confidence and motivation to have mental health 
conversations with the communities they serve. 
 

▪ Ensuring that a proportionate universalism approach is achieved when incorporating key components of the 

Foundation Tier programme into existing care pathways to maximise their impact on emotional and mental  

 
▪ Wellbeing of the population. 

 
Deliver transformational change across the whole system to improve population mental wellbeing, and reduce 
levels of suicide and self-harm, focusing on groups of the population at greatest risk including those 
disproportionately impacted by C-19. 
 
Identify needs, map and develop assets to provide an enhanced foundation tier of early intervention and 
prevention, ensuring all local strategic programmes and services maximise their impact on mental wellbeing by 
incorporating components of the Foundation Tier programme. 
 
Developing accessible and appropriate self-directed resources for different groups of the population at greatest 
risk of poor mental health & wellbeing Coproduce a culture, set of principles and common approaches to mental 
wellbeing across all parts of the system .  

 

Intended Outcomes 

Person Centred Outcomes We will empower and motivate the population of Gwent, particularly 
those communities at greatest risk of poor emotional and mental 

Tudalen 118



 

Page | 85 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

wellbeing, to practice self-care which will improve and protect their 
mental health. 

System Outcomes/Benefits We will achieve whole system change by supporting and encouraging our 
partner organisations to adopt and embed initiatives, developed by the 
programme, which positively enhance the emotional and mental 
wellbeing of their workforce and the communities they serve 

 

Baseline Position 

Two thirds of people in Wales have said the pandemic has had a negative impact on their wellbeing.  People have 
gone through adverse experiences such as losing their jobs, falling into debt, worrying about their health, and 
been isolated from friends and families.   
 
Many people feel worse emotionally since the pandemic however it is worth noting that some people in Gwent 
also said they feel more relaxed in some ways; as life has slowed down for them and they don’t have to go out of 
the house to access some services. 
 

 

Key Enablers 

Workforce Development & 
Integration 

Continued workforce development using the Connect 5 model 

Integrated Planning & Commissioning N/A 

Technology & Digital Solutions Making use of digital platforms to provide accessible resources to 
empower individuals to management their emotional and mental health 
wellbeing needs 

Capital Infrastructure Linked to the connected communities programme, hubs and wellbeing 
centres will be key capital infrastructure to support individuals 

Social Value Sector Continue to develop the relationship with the third sector providing early 
intervention and prevention services, via the provider network and third 
sector forum as described in the connected communities programme. 

 

Priority Population Groups   

 Primary Beneficiary Secondary Beneficiary 

Older people with complex needs  ✓ 

People with Dementia   

Unpaid Carers, inc. Young Carers   

Children with Complex Needs  ✓ 

People with emotional and mental health wellbeing needs ✓  

People with Learning Disability and Neurodevelopmental 
conditions 

  

 

Development Approach 

1. Advocate for ‘Whole Systems Change’ to ensure an integrated approach to promoting emotional and mental 
wellbeing by collaborating with the local community and partners to maximise the impact of programme.  

 

Tudalen 119



 

Page | 86 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

2. Achieve long-term sustainable improvements in emotional and mental wellbeing by involving community 
members and partners in understanding and identifying local needs to inform the development of a 5 year 
strategy. 

 
3. Improve the accessibility, availability and appropriateness of self-help resources and messaging to provide 

greater opportunity and motivation for individuals to improve their own emotional and mental wellbeing.  
 
4. Provide our frontline workforce with the knowledge, skills, confidence and motivation to improve their own 

emotional and mental wellbeing as well as supporting the communities they serve. 
 
5. Prioritise reducing inequalities when planning and delivering prevention initiatives using behavioural science 

to inform actions.  
 
We will do this by: 
 
▪ Developing local strategies which guide the co-production of action plans with local partners to prioritise 

improving emotional and mental wellbeing. 
 

▪ Undertaking ongoing assessment of local needs, including mapping of existing assets, to identify 
priorities/opportunities to increase the access to, and appropriateness of, initiatives which improve the 
emotional and mental wellbeing of our population. 

 
▪ Further develop digital and non-digital self-help provision, to be promoted through the Melo brand, focusing 

on evidence-based, accessible and appropriate resources which target groups of the population at greatest 
risk of poor emotional and mental wellbeing. 

 
▪ Rapidly expanding and continuing the quality improvement of the Gwent Connect 5 workforce training 

programme, to provide our local workforce with the knowledge and skills to improve their own emotional 
and mental wellbeing, as well as equipping them with the confidence and motivation to have mental health 
conversations with the communities they serve. 
 

▪ Ensuring that a proportionate universalism approach is achieved when incorporating key components of the 
Foundation Tier programme into existing care pathways to maximise their impact on emotional and mental 
wellbeing of the population. 

 

 

Interim Financial Model (Year 1 Only) 

Total cost of 
programme 

RIF Contribution 
Partner match 

monetary 
Partner match 

resource 
% support for 
unpaid carers 

% support for 
social value 

sector 

£195,250 £195,250 £0 £0 0% 0% 

 

Regional Investment Model 
Select the funding element which the project will be set against.  Repeat the table and rationale for each project 

Element 1 – Acceleration funding year 1 

✓ 

This programme is in it’s early days of development with progress made in Year 1 (2021-22).  Whilst 
the testing and development is still underway, it is reflected as accelerating until a regional model of 
support is defined. 
 

Tudalen 120



 

Page | 87 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

Element 1 – Acceleration funding year 2 
 

 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 1 
 

 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 2 
 

 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 3 
 

 

Element 3 – Legacy fund 
 

 

Element 4 – National priorities (Dementia and Memory Assessment Services/Diagnostic support) 
 

 

 

 

Tudalen 121



 

Page | 88 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

Model of Care Investment Proposal 
FAMILIES STAYING TOGETHER &                                                                                 
THERAPEUTIC SUPPORT FOR CARE EXPERIENCED CHILDREN 

 

 

Strategic Vision 
Provide a short, precise summary of the strategic vision for successfully achieving the regional aspirations for 
[Model of Care].  This should contribute to the wider delivery of ‘A Healthier Wales’ 

To have a sustainable offer of early intervention and prevention services in collaboration with health, social care 
and third sector services, that can have a longer term impact on the number of children becoming known to 
statutory services. 
 
In addition, for those children where entering care system is the best option, they will be supported as they 
transition from the care system as young adults, able to lead independent and fulfilling lives. 
 

 

Case for Change 
As the cohorts of children are distinctly different, the baseline position for both programme reflects the case for 
change supporting this model of care. 
 

 

Key Enablers 
Select which of the key enablers will maximise the delivery of the programme, using the free text box to describe 
how this will be achieved 

Integrated Planning and Commissioning 

✓ Implement an integrated approach across services and organisations to ensure individuals, their 
families and carers are given the right equitable support. 

Technology enabled care 

✓ 

Use of the WCCIS programme to provide safe, effective, local, integrated care across social services 
and community health through a single system and a shared electronic record across Local Authorities 
and Health Boards in Wales.   
 

Promoting the social value sector 

✓ 

Working with our third sector partners to increase community provision/access for families and 
support our coproduction journey. 
Ensuring our current third sector partners in the EIS stream are closely aligning with the strategic 
context and direction driven by Social Care and Health Services.  
 

Integrated Community Hubs 

✓ 

The capital strategic needs assessment will consider the hub developments specific to children with 
complex needs, that may differ from the wider developments within the Connected Communities 
programme. 
 

Workforce development and integration 

✓ Establish a connectivity between the workforces in Social Care, Health and Education to ensure a 
coordinated response for children & families. 

 

 

Tudalen 122



 

Page | 89 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

Priority Population Groups 
 Primary 

Beneficiary 
Secondary 
Beneficiary 

DAP 

Older people including people with dementia 

   N/A 
 

Children and young people with complex needs 

✓   
Children and their networks will received appropriate support as prevention, 
early intervention or a transition to independence, to help them realise their 
potential and lead fulfilling lives. 
 

People with learning disabilities and neurodevelopment conditions, 
including autism 

   
N/A 
 

Unpaid carers 
   N/A 

 

People with emotional and mental health wellbeing needs 
   N/A 

 

Other beneficiaries    

N/A 
 

 

Total programme cost and match funding 

Total cost of 
programme 

Welsh 
Government 
contribution 

Partner 
monetary match 

Partner 
resource match 

% support for 
unpaid carers 

% for social 
value sector 

delivery 

£5,389,684 £3,299,271 £0 £2,090,413 0% 6.06% 

 
Programme management resource to be confirmed. 

  

Tudalen 123



 

Page | 90 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 Strategic Outline Plan (Gwent refer as Programme, WG refer as Project) 
 SP02: Early Intervention & Support 

 

Model of Care Alignment 

Community 
based care – 
prevention and 
community 
coordination 

Community 
base care – 
complex care 
closer to home 

Promoting good 
emotional 
health and 
wellbeing 

Supporting 
families to stay 
together safely 
and therapeutic 
support for care 
experienced 
children 

Home from 
hospital 

Accommodation 
based solutions 

  ✓ ✓  ✓ 

 

Programme Summary 

This programme was developed to reduce and prevent the number of children coming into the care system by 
creating a whole system cooperative response for families (this includes Health, Social Care, Education and 
Housing) that is able to be locally flexible to meet needs but has regional consistency to ensure the same level of 
access and support.   
 
The programme has a focus on ensuring Children and Young People on the edge of care are supported to enjoy 
the same life chances as others.  Families are supported to stay together safely and to improve wellbeing 
outcomes for children and young people. 
 
Establish an integrated system that works with families to support them staying together safely, and therefore 
preventing the need for children to become looked after 
 
To provide integrated health, social care, and education support for children and their families at the edge of care 
that meets their needs and feels ‘joined up’.   
 
Identify areas of local innovation to upscale good practice regionally that helps families stay safely together.   
 
Reduce and prevent the number of children coming into the care system by creating a whole system cooperative 
response for families (this includes Health, Social Care, Education and Housing) that is able to be locally flexible to 
meet needs, but has regional consistency to ensure the same level of access and support. 
 

 

Intended Outcomes 

Person Centred Outcomes ▪ Ensure Children and Young People on the edge of care are 
supported to enjoy the same life chances as others. 

▪ Support families to stay together safely and therefore improve 
wellbeing outcomes for children and young people.  

 

System Outcomes/Benefits ▪ Prevent the rise in number of children needing to come into the 
care system. 

▪ Reduce duplication in the system by coordinating multi-agency 
support. 

Tudalen 124



 

Page | 91 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 

Baseline Position 

The Early Intervention Service (EIS) funding stream was introduced in the 2019-20 to support children and their 
families at the edge of care. The projects within this programme aimed to: reduce the number of children entering 
the care system, reduce the number of those becoming “Looked After”, and help families stay together where 
possible. 
 
A regional programme emerged that comprised of a series of projects with a shared objective of “Supporting 
Children & Families known to Social Services to mitigate, where possible, children entering care and to support family 
reunification” 
 
The programme is delivered to all five Local Authorities of the Gwent area, and includes the following delivery 
elements; 

▪ Enhanced Edge of Care 
▪ Family Group Conferences 

▪ Mediation  

▪ Special Guardianship Order 

 

It was identified across the regional programme that if adequate prevention services were not available, there 
would be an increase in Children and Young People who would become ‘Looked After’.  Children and Young people 
coming into care results in an increase of involvement with children's statutory services and often a need for a 
complex care package, therefore putting pressure on our Health and Social Care Services and more importantly, 
impacting the resilience factors and outcomes for our Children and Young people. We know through the research 
of the ACE agenda, that Adverse Childhood Experiences have a significant impact on people as they grow, following 
them into adulthood. 
 
As illustrated in the Families First continuum above, there are differing levels of support available depending on the 
needs of the family. Providing sufficient support in the earlier stages prevents escalation and therefore prevents 
families moving across this continuum and needing more statutory intervention. Although the theory of this appears 
straightforward, the complexity of the system and the differing needs of families means this isn’t simple. Families 
at the edge of care have often had a myriad of different prevention services that haven’t been sufficient to make 
the sustained second order change that is needed to keep the family together safely. This is exactly why a specialist 

Tudalen 125



 

Page | 92 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

Early Intervention stream is needed to work with families in a focused way. Further, a whole system approach to 
this continuum is vital to ensure gaps don’t emerge between services and therefore needs of the Child, Young 
Person and/or family are not met.  
 
Below demonstrates the data across the EIS workstream so far, and highlights we are heading in the right direction 
in terms of prevention, however, we need to ensure our system is well coordinated and equipped to meet the needs 
of our families.   
 

 

Key Enablers 

Workforce Development & 
Integration 

▪ Establish a connectivity between the workforces in Social Care, 
Health and Education to ensure a coordinated response for children 
& families. 

▪ Upskilling staff to enable better retention. 
▪ Ensure training with workforces in strategic/ operational levels 

around the NEST framework and their contribution to the whole 
system. 

▪ Revision and agreement of current resource with exploration into 
alignment across services, from health to social care 

 

Integrated Planning & Commissioning ▪ Implement an integrated approach across services and organisations 
to ensure individuals, their families and carers are given the right 
equitable support. 

▪ Working with organisations to commission and further embed the 
children at the edge of care programme. 

▪ Revision of current SLA’s to ensure consistency across delivery 
partners.  
 

Technology & Digital Solutions ▪ NEST tool to create a platform that enables professionals to 
demonstrate and share good practice nationally.  

▪ Use of the WCCIS programme to provide safe, effective, local, 
integrated care across social services and community health through 
a single system and a shared electronic record across Local 
Authorities and Health Boards in Wales.   
 

Capital Infrastructure ▪ Independency with access to community hubs to give families a 
single point of access for community-based support.  

▪ Identify any areas that could benefit from Capital funding and 
identify opportunities to align capital and revenue resources 
 

Social Value Sector ▪ Working with our third sector partners to increase community 
provision/access for families and support our coproduction journey. 

▪ Ensuring our current third sector partners in the EIS stream are 
closely aligning with the strategic context and direction driven by 
Social Care and Health Services.  
 

 

Priority Population Groups   

 Primary Beneficiary Secondary Beneficiary 

Tudalen 126



 

Page | 93 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

Older people with complex needs   

People with Dementia   

Unpaid Carers, inc. Young Carers   

Children with Complex Needs ✓  

People with emotional and mental health wellbeing needs  ✓ 

People with Learning Disability and Neurodevelopmental 
conditions 

 ✓ 

 

Development Approach 

The Social Services and Well-being Act (2014) highlights the importance of providing the right support to people, at 
the right time, to enable access to an intervention that is the least invasive. Our Early Intervention Service 
programme has developed local innovative practice that has not only worked in a positive way to support families, 
but has safely kept families together as underpinned by the principles of a ‘Healthier Wales’. As highlighted above, 
we are now at the next stage of our development that involves further embedding the EIS agenda that will prevent 
escalation and reduce the number of children coming into care. It’s paramount that we take into account the 
emerging evidence from our previous outcomes and the recent population needs assessment, whilst holding in 
mind the impact (and ongoing impact) of the COVID 19 pandemic when entering into the new phase of 
development.   
 
Firstly, we want to establish and understand consistency in our delivery across the region and identify further 
opportunities to capture how we are able to prevent escalation. We have some evolving good practice locally, and 
time to share and explore how this works in more detail will not only support us to understand how this translates 
to a regional footprint, but also supports us to identify where areas of the system might need to be strengthened 
to achieve our goal of a fully integrated system.  Improving the system will ensure that the work aligns with other 
models of care for example when children have complex health, emotional or care needs, resulting in us being 
able to provide a seamless and well sequenced approach to families and their needs.  

 
As highlighted above, we know the impact that Adverse Childhood Experiences have on people as they grow, 
following them into adulthood; this is particularly poignant when we consider the families at the edge of care and 
the intergenerational trauma factors that will be at play. In Wales there are large differences in healthy life 
expectancy, across society. We know that poorer communities suffer from higher mental health issues and trauma, 
where ACEs tend to be more prevalent.  The Welsh index of multiple deprivation (2019) cover 8 domains of 
deprivation as shown in the diagram below.  
 

 
 

Tudalen 127



 

Page | 94 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

A whole system approach will look at tackling the wider influences and the social gradient to create a more equitable 
community provision so that everyone has the same life chances and health outcomes. Reducing this deprivation 
across society will support the reduction in ACEs experienced by children at the edge of care. Again, aligning with 
the principles within the ‘A Healthier Wales’, we understand the importance of children at the edge of care being 
supported to stay within their family circle where possible to improve their resilience factors, however, we also 
need to ensure the family environment is sufficiently supported and have to access to appropriate and timely 
intervention.  
 
We will use the NEST/NYTH framework as our guide to develop this robust whole system approach that responds 
to the mental health, wellbeing and support service needs for babies, children, young people, parents, carers and 
their wider family members. The person centred approach will help us to develop a system around all members of 
the family that are at the edge of care and improve the likelihood of families staying safely together. 
 
By reviewing and further developing the successful practice found throughout the Edge of Care services and aligning 
these services with the NEST framework; that is designed to fit around the individual and family and not the other 
way round;  we will create and expand a system that is fair equitable, fully integrated, and focuses on what matters, 
through a joined up, whole system approach. This will benefit strengthening our workforce to be able to support 
families to stay together and safely reduce the need for children to be looked after by managing risk confidently 
and effectively. 
 

 

Interdependencies 

Aligns with the Transition, Children with complex needs, Emotional Health and Wellbeing, Complex Care and 
Complex Needs Panels, and associated core services. 
 

 

Interim Financial Model (Year 1 Only) 

Total cost of 
programme 

RIF Contribution 
Partner match 

monetary 
Partner match 

resource 
% support for 
unpaid carers 

% support for 
social value 

sector 

£4,893,794 £2,803,381 £0 £2,090,413 0% 0% 

 

Regional Investment Model 
Select the funding element which the project will be set against.  Repeat the table and rationale for each project 

Element 1 – Acceleration funding year 1 
 

 

Element 1 – Acceleration funding year 2 
 

 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 1 

✓ 

This programme continues the focus on Early Intervention and Support enabled through the 
Integrated Care Fund, providing a regional focus on reducing the number of children entering the 
looked after children system.  Embedding the additional capacity and enhanced ways of working is 
critical to the prevention and early intervention required for longer term system wide impact. 
 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 2 
 

 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 3 
 

 

Tudalen 128



 

Page | 95 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

Element 3 – Legacy fund 
 

 

Element 4 – National priorities (Dementia and Memory Assessment Services/Diagnostic support) 
 

 

  

Tudalen 129



 

Page | 96 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 Strategic Outline Plan (Gwent refer as Programme, WG refer as Project) 
 SP03: Supporting Care Experienced Children 

 

Model of Care Alignment 

Community 
based care – 
prevention and 
community 
coordination 

Community 
base care – 
complex care 
closer to home 

Promoting good 
emotional 
health and 
wellbeing 

Supporting 
families to stay 
together safely 
and therapeutic 
support for care 
experienced 
children 

Home from 
hospital 

Accommodation 
based solutions 

  ✓ ✓  ✓ 

 

Programme Summary 

Recognising the risk taking behaviours displayed by young people who have experienced trauma, this programme 
has a specific focus on therapeutic support for care leavers with complex needs, supporting them to fulfil their 
potential. 
 
The model is implemented using trauma informed approaches to provide therapeutic interventions to minimise 
risk taking behaviours and ensure care experienced Children and Young People are supported to enjoy the same 
life chances as others. 
 
Create a seamless therapeutic support and emotional wellbeing system that is able to coordinate around the 
needs of Children & Young people to support them to fulfil their potential. 
 

 

Intended Outcomes 

Person Centred Outcomes ▪ Ensuring care experienced Children and Young People are 
supported to enjoy the same life chances as others. 

▪ People feel supported and fully informed when accessing services 
and services are driven by what matters to them. 

▪ Access to equitable services with adequate specialist support. 
▪ Health and social care needs are fully met, with no-one ‘falling 

through the gaps’. 
 

System Outcomes/Benefits ▪ Preventing further escalation, reducing duplication and the need for 
complex health services.  

▪ Improved joint-working pathways through systems. 
▪ improve planning and funding systems.  
▪ Improved community-based support structures . 
▪ The system demonstrates quality and synergy of the children with 

complex needs services. 
 

 

 

Tudalen 130



 

Page | 97 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 

Baseline Position 

A Survey completed by Barnardo’s with care leavers found that 46% were identified as having mental health needs, 
with 65% of them not receiving any form of statutory support (The Care Leavers’ Association, 2017; Social Market 
Foundation, 2018) and are between four and five times more likely than their peers to attempt suicide (NYAS, 2019). 
 
We know that the perpetuation of trauma and the failure to support healing where children are already 
experiencing poverty and inequality is reflected in poor outcomes for many who have experience of the care system 
(Care Review, 2020a). 
 
Proactive and preventative mental health support is as important when leaving care as much as during, more so 
when CAMHS or adult mental health services are not always available. Professionals noted (NSPCC, 2015) the 
limitations in the support they can offer and the time they have to build relationships with care leavers, which can’t 
adequately deal with issues such as abandonment, trauma from the care system, transitioning into independence 
at a premature age, and manifestations of childhood trauma in adulthood. 
 
Now more than ever, supporting people’s emotional health and well-being is essential to keeping society healthy 
and preventing the escalation of health and social care needs. With the impacts of COVID-19, this is further realised 
with an increasing number of people of all ages, including children and young people, being identified as having 
emotional health and wellbeing support needs. 
 
The programme for children who are care experienced is comprised of services that improve the emotional 
wellbeing of young people leaving care across the Gwent region.  The model was designed to meet the shared 
priorities of health, social care and educational partners involved in the care of looked after children through 
coproduction.  The service further supports the workforce within these sectors, providing training to develop and 
upskill the workforce so that they can support care leavers in a consistent manner. The success of the service relies 
on the integration of these organisations successful outcomes to support the delivery of a consistent and equitably 
high-quality service to care leavers across Gwent.    
 
Joining up and integrating services is a challenge, for example, when people leave school or college, support may 
vanish.  When services are not available, and a person’s needs are not being met, this can result in escalation of the 
original presenting issues forcing them to access primary/emergency services. The programme of services for care 
experienced children and young people will be built in to help prevent and relieve pressures on primary services 
and make sure that the services offered are consistent and equitable for all across the Gwent Region. 
 
The service is offered to young people who were in the care system on their 16th birthday, especially targeting 
those who have experienced significant emotional distress and have developed self-destructive behaviours.  The 
process is laid out in figure 1 below. 

Figure 1. Process of the Skills for Living Project 

 

Tudalen 131



 

Page | 98 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 
Care experienced children and young people often describe care as something that is done to them, not with them, 
feeling they have no control over their lives. Being subject to decisions out of their control or perceived abuses of 
trust can make them wary of engaging with health and care professionals, which in turn can leave issues untreated 
until a crisis develops. 
 
Referrals to the team are accepted from all Local Authorities and via SPACE wellbeing, as well as young people and 
their carers.  Individuals who are accepted, receive weekly one to one Dialectical Behaviour Therapy (DBT) focused 
therapy sessions, each lasting up to 1.5 hours.  Followed by a 14-week DBT group where they learn the skills with 
their peers. The groups are a powerful mechanism for the young people to gain support from their peers and realise 
that they are not alone in feeling intense emotions.   
 
Usually, support is offered for approximately 9-12 months and on completion of the intervention, young people are 
assigned to a pathway to allow for continued support; this can include peer mentoring or working with partners to 
provide access to further skills training or employment opportunities.   
 
Between 2018-2019 a total of 115 young people have been referred to the care experienced service for children 
and young people from all five local authorities.  Of these, 98 (85.2%) were accepted by the service and, following 
the engagement phase had proceeded to attend the group therapy sessions. Where the referral could not be 
accepted, individuals were signposted to other services that would better meet their needs.   
The service has offered a total of 1046 clinical sessions to young people; attendance rates are noted to be continually 
high with an average contact rate of 78% throughout the lifespan.   
  
The service has engaged with and provided support to carers and families through 33 care leavers support networks. 
A total of 56 clinical consultations have taken place with additional training provided to a total of 124 health and 
social care professionals.   These continue to be well received by those attending, with personal advisors noting that 
they felt better in moving forward with the complex cases discussed.    
 
Outcomes following intervention are assessed using the CORE-OM tool; the tool consists of 34 statements where 
the individual needs to select one of the following: ‘Not at all’, ‘Only Occasionally’, ‘Sometimes’, ‘Often’ or ‘Most of 
the time’ to score how they have been over the last week. A mean average is taken from responses within each 
domain, with the overall score being of a possible 4 (the higher score denoting a higher level of distress). On average, 
pre-intervention, young people referred to the project report an overall wellbeing score of 1.85, meaning that they 
have a high level of distress.  
  
As outlined in the table 1 below, the average pre-intervention scores indicate that most young people referred to 
the service show this level of distress across all domains. Following intervention, a significant improvement was 
seen in the wellbeing, problems, and functioning domains, with the average scores being more representative of 
the distress seen within the general population and of their peer group.   
The exception to this is within the risk domain. On review it is noted that questions within this domain skewed the 
data slightly, with respondents being asked to rate the frequency in which they thought of self-harm rather than 
actually harming themselves. The nature of the therapy is such that whilst thoughts of harming are still present, the 
frequency of doing is reduced and therefore the improvement may not be evident with the score.   
 

Table 1. Average pre-intervention scores 
 

Wellbeing Problems Functioning Risk Total Total (excl. Risk) 

Clinical Significant level* 
(male / female)  

1.37 / 1.77  1.44 / 1.62  1.29 / 1.3  0.43 / 0.31  1.19 / 1.29  1.36 / 1.5  

Pre-intervention  2.08  2.1  1.64  0.56  1.7  1.85  

Post- intervention  1.27  0.7  0.74  0.27  0.9  1.6  

(*Responses scoring below the level outlined signifies a clinically significant level of distress relating to that domain 

Tudalen 132



 

Page | 99 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 
In practice they should be experts in their own experiences, with a right to contribute to their own mental health 
care and service developments. NSPCC Wales (2019) state that care experienced children and young people must 
be involved in the planning and development of services that meets their needs and supports their engagement. So 
that we are enabling children to express their wishes. Giving them regular opportunities to feed back on the quality 
of care and support and to help co-design services. 
 
Over 90% of young people reported an improvement in mood, functioning and problem solving, with the 85% of 
young people reporting a reduction in the risk to themselves or others. This provides assurance that the 
interventions over a 9–12-month period have been successful in teaching young people to manage their distress in 
a healthier way, resulting in a positive impact to their emotional wellbeing and ability to cope.   
 
This is a small service area with a wide reach.  There is no alternative for children looked after and care leaving 
young people.  The service is a mental health service in which statutory services look to, to provide a specialist 
mental health assistance to their young people. The service also provides support to the professionals working with 
young people. 
 

 

Key Enablers 

Workforce Development & 
Integration 

▪ Upskilling staff to enable better retention. 
▪ Ensure training with workforces in strategic/ operational levels 

around the NEST framework and their contribution to the whole 
system. 

▪ Revision and agreement of current resource with exploration into 
alignment across services, from health to social care. 

▪ Established connectivity between Health, social care & education 
workforces to ensure a coordinated response for families.  
 

Integrated Planning & Commissioning ▪ Implement an integrated approach across services and organisations 
to ensure individuals, their families and carers are given the right 
equitable support. 

▪ Working with organisations to commission and implement the suite 
of services agreed to take forward. 

▪ Revision of current SLA’s - By linking in with divisions/organisations a 
review of all current SLA’s will be undertaken including core funded, 
partnership funded, WG funded SLA’. 
 

Technology & Digital Solutions ▪ NEST framework digital tool to create a platform that enables 
professionals to demonstrate good practice. 

▪ Expand opportunities of assistive technology that may benefit care 
experienced children & young people to help promote independence 
and make sure there are equitable options for individuals. For 
example, a focus on the assistive technology arena that can help 
alleviate the problem of an individual having to repeatedly tell their 
story constantly. Use of integrated data system such as WCCIS. 
 

Capital Infrastructure ▪ Residential homes- Windmill Farm, Bridgeview.  
▪ Identify any areas that could benefit from Capital funding and 

identify opportunities to align capital and revenue resources. 
 

Tudalen 133



 

Page | 100 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

Social Value Sector ▪ Working with third sector & local authority to create an integrated 
system of provision/access, that builds resilience for care 
experienced children & young people and enhance community 
provision. Making sure their voices are heard and needs are met. 
 

 

Priority Population Groups   

 Primary Beneficiary Secondary Beneficiary 

Older people with complex needs   

People with Dementia   

Unpaid Carers, inc. Young Carers  ✓ 

Children with Complex Needs  ✓ 

People with emotional and mental health wellbeing needs ✓  

People with Learning Disability and Neurodevelopmental 
conditions 

 ✓ 

 

Development Approach 

The landscape of support services for care experienced young people can be a challenge to pull together and 
standardise due to the fact young people might experience multiple moves from foster homes to care- settings, 
with some of these moves and placements taking them away from the area they know, their school, friends, and 
extended family. All of this can have a negative impact on the development of attachment and the experience of 
trauma and loss, can cause or worsen feelings of anxiety, fear, and instability, and make continuity of mental health 
services difficult. 
 
As outlined within the NEST/NYTH framework, we will be strengthening our ‘Whole System Approach’ for care 
experienced young people by aligning our Health, Social Care, Education and Third Sector systems to create a 
wellness cooperative that works together and has sufficiently flexibility to meet the needs of our care experienced 
population.  
 
Through engagement with professionals and individuals, there will be a planned out and sequenced course of 
action, to embed the services for care experienced children & young people as highlighted for continuation into the 
future 5-year plan. In line with this piece of work there will be opportunity to develop the expansion of the services 
highlighted as exceptional, delivering  positive outcomes across the Gwent region. This will work towards a 
prosperous environment where resources will be used efficiently and proportionately as stated in one of the seven 
well-being goals from the Well-Being of Future Generations Act (2015); developing a skilled and well-educated 
population, to create consistency and creating a healthier society where wellbeing is maximised, to reduce the 
negative impacts experienced by care experienced children & young people to get it right. 
 
The good practice within the service will be further reviewed for growth/expansion and embedding across the 
Gwent region. These services currently fall into the bottom red section of the pyramid in the  A Healthier Wales 
2018 (Diagram Below).  These services have demonstrated and evidenced the successful outcomes and positive 
impact they have been able to make in the lives care experienced children & young people.  The expansion is to 
move these services into a new regional model which will require a whole system approach for successful 
integration. 
 

Tudalen 134



 

Page | 101 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

Under the policy drivers within the A Healthier Wales (2018); care experienced children & young people will be 
supported to stay well.  The programme will offer a suite of services, working seamlessly together, that will help 
tackle inequalities that care experienced children & young people come up against when accessing services, help or 
support. 
 
To drive this forward, using the NEST approach: a whole system approach across health and social care will need to 
take place, to develop mental health, well-being and support services for babies, children, young people, parents, 
carers and their wider families across Wales: working in collaboration, using a person-centred approach  and 
bringing support into the community, working towards creating a single system with ‘no wrong door’ approach so 
that families get the right help at the right time and in a way that is right for them. 
 
It’s not for our children, young people and families to navigate the complex system, this needs to be as accessible 
as possible to meet needs and prevent escalation. We know that points of transition and change can be anxiety 
provoking, so ensuring we support these points are crucial especially when children’s services are starting to align 
in this way. The continuity of experience and sequencing of interventions we provide need to be joined up so the 
system doesn’t make things worse for people in the long term. 
 
By using feedback from key stakeholders and expanding the opportunity to utilise new assistive technology through 
coproduction; will enable us to embed value based healthcare to measure what matters most to people, ensuring 
that improvement activity is focussed on outcomes. 
 
Some approaches aim to encourage positive mental health and wellbeing and improve the social and emotional 
skills of the young person. Others offer treatment for those diagnosed with a mental health disorder such as 
depression or anxiety. Others might offer support and training to foster carers and residential carers. Some 
programmes look to change how medical professionals or social workers work with children and young people, such 
as development of a trauma-informed approach among social work teams. 

 
Through sustainable growth and developing community-based models of care that will provide early intervention 
and prevent the escalation of poor emotional and mental health and wellbeing for children with complex needs, as 
set out in the Well-Being of Future Generations Act (2015), we can bring about a more equal, cohesive, healthier, 
resilient, and prosperous society where children with complex needs, families and carers have the same rights and 
opportunities available to them locally.  
 

 

Interdependencies 

Aligns with the Transition programme, Emotional Health/Wellbeing, Edge of Care, Children with complex needs, 
Young Carers.  
 

 

Interim Financial Model (Year 1 Only) 

Total cost of 
programme 

RIF Contribution 
Partner match 

monetary 
Partner match 

resource 
% support for 
unpaid carers 

% support for 
social value 

sector 

£495,890 £495,890 £0 £0 0% 40.33% 

 

Regional Investment Model 
Select the funding element which the project will be set against.  Repeat the table and rationale for each project 

Element 1 – Acceleration funding year 1  

Tudalen 135



 

Page | 102 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 

Element 1 – Acceleration funding year 2 
 

 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 1 

✓ 

This programme continues the dedicated support for care experienced children, enabled through 
the Integrated Care Fund and Transformation Fund, providing a dedicated approach to reducing 
challenges/risk taking behaviours.  Embedding the additional capacity and enhanced ways of 
working is critical to the prevention and early intervention required for longer term system wide 
impact. 
 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 2 
 

 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 3 
 

 

Element 3 – Legacy fund 
 

 

Element 4 – National priorities (Dementia and Memory Assessment Services/Diagnostic support) 
 

 

 

  

Tudalen 136



 

Page | 103 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

Model of Care Investment Proposal 
HOME FROM HOSPITAL 

 

 

Strategic Vision 
To have established seamless discharge pathways from district and community hospitals; having consistent 
resources and processes facilitating discharge planning and co-ordination across the system, and a pull 
mechanism established from the community. 
 

 

Case for Change 
Whilst the Place Based Graduated Care programme places emphasis on the capacity needs to improve flow 
through the health and social care system, the ability to efficiently support patients through a period of 
hospitalised intervention to return home, consistency of pathways, processes and resource will support the 
embedding of the Discharge to Recover and Assess pathways. 
 

 
Covid-19 has highlighted the fragility of the system, and the significant number of personnel involved in a person’s 
care planning whilst in hospital.   
 
To support improving system flow, dedicated capacity needs to be correctly placed within the system to be as 
effective as possible, and have an awareness of the capacity enabled via the Place Based Graduated Care 
programme that supports care closer to home.   
 
Having this capacity at both the ‘front door’ and ‘back door’ of the hospital, will not only support effective 
discharge planning and ownership of the process, but also ensure patients are only admitted when absolutely 
necessary.  Where at all possible and appropriate, patients will be redirected to alternative care settings where 
urgent acute care is not required. 
 
The Urgent Goals national policy handbook will significantly influence the ongoing development of this 
programme, particularly Goal 5: optimal hospital care and discharge practice from the point of admission.  The 
programme will endeavour to ensure people admitted to hospital are treated consistently and reliably in line with 
the expectations of health, social care, third and independent sector partners in Wales, as described in Welsh 
Government Hospital Discharge Requirements guidance.  
 
 

Tudalen 137



 

Page | 104 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 

Key Enablers 
Select which of the key enablers will maximise the delivery of the programme, using the free text box to describe 
how this will be achieved 

Integrated Planning and Commissioning 

✓ 
The integrated approaches described within the Place Based Graduated Care programme will 
support the community capacity required to improve system flow. 
 

Technology enabled care 

✓ Development of Robust digital solutions to support whole system performance metrics.   
 

Promoting the social value sector 

✓ 

The Third Sector will be key partners supporting System Flow to achieve optimal person-centred 
outcomes, with the development of an optimal model for system flow in collaboration with the 
Third Sector.  Through SLA’s Third sector services currently support hospital avoidance and patient 
discharge, including providing some intermediate care services, which will be mapped and expanded 
upon as part of the programme. 

Integrated Community Hubs 

✓ As reflected within the Place Based Graduated Care Programme 
 

Workforce development and integration 

✓ 

A workforce development programme will be undertaken to redesign the current roles supporting 
discharge in the system ensuring clarity and equity throughout the region.   
 
Linking with the workforce development programme a recruitment, retention and training plan will 
be developed to support a resilient workforce for system flow alongside a rolling staff engagement 
strategy to support the Home First approach. 
 

 
 

Priority Population Groups 
Select both the primary and secondary beneficiaries of the programme by priority population group, using the free 
text box to describe the particular impacts this will have.  Please also indicate if the beneficiaries are supported 
using DAP funding 

 Primary 
Beneficiary 

Secondary 
Beneficiary 

DAP 

Older people including people with dementia 

✓   

With older people requiring the greatest support with complex discharge 
planning, individuals will be supported to return home as soon as medically 
able, allowing them to recover in the own home, or as close to home as 
possible, preventing any avoidable deterioration in physical conditioning. 
 

Children and young people with complex needs 

 ✓  

Further consideration is needed on the system flow for children who are 
admitting to hospital, where complex discharge planning is required.  This 
will be identified within our continued programme development activities 
and included within an updated RIF plan. 
 

People with learning disabilities and neurodevelopment conditions, 
including autism    
N/A 

Tudalen 138



 

Page | 105 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 

Unpaid carers 

 ✓  

With the ringfenced funding moving to support unpaid carers in the 
discharge process; developments will be undertaken to ensure clear 
communication with the unpaid carer, and the carers needs considered as 
part of this programme. 
 

People with emotional and mental health wellbeing needs 
   N/A 

 

Other beneficiaries    

N/A 
 

 
 

Total programme cost and match funding 

Total cost of 
programme 

Welsh 
Government 
contribution 

Partner 
monetary match 

Partner 
resource match 

% support for 
unpaid carers 

% for social 
value sector 

delivery 

£5,106,764 £3,979,491 £0 £1,127,273 0% 11.98% 

 
Programme management resource to be confirmed.  

Tudalen 139



 

Page | 106 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 Strategic Outline Plan (Gwent refer as Programme, WG refer as Project) 
 SP13: Improving System Flow 

 

Model of Care Alignment 

Community 
based care – 
prevention and 
community 
coordination 

Community 
base care – 
complex care 
closer to home 

Promoting good 
emotional 
health and 
wellbeing 

Supporting 
families to stay 
together safely 
and therapeutic 
support for care 
experienced 
children 

Home from 
hospital 

Accommodation 
based solutions 

 ✓   ✓  

 

Programme Summary 

The improving system flow programme has two workstreams.  The first, delivered by the Home First model, 
provides turnaround services at the front door of the hospital, preventing admission to hospital where 
appropriate.   
 
Where admission is required, the second workstream will provide streamlined discharge liaison capacity to 
support people to be discharged to recover at home as quickly and safely as possible, transferring seamlessly 
between pathways 
 
Provide turnaround services at the front door of the hospital, preventing admission to hospital where appropriate.  
Where admission is required, people will be discharged to recover at home as quickly and safely as possible, 
transferring seamlessly between pathways.    
 
The overarching objective for the Improving System Flow programme is that community admission prevention 
and discharge support services will be strengthened and redesigned to ensure that they are right sized to meet a 
persons need 
 
Through the redesign of services outcomes for individuals will be improved through the avoidance of unnecessary 
days in a hospital bed and subsequent deconditioning.  The model will be fit for the future, and flexible to adapt to 
changing or growing demand.    
 

 

Intended Outcomes 

Person Centred Outcomes • People will not experience harm associated with deconditioning 
during an avoidable stay in hospital 

• People will not be overprescribed long term care 

• People will be supported to remain independent and in their usual 
place of residence where possible 

• People’s experience will be optimised, being fully informed and 

supported in achieving their personal goals 

• Through early transfer to reablement pathways the outcomes of 

recovery and reablement will be maximised 

Tudalen 140



 

Page | 107 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

System Outcomes/Benefits • Individuals will only be in hospital if acutely unwell, maximising 
hospital capacity for people who require acute care and assessment 

• Staff will be fully informed and empowered to support individuals 
to avoid hospital admission, or discharged once they are clinically 
optimised 

• There will be efficient flow through hospital and community 
services, with capacity being utilised for the right patient and the 
right time 

• There will be a reduction in avoidable demand for long term 
care/frailty support for people 

 

Baseline Position 

Admission avoidance services are currently in place through the third sector and Community Resource teams, 
mapping will be taken of the Gwent region to ensure there is equity across the five localities.  Front door 
turnaround is provided by Home First, which will be redesigned and expanded to ensure cover is aligned with 
need across all hospital sites in the Gwent region. 
 
There are currently a variety of roles in place to support Hospital Discharge including Patient Flow Co-ordinators, 
(DISCOs Discharge Co-ordinators), DLN’s (Discharge Liaison Nurses), HAD’s (Hospital Discharge Assistants), Social 
Workers and Occupational Therapists.  Due to the number of different roles there can be a lack of clarity of the 
responsibilities for each role, and a difference of service provision across the region. 
 
System Flow and Hospital Discharge are underpinned by the D2RA (Discharge to Recover then Assess Model) 
which provides a framework for integrated planning and delivery of community and hospital services.  There are 5 
pathways aligned to community-based care supporting admission avoidance and early discharge, as outlined in 
the table below: 
 

 
      Figure 1: Home First: The Discharge to Recover then Assess model (Wales) – 2021 
 

Tudalen 141



 

Page | 108 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

Quarterly reports are currently submitted for five key D2RA measures.  Summary data for January 2021 – 
December 2021 is outlined below.  In order to collect accurate information integrated data systems are required, 
which aligns with the Integrated Data Development Programme. 

 
Measure 1: Number of People transferred on to each D2RA Pathway 

Pathway 0 Pathway 1 Pathway 2 Pathway 3 Pathway 4 Total 

2163 2125 3262 194 143 7887 

 
Measure 2: % of those transfers that took place within 48 hours of the decision being made (that they were 
ready for transfer from hospital to this pathway for supported recovery and assessment)  
We are currently unable to provide this information by pathway.  Figures are provided from complex list 
discharges (all pathways including D2RA), indicating 76% of patients are discharged from hospital within 48 hours 
of being ‘medically fit’ between January 2021 and December 2021, as shown in the table below: 
 

Number of individuals 
discharged within 48 hours of 
being medically fit 

Total number of 
discharges  

Percentage of individuals 
discharged within 48 hours 

17245 22780 76 

 
Measure 3: % people transferred to a D2RA Pathway with a co-produced recovery plan in place  
A mechanism to capture this information is to be developed as part of ongoing work 
 
Measure 4: % people transferred out of the D2RA Pathway to their usual place of residence  

Pathway 0 Pathway 1 Pathway 2 Pathway 3 Pathway 4 

tbc 65% 54% 59%* tbc 
  *Data currently does not include community hospital beds 
 

 Measure 5: % people readmitted to hospital within 28 days  

Pathway 0 Pathway 1 Pathway 2 Pathway 3 Pathway 4 

tbc tbc 5% 6% 13% 
 

 

Key Enablers 

Workforce Development & 
Integration 

A workforce development programme will be undertaken to redesign the 
current roles supporting discharge in the system ensuring clarity and 
equity throughout the region.   
 
Linking with the workforce development programme a recruitment, 
retention and training plan will be developed to support a resilient 
workforce for system flow alongside a rolling staff engagement strategy 
to support the Home First approach. 
 

Integrated Planning & Commissioning A mapping of the SLA’s in the community supporting admission 
avoidance and hospital discharge will be undertaken, ensuring an 
equitable and integrated approach across services and organisations 
throughout the region.  It is acknowledged that different solutions may 
be required in different areas, to achieve equal outcomes for individuals.  

Technology & Digital Solutions The use of assistive technology to support independence at home, which 
will in turn support hospital avoidance or early discharge. 

Tudalen 142



 

Page | 109 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

 
Shared data systems between services will support the goal of integrated 
working, and seamless care for the individual, providing a whole person 
view regardless of who is providing care and support.  Data systems will 
need to align with national data requirements to ensure consistency and 
minimise duplication.   

Capital Infrastructure Linking with the Place Based Graduated Care Programme and Capital 
Programmes accommodation based solutions such as rapid home 
adaptations to aid discharge, independent living facilities with integrated 
wrap around care and purpose-built intermediate care facilities will be 
considered. 

Social Value Sector The Third Sector will be key partners supporting System Flow to achieve 
optimal person-centred outcomes, with the development of an optimal 
model for system flow in collaboration with the Third Sector.  Through 
SLA’s Third sector services currently support hospital avoidance and 
patient discharge, including providing some intermediate care services, 
which will be mapped and expanded upon as part of the programme. 

 

Priority Population Groups   

 Primary Beneficiary Secondary Beneficiary 

Older people with complex needs ✓  

People with Dementia  ✓ 

Unpaid Carers, inc. Young Carers  ✓ 

Children with Complex Needs   

People with emotional and mental health wellbeing needs  ✓ 

People with Learning Disability and Neurodevelopmental 
conditions 

  

 

Development Approach 

The improving system flow programme aligns with the Home from Hospital model of care, the six goals for urgent 
and emergency and urgent care (Goal 6 - Home First Approach and reduce the risk of readmission) and the Home 
First: Discharge to Recover then Assess (D2RA) model.  Improving System Flow crosses all pathways (0-5) of the 
D2RA model, and is closely interlinked with the Place Based Graduated Care Programme as part of a Whole 
System Approach supporting the Home from Hospital model of care.  The Place Based Graduated Care Programme 
supports the community infrastructure enabling early discharge (pathways 2, 3 and 4). 
 
The programme supports the four key principles of the D2RA model: 

1. Think ‘Home First’ and keep the individual at the centre of all discharge considerations. 
2. Balance risk and agree co-produced, clearly documented plans. 
3. Have the community services infrastructure in place 
4. Communicate. 

 
A phased approach will be taken for the Improving System Flow programme.  During the first year the system for 
supporting seamless flow between hospital to community care will be co-produced.  Areas of work that are 
providing good outcomes for individuals will be embedded.  The model for system flow including capacity, 
processes, use of technology and information sharing that support admission avoidance and discharge will be 

Tudalen 143



 

Page | 110 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

redesigned to establish a simplified admission avoidance and discharge model for the region.  A benefits 
realisation plan will be developed to ensure that the programme is providing good person-centred outcomes for 
individuals based on What Matters to You conversations.  During the following years of the programme the new 
system will be implemented and evaluated, to ensure the system is working to provide good person-centred 
outcomes for people in the Gwent region. 
 
The programme will work to support pathway 0 (preventative services through third sector/voluntary services) by 
mapping SLA’s held with community services, including those that support hospital discharge and admission 
avoidance that are not directly commissioned by health and social care.  This will allow good practice to be 
identified to be shared across the region, as well as identifying any gaps in the system to ensure equity across the 
region.   
 
The programme will also work to support pathway 1 (front door services) through the Home First team.  The 
model will be redesigned and reconfigured to strengthen medical alignment to the model, ensuring that 
individuals who access hospital services do not receive conflicting information and are directed to the most 
appropriate service for them, with community services being a key consideration in this process.  The 
reconfiguration will ensure cover at all LGH’s in order to support pathway 1 at these sites. It will also consider 
whether the right skill mix is currently available to support person centred decisions, focusing on potential skills 
needed for example dementia skilled staff, or the ability to challenge medical teams where appropriate, and 
whether the team have the required level of permission and support to enable discharge.   
 
This programme will redesign the discharge co-ordination capacity in place, with the aim of reconfiguring and 
streamlining roles providing a consistency to the discharge roles and responsibilities.  These roles support patients 
to be discharged as soon as possible once medically optimised, through pathways 2, 3 and 4 where appropriate.  It 
is essential these roles support appropriate discussions with individuals and family members, as part of seamless 
care so that people and their families have clear information throughout their journey through the system, and to 
enable person centred decisions to be made.  This programme of work will align closely with the workforce 
programme, considering recruitment, retention and training.  The redesign will consider how to ensure discharge 
to community care is place based, for example aligning discharge roles to boroughs.   
 
A rolling engagement strategy will be established for staff in hospital and community settings, including referrers 
e.g. GP’s.  The intention of this is that all staff understand the Home First principle and the balance of risks when 
considering admission or discharge, that communication for patients and their families is consistent and that 
there is an awareness of all services available so that individuals can be supported and signposted as appropriate.  
This will be a rolling programme due to regular changes of personnel e.g. rotations for junior doctors. This work 
will be underpinned by the mapping of community services, to ensure staff are aware of what community options 
are available.   
 
The Improving System Flow programme is closely linked to the Place Based Graduated Care Programme.  Seamless 
system flow can only be achieved when community capacity is right sized. 
 

 

Interdependencies 

The Improving System Flow programme is closely linked to the Place Based Graduated Care Programme as part of 
a Whole System Approach supporting the Home from Hospital model of care.  It also links with the Unpaid Carers 
Programme, supporting Unpaid Carers and those cared for through hospital discharge. 
 
The work of the Integrated Data Development Programme, Workforce Programme and Assistive Technology 
Programmes will be key enablers in supporting the Improving System Flow Programme. 
 

Tudalen 144



 

Page | 111 
 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

The Improving System Flow Programme also links with core workstreams that are being undertaken such as the 
COTE/Frailty Pathway review and the Direct Admission Pathway. 
 

 

 

 

Interim Financial Model (Year 1 Only) 

Total cost of 
programme 

RIF Contribution 
Partner match 

monetary 
Partner match 

resource 
% support for 
unpaid carers 

% support for 
social value 

sector 

£5,106,764 £3,979,491 £0 £1,127,273 0% 11.98% 

 

Regional Investment Model 
Select the funding element which the project will be set against.  Repeat the table and rationale for each project 

Element 1 – Acceleration funding year 1 

✓ 
This refreshed programme will support realignment and reconfiguration of capacity within the 
system, to test a new approach to patient redirection and discharge planning.   
 

Element 1 – Acceleration funding year 2 
 

 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 1 
 

 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 2 
 

 

Element 2 – Embedding funding year 3 
 

 

Element 3 – Legacy fund 
 

 

Element 4 – National priorities (Dementia and Memory Assessment Services/Diagnostic support) 
 

 

 

 

Tudalen 145



 

 

Gwent Regional Partnership Board 

Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 

Appendix 1: Gwent Strategic Programmes - RIF Alignment 

 

T
udalen 146



Scrutiny Report 
Performance Scrutiny Committee – 
Partnerships 
 
Part 1  
 
Date:  26 October 2022 
 
Subject Scrutiny Adviser Report 
 
Author  Scrutiny Adviser 
 
The following people have been invited to attend for this item: 
 

Invitee: Role 
 

Neil Barnett (Scrutiny Adviser) Present the Committee with the Scrutiny Adviser Report for 
discussion and update the Committee on any changes. 

 

Section A – Committee Guidance and Recommendations 
 

 
 
2 Context 
 

Background  
2.1 The purpose of a forward work programme is to help ensure Councillors achieve organisation 

and focus in the undertaking of enquiries through the Overview and Scrutiny function.  Effective 

Recommendations to the Committee

The Committee is asked to:

1. Committee’s Work Programme:
Consider the Committee’s Forward Work Programme Update (Appendix 1):

• Are there any amendments to the topics scheduled to be considered at the next 
Committee meeting?

• Are there any additional invitees that the Committee requires to fully consider the topics?
• Is there any additional information that the Committee would like to request?

2. Action Plan
Consider the Actions from previous meetings (Appendix 2):

• Note the responses for the actions;
• Determine if any further information / action is required;
• Agree to receive an update on outstanding issues at the next meeting.

Tudalen 147

Eitem Agenda 6



work programming is essential to ensure that the work of Overview and Scrutiny makes a positive 
impact upon the Council’s delivery of services. 

 
2.2 Further information about the work programming process, including the procedures for referring 

new business to the programme, can be found in our Scrutiny Handbook on the Council’s 
Scrutiny webpages (www.newport.gov.uk/scrutiny). 

 
2.3 The Centre for Public Scrutiny’s Good Scrutiny Guide recognises the importance of the forward 

work programme.  In order to ‘lead and own the process’, it states that Councillors should have 
ownership of their Committee’s work programme, and be involved in developing, monitoring and 
evaluating it.  The Good Scrutiny Guide also states that, in order to make an impact, the scrutiny 
workload should be co-ordinated and integrated into corporate processes, to ensure that it 
contributes to the delivery of corporate objectives, and that work can be undertaken in a timely 
and well-planned manner. 

  
Action Sheet from Previous Meetings 
 
2.6 Attached at Appendix 2 is the Action Sheet from the Committee meetings.  The updated 

completed actions are included in the table.   
 
2.7 Any actions that do not have a response will be included on the Action Sheet at the next meeting 

to ensure that the Committee can keep track of outstanding actions.  
 
3 Information Submitted to the Committee 
 
3.1 The following information is attached: 
 
  Appendix 1: The Committee’s Forward Work Programme Update; 
 Appendix 2: Action Sheet from Previous Meetings. 
 
   
4. Suggested Areas of Focus 
 
 Role of the Committee 
 
  

 

The role of the Committee in considering the report is to:

• Forward Work Programme Update - Appendix 1
Consider:

o Are there any amendments to the topics scheduled to be considered at the 
next Committee meeting?

o Are there any additional invitees that the Committee requires to fully consider 
the topics?

o Is there any additional information that the Committee would like to request?

• Action Sheet from Previous Meetings - Appendix 2
o Consider the responses to the actions from the meeting;
o Are you satisfied that you have received the necessary information?
o Are there any further issues arising from the responses that you would like to 

raise?
o For the actions that do not have responses – these actions will be rolled over 

to the next meeting and reported back to the Committee. 

Tudalen 148

http://www.newport.gov.uk/scrutiny


 
 
Section B – Supporting Information 
5 Supporting Information 
 
5.1 The Corporate Assessment, and the subsequent follow up assessment provide background 

information on the importance of good work programming. Specific reference is made to the need 
to align the Cabinet and Scrutiny work programmes to ensure the value of the Scrutiny Function 
is maximised. 

 
5.2 The latest Cabinet work programme was approved by the Cabinet on a monthly basis for the next 

12 months and includes the list of reports scheduled for consideration.  Effective forward planning 
by both Cabinet and Scrutiny needs to be coordinated and integrated in relation to certain reports 
to ensure proper consultation takes place before a decision is taken.   

6. Links to Council Policies and Priorities  
 
  6.1 Having proper work programming procedures in place ensures that the work of Overview and 

Scrutiny makes a positive impact upon the Council’s delivery of services, contributes to the delivery 
of corporate objectives, and ensures that work can be undertaken in a timely and well-planned 
manner.   

 
6.2    This report relates to the Committee’s Work Programme, Actions from Committee’s and  

Information Reports that support the achievement of the Scrutiny Committee, in accordance with  
the Law and Regulation Service Plan, Objectives, Actions and Measures and the Wellbeing 
objectives:  
 

 
Well-being 
Objectives  
 

Promote economic 
growth and 
regeneration whilst 
protecting the 
environment  
 

Improve skills, 
educational 
outcomes & 
employment 
opportunities  
 

Enable 
people to be 
healthy, 
independent 
& resilient  
 

Build 
cohesive & 
sustainable 
communities  
 

Corporate Plan 
Commitments 

Thriving City  Aspirational People Resilient 
Communities 

Supporting 
Function 

Modernised Council 

 
 
7 Wellbeing of Future Generation (Wales) Act  
 
7.1 The Wellbeing of Future Generations Act 2015 which came into force in April 2016 sets the 

context for the move towards long term planning of services.   
 

7.2 General questions 
• How is this area / policy affected by the new legislation?   
• How will this decision / policy / proposal impact upon future generations?  What is the long 

term impact?   
• What evidence is provided to demonstrate WFGA has been / is being considered?   
• Evidence from Community Profiles / other data?  
• Evidence of links to Wellbeing Assessment / Objectives / Plan? 

 

Tudalen 149

https://democracy.newport.gov.uk/documents/s6711/06%20Corporate%20Aassessment%20appendix.pdf


7.3 Wellbeing Goals 
• How are the Wellbeing goals reflected in the policy / proposal / action? 

o A prosperous Wales 
o A resilient Wales 
o A healthier Wales 
o A more equal Wales 
o A Wales of cohesive communities 
o A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language 
o A globally responsible Wales 

 
7.4 Sustainable Development Principles 

• Does the report / proposal demonstrate how as an authority we are working in accordance 
with the sustainable development principles from the act when planning services? 
o Long Term 

The importance of balancing short-term needs with the need to safeguard the ability to 
also meet long-term needs 

o Prevention 
How acting to prevent problems occurring or getting worse may help public bodies meet 
their objectives 

o Integration 
Considering how the public body’s well-being objectives may impact upon each of the 
well-being goals, on their other objectives, or on the objectives of other public bodies 

o Collaboration 
Acting in collaboration with any other person (or different parts of the body itself) that 
could help the body to meet its well-being objectives 

o Involvement 
The importance of involving people with an interest in achieving the well-being goals, 
and ensuring that those people reflect the diversity of the area which the body serves. 

 
8 Background Papers 
 

• The Essentials - Wellbeing of Future Generation Act (Wales)  
• Corporate Plan 2017 - 2022 
• The Corporate Assessment and follow up assessment.  

 
 
Report Completed: 26 October 2022 

Tudalen 150

http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/150623-guide-to-the-fg-act-en.pdf
http://www.newport.gov.uk/documents/Council-and-Democracy/About-the-council/Corporate-Plan-2017-2022.pdf
https://democracy.newport.gov.uk/documents/s6711/06%20Corporate%20Aassessment%20appendix.pdf


Appendix 1 
Performance Scrutiny Committee – Partnerships   

– Forward Work Programme Update  
 
 

Wednesday, 9 November 2022 at 5pm 

Topic Information Required / Committee’s Role Invitees 
 
Norse Joint 
Venture 
Partnership – 
Strategy and 
Performance 
Review 

 

 
To provide an overview of the strategy and 
performance of the Norse Joint Venture. 
Update from the Service area and Newport 
Norse on priorities for the partnership over the 
coming 12 months. 
Summary of the background to the item and a 
report on performance to date. 

 
Head of Regeneration and Economic 
Development; 

  
Managing Director, Newport Norse 
 
 
 

 
Education 
Achievement 
Service - Value 
for Money 
2022-23 
 

 
Performance Scrutiny of the EAS 
Partnership  - through Annual Monitoring of the 
local authorities Financial contribution to EAS 
and also the through consideration of the value 
for money model, and its potential use / 
implications for scrutiny of other partnerships 

 
Chief Education Officer; 
 
Deputy Chief Education Officer; 
 
EAS Managing Director; 
 

 

Wednesday, 7 December 2022 at 5pm 

Topic Information Required / Committee’s Role Invitees 
 
Violence 
against 
Women, 
Domestic 
Abuse and 
Sexual 
Violence 
(VAWDASV) 

 
Examine proposals for the next steps in the 
developments of the Violence against Women, 
Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence regional 
team. 

 
Head of Children and Young People  
Services  
 
Corporate Safeguarding Manager 
 
 

 
Shared 
Resource 
Services (SRS) 
Update 

 
Performance Scrutiny – Effectiveness of 
Partnership Arrangements 
 
The Committee received a performance 
update in December 2021 and requested an 
updated Action Plan to monitor progress in 12 
months. 

 
SRS Chief Officer  
 
Head of People and Business Change  
 
Digital Services Manager  
 
Digital Information Project Officer 

 

Tudalen 151



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn



APPENDIX 2 

 
 

Performance Scrutiny Committee – Partnerships 
 

ACTION SHEET – 5 October 2022 
 
 

 Agenda Item Action Responsibility Outcome 

 
1 

 
One Newport 
Well-being Plan 
Annual Report 2021-
22 

 
The Committee noted the Well-being Plan 
Annual Report 2021-22, and wished to make 
comments and recommendations to the 
Partnership 

 
Scrutiny / One 
Newport 
Partnership 

ACTIONED – Comments from the 
Committee forwarded to officers on 9th 
October 2022. 

 

 
1 

 
One Newport 
Well-being Plan 
Annual Report 2021-
22 

 
The Committee asked to be provided with the 
data on how many visits the page has had 
since it was published. 

 
One Newport 
Partnership 

ACTIONED– Information forwarded to 
Committee on 20th October 2022. 

 
1 

 
One Newport 
Well-being Plan 
Annual Report 2021-
22 

 
The Committee made the request for the 
Flood Plan information to be provided by the 
partners. 
 

 
One Newport 
Partnership 

ONGOING–Information forwarded to 
Committee on 20th October 2022. A copy 
of the Flood Plan will be forwarded to the 
Committee when received.  

 
1 

 
One Newport 
Well-being Plan 
Annual Report 2021-
22 

 
The Committee request that information on 
the next round of participatory budgeting 
would be shared by the partners so the 
Members can promote the opportunity within 
their own communities. 

 
One Newport 
Partnership 

ACTIONED – Information forwarded to 
Committee on 20th October 2022. This 
next round of Participatory Budgeting is 
in planning stage.  Members will be 
invited to briefing meetings to update 
and to request support with raising the 

T
udalen 153



APPENDIX 2 

 
 

opportunity and supporting local 
community applications.   

 
1 

 
One Newport 
Well-being Plan 
Annual Report 2021-
22 

 
The Committee made the recommendation 
that Community Safety should be considered 
as a work programme item for future scrutiny. 

 
Scrutiny Team 

IN PROCESS – Newport’s Community 
Safety Partnership, Safer Newport, will 
work with the Scrutiny Team to add to 
the work programme and submit 
updates.   

 
1 

 
One Newport 
Well-being Plan 
Annual Report 2021-
22 

 
The Committee provided suggestions on how 
the layout and introductory information of the 
report could be improved to make it easier to 
follow.  . 

 
Scrutiny Team ACTIONED – Information sent to 

Committee on 20th October 2022. 

 
2 

 
Gwent Public Services 
Board – Local Well-
being 
Assessment 

 
The Committee agreed to receive the Gwent 
Local Well-being Assessment, for information 

 
Scrutiny Team 
/ Gwent PSB 

ACTIONED – Comments from the 
Committee forwarded to officers on 9th 
October 2022. 
 

 

T
udalen 154


	Agenda
	3 Cofnodion y Cyfarfod Diwethaf
	4 Cronfa Integreiddio Ranbarthol Gwent
	Performance Scrutiny Committee- Partnerships
	Subject	Regional Partnership Board – Regional Integrated Fund

	Section A – Committee Guidance and Recommendations
	2	Context
	3	Information Submitted to the Committee
	4.	Suggested Areas of Focus
	4.3	Regional Integration Fund Policy Drivers
	5	Supporting Information
	6	Links to Council Policies and Priorities

	Cyngor Dinas Casnewydd
	Regional Integration Fund Executive Report
	Newport City Council
	Purpose
	Background and Context
	Regional Integration Fund – Funding Model
	Financial Implications
	Schedule 1: Organisational Services funded by Gwent RPB RIF
	Schedule 2: All other services/resource funded by RIF


	RIF Strategic Outline Plan 2022-23 FINAL DRAFT

	6 Adroddiad Cynghorydd Craffu
	Performance Scrutiny Committee – Partnerships
	Subject	Scrutiny Adviser Report

	Section A – Committee Guidance and Recommendations
	3	Information Submitted to the Committee
	5	Supporting Information
	6.	Links to Council Policies and Priorities
	7	Wellbeing of Future Generation (Wales) Act
	8	Background Papers

	Item 7A- Appx 1 - FWP Update
	Item 7B - Appx 2 - Actions Sheet


